
 
 
 
 
An Extraordinary Meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE 
will be held virtually on THURSDAY 21 MAY 2020 AT 7.00 
PM 
 
 
 

 
Susan Parsonage 
Chief Executive 
Published on 13 May 2020 
 
Note: The Council has made arrangements under the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 to hold the meeting virtually via Team 
Meetings, the meeting can be watched live at the following 
link: https://youtu.be/iMzsAb9zMbs  
 
This meeting will be filmed for inclusion on the Council’s 
website. 

 
Please note that other people may film, record, tweet or blog 
from this meeting.  The use of these images or recordings is 
not under the Council’s control. 

Public Document Pack

https://youtu.be/iMzsAb9zMbs


 

 
 

Our Vision 
 

A great place to live, learn, work and grow and a great place to do business 
 

 
Enriching Lives 

 Champion outstanding education and enable our children and young people to achieve their full 
potential, regardless of their background.  

 Support our residents to lead happy, healthy lives and provide access to good leisure facilities to 
complement an active lifestyle.  

 Engage and involve our communities through arts and culture and create a sense of identity which 
people feel part of.  

 Support growth in our local economy and help to build business. 

Safe, Strong, Communities 

 Protect and safeguard our children, young and vulnerable people. 

 Offer quality care and support, at the right time, to prevent the need for long term care.  

 Nurture communities and help them to thrive. 

 Ensure our borough and communities remain safe for all.  

A Clean and Green Borough 

 Do all we can to become carbon neutral and sustainable for the future.  

 Protect our borough, keep it clean and enhance our green areas. 

 Reduce our waste, improve biodiversity and increase recycling. 

 Connect our parks and open spaces with green cycleways.  

Right Homes, Right Places 
 Offer quality, affordable, sustainable homes fit for the future.  

 Build our fair share of housing with the right infrastructure to support and enable our borough to 
grow.  

 Protect our unique places and preserve our natural environment.  

 Help with your housing needs and support people to live independently in their own homes.  

Keeping the Borough Moving 

 Maintain and improve our roads, footpaths and cycleways.  

 Tackle traffic congestion, minimise delays and disruptions.  

 Enable safe and sustainable travel around the borough with good transport infrastructure. 

 Promote healthy alternative travel options and support our partners to offer affordable, accessible 
public transport with good network links.  

Changing the Way We Work for You 

 Be relentlessly customer focussed. 

 Work with our partners to provide efficient, effective, joined up services which are focussed around 
you.  

 Communicate better with you, owning issues, updating on progress and responding appropriately 
as well as promoting what is happening in our Borough.  

 Drive innovative digital ways of working that will connect our communities, businesses and 
customers to our services in a way that suits their needs.  

 



 

MEMBERSHIP OF THE PLANNING COMMITTEE 
 
Councillors  

Simon Weeks (Chairman) Chris Bowring (Vice-
Chairman) 

Stephen Conway 

Gary Cowan Carl Doran Pauline Jorgensen 
Abdul Loyes Andrew Mickleburgh Malcolm Richards 
Angus Ross Rachelle Shepherd-DuBey  

 
 

ITEM 
NO. 

WARD SUBJECT 
PAGE 
NO. 

    
111.    APOLOGIES 

To receive any apologies for absence. 
 

    
112.    DECLARATION OF INTEREST 

To receive any declaration of interest 
 

    
113.    APPLICATIONS TO BE DEFERRED AND 

WITHDRAWN ITEMS 
To consider any recommendations to defer 
applications from the schedule and to note any 
applications that may have been withdrawn. 

 

    
114.   Winnersh APPLICATION NO.193339 - NIRVANA SPA MOLE 

ROAD, SINDLESHAM, WOKINGHAM, RG41 5DJ 
Recommendation: Conditional approval subject to 
legal agreement 

5 - 42 

    
115.   Evendons APPLICATION NO.192852 - SORBUS HOUSE, 

MULBERRY BUSINESS PARK, FISHPONDS ROAD, 
WOKINGHAM, RG41 2GY 
Recommendation: Conditional approval subject to 
legal agreement 

43 - 90 

    
116.   Wescott APPLICATION NO.200475 - WOKINGHAM FAMILY 

GOLF, FINCHAMPSTEAD ROAD, WOKINGHAM, 
RG40 3HG 
Recommendation: Conditional approval 

91 - 112 

    
117.   Shinfield South APPLICATION NO.200312 - GRAVELLY BRIDGE 

FARM, GRAZELEY GREEN ROAD, GRAZELEY, 
RG7 1LG 
Recommendation: Conditional approval 

113 - 136 

    
118.   Shinfield South APPLICATION NO.193248 - LAND NORTH OF 

CHURCH LANE, CHURCH LANE, THREE MILE 
CROSS 
Recommendation: Conditional approval 

137 - 158 

   
 

 



 

119.   Wescott APPLICATION NO.200863 - 75 LONDON ROAD, 
WOKINGHAM, RG40 1YA 
Recommendation: Conditional approval 

159 - 184 

    
120.   Remenham, 

Wargrave and 
Ruscombe 

APPLICATION NO.200753 - 2 WALNUT TREE 
CLOSE, RUSCOMBE, RG10 9PF 
Recommendation: Conditional approval 

185 - 200 

   
Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent  
A Supplementary Agenda will be issued by the Chief Executive if there are any 
other items to consider under this heading. 

 

 
 
GLOSSARY OF TERMS 
The following abbreviations were used in the above Index and in reports. 
 
C/A Conditional Approval (grant planning permission) 
CIL Community Infrastructure Levy 
R Refuse (planning permission) 
LB (application for) Listed Building Consent 

S106 
Section 106 legal agreement between Council and applicant in accordance 
with the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

F (application for) Full Planning Permission 
MU Members’ Update circulated at the meeting 
RM Reserved Matters not approved when Outline Permission previously granted 
VAR Variation of a condition/conditions attached to a previous approval 
PS 
Category 

Performance Statistic Code for the Planning Application 

 
  

CONTACT OFFICER 
Callum Wernham Democratic & Electoral Services Specialist 
Email democratic.services@wokingham.gov.uk 
Postal Address Civic Offices, Shute End, Wokingham, RG40 1BN 



Application 
Number 

Expiry Date Parish Ward 

193339 22 May 2020 Winnersh Winnersh; 

 

Applicant Mr S Barley 

Site Address Nirvana Spa Mole Road Sindlesham Wokingham RG41 5DJ 

Proposal Full application for the proposed erection of a two storey 
detached building to provide 70 no. bedroom hotel 
accommodation ancillary to spa (Use Class C1) incorporating 
replacement gym, ancillary facilities and outside swimming pool, 
with associated car parking and soft landscaping, following 
demolition of existing 'Pulse 8' gym building. 

Type Full 

PS Category 1 

Officer Kayleigh Mansfield 

Reason for 
determination by 
committee 

Major application 
 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Thursday 21st May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

 This proposal follows the refusal of application 183535 for the demolition of the 
existing 'Pulse 8' gym building and the erection of a 74 bedroom hotel with 
replacement gym and outdoor swimming pool. The previous proposal also 
included internal ancillary facilities, parking and landscaping. 
 

 The previous reasons for refusal relate to the principle of development, character 
and appearance of the area, residential amenity and highway safety. The previous 
application (183535) also failed to provide adequate information relating to noise, 
light and flooding impacts. 
 

 This latest application is supported by the required sequential test, which 
adequately demonstrates the delivery of a hotel in this location will not unduly 
impact the vitality and viability of Wokingham’s town and district centres.  
 

 The basement level of the hotel is now proposed to be used entirely for the 
replacement gym. This floor space together with the floor space proposed for the 
outdoor swimming pool is sufficient to adequately compensate for the loss of Pulse 
8 and D2 floor space.  
 

 The first reason for refusal of 183535 is considered to be sufficiently addressed. 
The principle of the proposed development is therefore accepted by officers.  
 

 Alternations to the design include the removal of the third storey bedroom 
accommodation and greater detailing of the buildings elevations. The proposed 
design changes, together with an improved soft landscaping scheme gains the 
support of officers, subject to condition and therefore the second reason for refusal 
is considered to be addressed. 

 

5

Agenda Item 114.



 The application is also now supported by the required technical information relating 
to Noise, Lighting, Flood Risk and Highways. No objections have been raised, 
subject to conditions outlined in the recommendation section of this report.  
 

 This proposal is now considered by officers to overcome all previous reasons for 
refusal 183535, subject to completion of a signed legal agreement as outlined 
below. 

 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Contamination Land 

 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability 

 GC News Consultant Zone 

 Minerals Site Consultation Area 

 Replacement Mineral Local Plan 

 Tree Preservation Orders 

 Complete PRoW 

 SSSI Impact 

 Thames Basin Heath SPA 

 Ordinary Watercourse 

 Limited development location  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following:  
 
A. Completion of a legal agreement for: 

 
Employment Skills Plan  – Details to be provided in the members update  
 

B. Conditions and informatives: 
 
Conditions: 
 
1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 

years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended 
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2. This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings names 

and numbered: 
Location plan 
Proposed Site Plan 218051 08 REVA 
Existing Floorplans and Elevations 218051 07 RevA 
Proposed Basement and Ground Floorplan 218051 03 RevD 
Proposed First Floor and Roof Plan 218051 04 RevD 
Existing and Proposed SW and NE Elevations 218051 05 RevD 
Existing and Proposed SW and NE Elevations 218051 06 
Proposed part site plan 01 rev A 
Proposed site plan 02 rev D  

6



Soft Landscape Proposal BHA_330_05_LS  RevB 
 

received by the local planning authority on 17 December 2019. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless other minor variations 
are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before implementation with 
the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved. 

 
3. External materials – Prior to commencement of the commencement of superstructure 

works, samples and details of the materials to be used in the construction of the 
external surfaces of the building/s shall have first been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority.  Development shall not be carried out other 
than in accordance with the so-approved details.  

 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. Relevant 
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3. 

 
4. Demolition required - No part of the proposed building is to be occupied by customers 

or membership holders until the existing Pulse 8 building is demolished. 
 
Reason In the interests of the amenity of the area. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies 
CP1 and CP3, and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies TB01. 

 
5. No development shall take place until details of a scheme (Construction Method 

Statement) to control the environmental effects of the demolition and/or construction 
work has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
The scheme shall include:- 
(i) the control of noise 
(ii) the control of dust, smell and other effluvia 
(iii) the control of rats and other vermin 
(iii) the control of surface water run-off 
(iv) the proposed method of piling for foundations (if any) 
(v) proposed construction and demolition working hours 
(vi) hours during the construction and demolition phase when delivery vehicles, or 
vehicles taking materials, are permitted to enter or leave the site. The development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved scheme.  

 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area:  Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6. 

 
6. No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of demolition 

or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than between the 
hours of 08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday and 08:00 to 13:00 Saturdays and at no 
time on Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.  

 
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and disturbance 
outside the permitted hours during the construction period. 

 
7. Prior to commencement of the superstructure works full details of ventilation/air 

conditioning plant has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority. 
The works shall be carried out in full accordance with the details so-approved. 

7



 
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the area 

 
8. No development shall commence until a report detailing a revised lighting scheme and 

demonstrating how this will not adversely affect wildlife has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the LPA. The report shall include the following figures and 
appendices:  
• A layout plan with beam orientation 
• A schedule of equipment 
• Measures to avoid glare 
• Isolux contour maps showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and horizontally 
and areas identified as being of importance for commuting and foraging bats. The 
approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed. 
 

Reason: To limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on nature conservation in 
accordance with para 180 of the NPPF 

 
9. No development shall take place (including demolition, ground works, vegetation 

clearance) until a construction environmental management plan (CEMP: Biodiversity) 
has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The 
CEMP (Biodiversity) shall include the following 
a) Risk assessment of potentially damaging construction activities. 
b) Practical measures (both physical measures and sensitive working practices) to 
avoid or reduce impacts during construction (should include a Great Crested Newt 
precautionary method statement). 
c) The location and timing of sensitive works to avoid harm to biodiversity features, 
such as great crested newts or nesting birds.  
d) The role and responsibilities on site of an ecological clerk of works (ECoW) or 
similarly competent person.  
e) Use of protective fences, exclusion barriers and warning signs. The approved 
CEMP shall be adhered to and implemented throughout the construction period strictly 
in accordance with the approved details, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the 
local planning authority. 
 

Reason: To minimise impacts on biodiversity in accordance with Paragraphs 170 
And 175 of the NPPF. 

 
10.  Prior to the occupation of the development, details of biodiversity enhancements, to 

include bird and bat boxes, tiles or bricks on and around the new buildings and native 
and wildlife friendly landscaping, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
council. The biodiversity enhancements shall thereafter be installed as approved.  
 

Reason: To incorporate biodiversity in and around developments in accordance with 
paragraph 175 of the NPPF. 

 
11. Prior to the commencement of the superstructure works, full details of both hard and 

soft landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority. These details shall include mitigation planting and the net increase 
in trees on the site and , as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or contours, 
means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access and 
circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g. 
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, external 

8



services, etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification 
(including cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass 
establishment), schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate, and implementation timetable. All hard and soft 
landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details prior to 
the occupation of any part of the development or in accordance with a timetable 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Any trees or plants which, within a 
period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously damaged or 
defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of species, size 
and number as originally approved and permanently retained.  
 

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21 (and TB06 for 
garden development). 

 
12. a) No development or other operation shall commence on site until an Arboricultural 

Method Statement and Scheme of Works which provides for the retention and 
protection of trees, shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site in 
accordance with BS5837: 2012 has been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. No development or other operations shall take place except 
in complete accordance with the details as so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the 
Approved Scheme). 
b) No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby 
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving, 
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use 
of motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works 
required by the Approved Scheme are in place on site. 
c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles, 
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take 
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the 
Approved Scheme. 
d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be 
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works 
have been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed 
from the site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has 
first been sought and obtained. 
 

Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is 
being carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which 
are of amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning authority 
that the necessary measures are in place before development and other works 
commence Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 

 
13.  Prior to the commencement of the superstructure works a landscape management 

plan, including long term design objectives, management responsibilities, timescales 
and maintenance schedules for all landscape areas, other than privately owned, 
domestic gardens, shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority.  The landscape management plan shall be carried out as approved.  
 

9



Reason: In order to ensure that provision is made to allow satisfactory maintenance of 
the landscaping hereby approved. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 

 
14. Prior to the commencement of the development, details of the implementation, 

maintenance and management of the sustainable drainage scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall 
be implemented and thereafter managed and maintained in accordance with the 
approved details. Those details shall include:  
i) a timetable for 
its implementation; and  
ii) a management and maintenance plan for the lifetime of the development which 
shall include the arrangements for adoption by any public body or statutory 
undertaker, or any other arrangements to secure the operation of the sustainable 
drainage scheme throughout its lifetime.  
iii) Appendix 12 SuDS and drainage strategy ref no. 71621.01R2 report states that 
Once the SuDS strategy has been approved in principle and once all Site Investigation 
has been undertaken, a full design of the proposed SuDS strategy will need to be 
submitted to LLFA.  
iv) Infiltration results of intrusive ground investigation demonstrating seasonal high 
groundwater levels for the site and infiltration rates in accordance with BRE365.  
v) Full calculations demonstrating the performance of capacity of attenuation features 
to cater for 1 in 100 year flood event with a 40 per cent allowance for climate change 
and runoff controlled at Greenfield rates, or preferably better.  
vi) A drainage strategy plan for the proposed development with demonstration that the 
base of SuDS features are at least 1m above seasonal groundwater level. A 
maintenance management plan for the SuDS features throughout the lifetime of the 
development and who will be responsible for the maintenance. 
 

Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.  Relevant 
policy: NPPF Section 14 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policies CC09 and CC10. 

 
15. No development, other than demolition to ground level (i.e. excluding the grubbing out 

of foundations) shall take place within the application area until the applicant has 
secured the implementation of a programme of archaeological works, which may 
comprise more than one phase of investigation, in accordance with a written scheme 
of investigation, which has been submitted by the applicant and approved by the 
Planning Authority.  
 

Reason: The site lies within an area of archaeological potential; specifically relating to the 
prehistoric and Roman settlement of the Loddon valley. A programme of works is required 
to mitigate the impact of development and to record any surviving remains so as to 
advance our understanding of their significance in accordance with national and local 
plan policy 

 
16. Prior to the occupation of the development details of the waste water infrastructure 

need for the site are submitted to and approved in writing by Thames Water. the 
development a Drainage Report until confirmation has been provided that either  
1. Capacity exists off site to serve the development, or  

10



2.  All wastewater network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows 
from the development have been completed. 
 

Reason: Network reinforcement works may be required to accommodate the proposed 
development 

 
17. Between the hours of 21.00-11.00 the rooftop garden hereby permitted will be vacated 

and not accessible to customers or membership holders.  
 

Reason: Reason: To protect the amenity of neighbouring residential development. 
 

18. No building shall be occupied until details of bin storage area/ facilities have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The bin storage 
area and facilities shall be permanently so-retained and used for no purpose other 
than the temporary storage of refuse and recyclable materials.  

 
Reason: In the interests of visual and neighbouring amenities and functional 
development. Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan policy CC04. 

 
19. Prior to the occupation of the development, full details of the opaque glazed rooftop 

garden screening facing onto Harrow Way shall have first been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. Development shall not be carried 
out other than in accordance with the so-approved details and shall be retained 
thereafter.  
 

Reason: To ensure the opaque glazing provides adequate privacy screening for adjacent 
residents.  

 

20. Car park and parking details  

Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, details of the off-street parking 
spaces within the site. The vehicle parking spaces shall be permanently maintained 
and remain available for the parking of vehicles at all times. Details should include 
pedestrian routing through the site and the locations of the Electric Vehicle Charging 
points and be delivered and retained as approved. 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core 
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 
 
21. Cycle parking details required 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby permitted details of secure 
and covered bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of [and visitors to] the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in accordance with such 
details as may be approved before occupation of the development hereby permitted, 
and shall be permanently retained in the approved form for the parking of bicycles and 
used for no other purpose.  
 

Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are 
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: 

11



NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 

 
22. Visibility splays to be approved 

Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority, details of the proposed vehicular 
access to include visibility splays of 120m x 2.4. The access shall be formed as so-
approved and the visibility splays shall be cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 
metres in height prior to the occupation of the development. The access shall be 
retained in accordance with the approved details and used for no other purpose and 
the land within the visibility splays shall be maintained clear of any visual obstruction 
exceeding 0.6 metres in height at all times.  
 

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core 
Strategy policies CP3 and CP6. 
 
23. Construction Method Statement. 

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement, has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The approved 
Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall 
provide for:  
 

a) Construction access,   
b) Details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility buildings. These 

facilities shall be sited away from woodland areas, 
c) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors, 
d) Programme of works / phasing / lorry routing and potential numbers (including     

measures for traffic management and operating hours), 
e) Loading and unloading of plant and materials, 
f) Storage of plant and materials used in the construction of the development, 
g) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative displays and 

facilities for public viewing, where appropriate, 
h) Details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during construction 

to include wheel washing facilities, 
i) Measures to control the emission of dust, dirt and noise during construction, 
j) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from construction works, 
k) Lighting on site during construction (including temporary) 
l) Measures to ensure no on site fires during construction 
m) Monitoring and review mechanisms 
n) Appointment of a Construction Liaison Officer 
 
Reason: To protect occupants of nearby dwellings from noise and disturbance during the 
construction period, in the interest of highway safety and convenience and to minimise 
the environmental impact of the construction phase in accordance with Wokingham 
Borough Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP6 and CP7 and TB23 of the Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan Policy 

 
 
 
 
 
 

12



24. Travel Plan 
Prior to the occupation of the development a Travel Plan shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel plan shall include a 
programme of implementation and proposals to promote alternative forms of transport 
to and from the site, other than by the private car and provide for periodic review. The 
travel plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.  

 
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes. Relevant policy NPPF Section 9 
Sustainable Transport and Core Strategy policy CP6.  

 
25.  Delivery and Servicing Plan 

Prior to occupation a Delivery and Servicing Plan be submitted to and approved in 
writing by LPA 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core 
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 
 
26. Electric Vehicle Charging  

Prior to commencement of the development (excluding demolition), details for an 
Electric Vehicle Charging Strategy serving the development shall be submitted for 
approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This strategy should include details 
relating to on-site infrastructure, installation of charging points and future proofing of 
the site unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
 

Reason: In order to ensure that secure electric vehicle charging facilities are provided so 
as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: NPPF Section 
9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07 and Appendix 2 and the Council’s Parking 
Standards Study Report (2011) 
 
Informatives: 
1. Thames Water will aim to provide customers with a minimum pressure of 10m head 

(approx 1 bar) and a flow rate of 9 litres/minute at the point where it leaves Thames 
Waters pipes. The developer should take account of this minimum pressure in the 
design of the proposed development. 
 

2. Adequate precautions shall be taken during the construction period to prevent the 
deposit of mud and similar debris on adjacent highways. For further information 
contact the Highway Authority on tel. 0118 9746000. 

 
3. Any works/ events carried out by or on behalf of the developer affecting either a public 

highway or a prospectively maintainable highway (as defined under s.87 New Roads 
and Street Works Act 1991 (NRSWA)), shall be co-ordinated and licensed as required 
under NRSWA and the Traffic Management Act 2004 in order to minimise disruption 
to both pedestrian and vehicular users of the highway. 

 
4. Any such works or events, and particularly those involving the connection of any utility 

to the site must be co-ordinated by the developer in liaison with the Borough’s Street 
Works team (0118 974 6302). This must take place AT LEAST three months in 
advance of the intended works to ensure effective co-ordination with other works so 
as to minimise disruption.  

 

13



5. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the presence of a c.2m wide service strip running 
adjacent to the surfaced roadway. The service strip forms part of the adopted public 
highway. It is an offence for any works to be undertaken within this service strip without 
express permission in writing from the highway authority.  The Head of Technical 
Services at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham (0118 9746000) must be 
contacted for the approval of any such works.  
 

6. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under section 
106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated 1990, the obligations in which relate 
to this development. 

 
7. This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under section 

106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated [INSERT], the obligations in which 
relate to this development.S106 informative 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 
application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and subsequently 
determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in favour of 
sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. 
 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

Application Number Proposal Decision 

183535 Refusal for demolition of existing 
'Pulse 8' gym building and erection 
of 74 bedroom hotel extension with 
replacement gym, ancillary internal 
facilities and outside swimming pool 
plus ancillary car parking and 
landscaping 

18 March 2019 

180039  Approval for electric charging points 14 February 2018 

171888  Approval for single storey extension 31 August 2017 

171889  Approval for infill extension 31 August 2017 

F/2013/1790  Approval of single and two storey 
extension over existing tennis courts 
to form salt therapy room and 
celestial spa, with soft landscaping 
and revisions to car park layout 

18 December 2013 

F/2012/0719  Approval for the erection of two 
single storey extensions to provide 
staff offices and staff restroom 

24 May 2012 

F/2012/0461  Approved for the alteration to 
existing gardens to provide an 
external swimming pool with hot 
spas plant room structure gardens 
and relaxation areas. 
(Retrospective) 

19 April 2012 

F/2011/2425  Proposed installation of solar panels 
to main gym hall roof. 

29 December 2011 

14



 
F/2010/2606  

Approval for the erection of front 
extension to existing Nirvana Spa 
Gymnasium. 

18 January 2011 

F/2000/3073  Approval for the erection of building 
for use as security post. 

01 February 2001 

F/1998/67215  Approval for the erection of two 
storey extension to health club 

10 June 1999 

F/1997/65163  Approval for a new roof, mezzanine 
floor, new windows and Fire Escape 
stairs 

24 March 1997 

F/1995/63180  Approval for the erection of a single 
storey extension to Health Club and 
construction of external Fire Escape 

07 February 1996 

F/1995/61312  Approval for the erection of a single 
storey extension to Private Club to 
form Gymnasium, Aerobics Studio, 
Hydro Crèche and associated 
parking 

25 December 1996 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

 
For Commercial: 
 

 

Site Area  3.71ha 
 

Previous land use(s)  and floor space(s) 
 

D2 (Assembly and leisure)  
3681 m2 
 

Proposed floor space of each use 
 

C1 (Hotels) 
12289 m2 
 

Change in floor space (+/-) D2 (Assembly and leisure) 
- 3681 m2 
 
C1 (Hotels) 
+ 12289 m2 
 

Number of jobs created/lost 100 proposed employees equivalent 
number of full-time 
 

Existing parking spaces 622 
 

Proposed parking spaces 703  
  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15



CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

Highways 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Drainage 
 
 
 
Landscape and Trees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Environmental Health 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Biodiversity 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Employment and Skills 
 
Thames Water 
 
Public Right of Way 

No objection subject to the following 
conditions: 

 Parking as approved 

 Car Park Details to be approved 

 Details of Cycle Parking to be approved 

 Visibility splays to be approved 

 Construction Method Statement 

 Travel Plan to be approved 

 Delivery and Servicing Plan 

 Electric Vehicle Charging 
 

No objection and no suggested conditions 
 
No objection subject to the following 
conditions:  

 Sustainable Drainage details 
 
No objection subject to the following 
conditions: 

 Hard and Soft Landscape Proposal 

 Tree Protection 

 Landscape Management Plan 

 Sustainable Drainage 
 
No objection subject to the following 
conditions: 

 Construction Management Plan 

 Permitted Hours of Demolition and 
Construction 

 Details of ventilation/air conditions plant 
 

No objection subject to the following 
conditions: 

 Revised lighting scheme 

 Construction Environmental 
Management Plan 

 Details of biodiversity enhancements 
 
No objection subject to signed legal 
agreement. 
 
No objection subject to informatives. 
 
No objections and no suggested conditions. 
 

Royal Berkshire Fire and Rescue No comments received 
Southern Gas Networks No comments received 
SEE Power Distribution No comments received 

16



NHS Wokingham Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

No comments received 

WBC Education  
(School Place Planning) 

No comments received 

WBC Cleaner & Greener  
(Waste Services) 

No comments received 

WBC Property Services No comments received 

 
 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Parish Council:  
 
Winnersh Parish Council - Object 
 
1. Noise pollution 
Officer comment: The proposal is supported by a noise impact assessment which has 
been assessed by the Environmental Health team who determine the level of noise 
resulting from the development is acceptable, in terms of neighbour amenity impacts. 
 
2. Light pollution 
Officer comment: The proposal is additionally supported by a light impact assessment 
which has also been assessed by Environmental Health. As with the noise impacts 
Environmental Health are satisfied the development will not result in unacceptable light 
spillage on the adjacent residential development. 
 
3. Hours of construction and demolition 
Officer comment: The application has been conditioned to set out the permitted demolition 
and construction hours which the applicant must abide to. 
 
Local Members:  
 
Councillor Prue Bray: Requests further clarity how the loss of the Pulse8 and D2 floor 
space has been adequately compensated for. 
 
Officer Comment: The proposal now includes the whole of the basement for the Gym by 
removing the previously proposed hotel storage area. This floor space area, together with 
the proposed outdoor swimming pool area is now considered to compensate for loss of 
Pulse8 and D2 floor space. This is supported by the Planning Policy team who confirm: 
 
 “The proposal incorporates an enlarged gymnasium at basement level which, when 

 including the external swimming pool, amounts to a total of 3747sqm. Such provision 
 equates to a substantial increase relative to the existing Pulse 8 gym which amounts to 
 2786sqm.” 
 
Neighbours:  
 
A total of 21 objections were received from 17 individual residents: 
 

 There is not a requirement for another hotel:  

17



Officer comment: The proposed 70 bedroom hotel would not compete with hotels located 

in the Town Centre, as supported by the sequential test and Planning Policy comments. 

It would instead encourage people outside of Wokingham into the Borough.  

 Out of keeping with the character of the area: 

Officer comment: The proposed reduction in height and elevation detailing is considered 

an improvement on the previously refused building and contributes to the overall 

character of the Nirvana Spa site. These design changes, together with an improved 

landscaping scheme across the proposal site is considered, by officers, to maintain the 

character of the area. 

 The proposal will result in increased noise and light pollution: 

Officer comment: This proposal is supported by the noise and light impact assessment 

which confirm the level of spillage would be acceptable. This is further supported by the 

environmental health officer, subject to condition. 

 The proposal will result in increased flooding of the River Loddon: 

Officer comment: This proposal is supported by a Flood Risk Assessment which has been 

assessed be assessed by the Councils’ flood risk officer who provides no objection to the 

proposal, subject to condition. 

 Increased traffic resulting from the development  

Officer comment: The assessment has shown that there would only by an increase of 

traffic in the AM peak but that this would be less than the daily variation. 

 Roof garden/terrace to be vacated by 9pm not just closed. 

Officer comment: Should the proposal be approved the rooftop garden has fixed opening 

times, controlled by planning condition. The space will not be accessible to customers or 

members outside the hours of 11.00 to 21.00 

 Harrow Way should not be used for Construction Traffic. Vehicles should not be 

permitted to wait in Mole Road 

Officer comment:  This will be included in the construction method statement which has 

been secured by planning condition. 

 Regular resident updates are requested with a dedicated point of contact. Access to 

an escalation path should also be provided in event of no contact from Nirvana. 

Officer comment: Residents should engage with the Councils enforcement team if a 

breach in planning condition, such as working outside of permitted hours, is identified. All 

other communications regarding the site will be escalated to the relevant officers, to 

include the allocated Construction Liaison officer. 

 Increased disturbance from vehicles parked closer to Harrow Way: 

Officer comment:  The proposal includes a 2.5m high timber acoustic fence along the site 

boundary to reduce noise impacts from the parking design. This 2.5 metre fence will 

additionally obstruct headlight spillage out of the site. 

 Increased trade traffic on Harrow Way  resulting from deliveries into the site  

18



Officer comment: This will be secured through a Delivery and Servicing Plan which would 

be secured by condition. 

 

APPLICANTS POINTS 

The proposal accords with Local Development Plan policies, and gains further support 
from national guidance in the NPPF, specifically through the increase in local employment 
opportunities and further supporting a successful and sustainable local business. It is 
therefore respectfully requested that planning permission for the proposed hotel 
extension at Nirvana Spa be granted. 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

 CP2 Inclusive Communities 

 CP3 General Principles for Development 

 CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

 CP7 Biodiversity 

 CP9  Scale and Location of Development 
Proposals 

Adopted Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan 2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development 

 CC02 Development Limits 

 CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and 
Landscaping 

 CC04 Sustainable Design and Construction  

 CC05 Renewable energy and decentralised 
energy networks 

 CC06 Noise 

 CC07 Parking 

 CC09 Development and Flood Risk (from all 
sources) 

 CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

 TB08 Open Space, sport and recreational 
facilities standards for residential 
development 

 TB12 Employment Skills Plan 

 TB15 Major Town, and Small Town/District 
Centre Development 

 TB16 Development for Town Centre Uses 

 TB21 Landscape Character 

 TB23 Biodiversity and Development 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents      (SPD) 

BDG Borough Design Guide  

 

19



PLANNING ISSUES 

Development Description: 
1. The application is located in the village of Sindlesham, a limited development location. 

The existing gym building to be demolished is located to the south west of the site, 
adjacent to Harrow Way. 
 

2. The application site comprises a detached gym building (formerly Pulse 8) which is 
proposed to be demolished and a new hotel building erected on the site.  The new 
building will be erected to the north of Pulse 8, in closer proximity to the Spa building.  

 
3. The Nirvana Spa and Pulse 8 gym have predominantly functioned independently from 

one another and the proposal seeks to unify the offering across the site. As per the 
current situation, the gym would comprise private member facilities and not be open 
to the general public.  

 
4. The previous application (193339) was refused for the following reasons:  

1. The application fails to demonstrate the principle of development is acceptable, 
by reason of the absence of a Sequential and Impact Test demonstrating the 
effect of the new hotel, outside of a town centre location, on the vitality and 
viability of the Borough’s town/district centres. The development also fails to 
demonstrate that the loss of an individual gym (a community and recreational 
facility) and D2 floor space would be adequately compensated for. The 
development is contrary to policy CP2 and CP3 of the Core Strategy, CC01, 
TB08 and TB16 of the MDD Local Plan and section 7 of the NPPF. 
 

2. The proposed development would result in an incongruous form of development 
that would detrimentally impact the character and appearance of the area, by 
reason of the large scale, monolithic form, size and poor design of the building 
and the loss and limited provision of soft landscaping. The development would 
be contrary to policy CP1 and CP3 of the Core Strategy, CC01, CC03 and TB21 
the MDD Local Plan, the Borough Design Guide SPD and section 12 of the 
NPPF. 

 
3. In the absence of a Noise Impact Assessment; Lighting Assessment and details 

regarding the operation/open hours of the hotel and ancillary uses, it has not 
been demonstrated that the proposed development would have an acceptable 
impact with regard to noise, disturbance and light pollution on the amenity of the 
neighbouring residents. The proposal is contrary policy Core Strategy policy CP1 
and CP3; MDD Local Plan Policy CC01 and section 12 of the NPPF. 

 
In the absence of Flood Risk Assessment, the application fails to demonstrate 
that this Major Development for a More Vulnerable Use in areas that experience 
Surface Water Flooding would have an acceptable impact with regard to 
sustainably managing Flood Risk. The application is contrary to CP1 and CP3 
of the Core Strategy, CC01, CC09 and CC10 of the MDD Local Plan and section 
14 of the NPPF. 

 
4. In the absence of sufficient information, it has not been demonstrated that the 

proposed development would have an acceptable impact on highway safety; 
adequate parking capacity; internal layout for pedestrians or would promote 
sustainable transport options via a Framework Travel Plan. The proposal is 

20



contrary to Core Strategy policy CP1, CP2, CP3 and CP6, MDD Local Plan policy 
CC07 and section 9 &12 of the NPPF. 

 
5. In the absence of a completed legal agreement, the proposal fails to secure 

opportunities for training, apprenticeships and other vocational initiatives to 
develop local employability skills contrary to Core Strategy Policies CP1 and 
CP4 and MDD Local Plan policy TB12. 

 
5. The latest application varies from the previous application in that the hotel is now 

proposed to accommodate 70 rooms and no longer seeks to include conference 
rooms on the ground floor or storage space in the basement. The full area of the 
basement is now afforded to the replacement gym. The scale of the building has been 
reduced by the removal of the third storey and improvements have been made to the 
design of the elevations and soft landscaping scheme. 

 
6. The application is also supported by the required sequential test and technical 

information such a Highways details and noise, light and flood risk assessments.  
 

Principle of Development: 
7. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of 

sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. The 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that planning 
applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham 
Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise. 

 
8. Policy CC02 of the MDD sets out the development limits for each settlement as 

defined on the policies map and therefore replaces the proposals map adopted 
through the Core Strategy, as per the requirement of policy CP9. Policy CP9 sets out 
that development proposals located within development limits will be acceptable in 
principle, having regard to the service provisions associated with the major, modest 
and limited categories. As the site is within a limited development location, the 
proposal is acceptable in principle.  

 
Impact of town centre use and sequential test: 
9. The previous application (183535) for the demolition of Pulse 8 gym and erection of 

74 bedroom hotel rooms was previously refused for the absence of sequential test 
and the loss of gym and D2 floorspace as outlined above.  

 
10. This latest application is supported by a sequential test which assessed potential 

alternative hotel and spa sites, greater than 1.65ha, within a defined town or district 
centre, or edge of centre locations. Planning Policy confirm the test satisfactorily 
demonstrates that there are no alternative sites in sequentially preferable locations, 
which are available, suitable and commercially viable.  

 
11. Accordingly, the proposed use of the application site for the proposed hotel and spa, 

satisfies the sequential test and complies with Policy TB16 of the MDD Local Plan 
and Section 7 of the NPPF (updated Feb 2019). It is therefore considered that the 
basis for the current sequential test is more robust. 

 
12. The application is further supported by a Leisure Impact Assessment which states 

the proposal will transform the existing leisure-based spa facility, which relies mostly 

21



on local custom, into a luxury Spa Hotel that draws a range of visitors from further 
afield to an out of town setting. The expansion of the business proposed in the 
application concerns the addition of the hotel, not any expansion of the Spa. The 
facility would be marketed nationally to inbound tourists, meaning new custom would 
arise from hotel guests rather than people residing in the local area.  

 
13. From the information provided Planning Policy confirm the proposal would not 

compete with town centre uses; rather competition would arise from other regional 
Spa Hotels.  

 
14. The applicants have now provided additional information and a greater level of clarity 

on how the loss of existing facilities will be compensated for. The proposal 
incorporates an enlarged gymnasium at basement level which, when including the 
external swimming pool, amounts to a total of 3747sqm. Such provision equates to a 
substantial increase relative to the existing Pulse 8 gym which amounts to 2786sqm. 

 
15. By way of comparison to the previously refused scheme, the revised proposal sees 

the enlargement of the gymnasium at basement level and the removal of the ‘hotel 
storage’ area. The ground floor level has also been substantially reconfigured through 
the removal of the conference facilities and banquet room, with only a single guest 
restaurant and small coffee shop/bar remaining. A large proportion of the ground floor 
would instead be given over to guest accommodation. 

 
16. The applicants have confirmed that as per the current situation, the gym would 

comprise private member facilities only and would not be open to the general public. 
The additional information and clarity provided by the applicants in support of their 
application in this regard is considered to satisfactorily to comply with Core Strategy 
Policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB08. 

 
17. The supporting information accompanying this planning application is considered to 

overcome the first reason for refusal and the principle of development is therefore 
accepted by officers. 

 
Character of the Area: 
18. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for 

development proposals that ‘maintain or enhance the high quality of the environment’. 
Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states planning permission will be granted if 
development is ‘of an appropriate scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, 
materials and character to the area together with a high quality of design’ and 
contributes ‘to a sense of place in the buildings and spaces themselves and in the 
way they integrate with their surroundings (especially existing dwellings) including the 
use of appropriate landscaping’. The supporting text to policy CP3 also sets out that 
development should be of a high standard of design that can integrate with the 
character of the area as this is important to achieving sustainable development  

 
19. The proposed development has been reduced in height and one storey of the building 

is now removed. This has resulted in a wider structure and an increased amount of 
ground level floor space. The reduction in height and widening of the proposed 
structure towards the existing spa facilities results in the building being read as one 
coherent development and overall, has an improved relationship with the existing 
development on the site. 

 

22



20. The proposed design also now benefits from a greater level of fenestration and 
elevation detailing, which relieves the impact of the buildings bulk and mass on 
character of the area. The inclusion of soft landscaping across the site will also assist 
in the development assimilating into the wider verdant character. 

 
21. The proposed design alterations, in particular, relocation of the building closer to 

existing facilities and reduction in height, results in a more inclusive and coherent 
development across the site. The proposal is now considered by officers to be of an 
appropriate scale and design which contributes to the Nirvana Spa site and wider 
chacrter of the area in accordance with Policies CP1 and CP3. As such, the proposal 
addresses reason for refusal no 2 of the previous application 183535. 
 

Residential Amenities: 
22. The amended proposal no longer includes a third storey of guest accommodation 

which is considered to be an improvement in terms of the proposals relationship with 
the residential properties on Harrow Way. The building has also shifted closer 
towards the Spa building further improving this relationship. 

 
23. The proposal moves the built form further from the residents from the existing 

development which is sited close to the boundary. The proposed rooftop garden will 
remain in excess of 60 metres from the nearest residential garden on Harrow way. 
This is in line with the requirements of the Borough Design Guide which sets out the 
minimum separation distance to maintain privacy over 2 storeys is 30metres. The 
proposal also retains the 1.8m high opaque glazed screen for this space to ensure 
the continued privacy of existing residents. This arrangement remains acceptable and 
samples of the proposed glazing is requested by condition, as is the retention of this 
screening. 

 
24. The previous proposal was refused due to concerns raised by Environmental Health 

with respect to noise and light impacts on existing residential properties. The previous 
application was not supported by noise and light impact assessments and as such 
officers could not be satisfied the development could be delivered without detriment 
to residential amenity. 

 
25. An External Lighting Impact Report was undertaken by T16 Design, who concluded 

the hotel would not represent a risk for light pollution to neighbouring dwellings. The 
report outlines that advanced software has been used to understand the distribution 
of light under night-time conditions. This demonstrated that no increase in light at the 
boundary of the site will occur. 

 
26. The Noise Impact Assessment undertaken by Walnut Acoustics concluded the 

proposed removal of the Pulse 8 gym complex and the development of a new hotel 
next to the Nirvana Spa site would have no additional impact in terms of noise levels 
in the context of the existing noise climate. 

 
27. The environmental health officer has been consulted on these two documents and is 

satisfied with the development can be delivered without detriment to residential 
amenity. Reason for refusal no. 3 of application 183535 relating to Noise and Light 
impacts on existing residential development is therefore now considered to be 
overcome and is acceptable subject to condition. 

 
Flooding and Drainage: 

23



28. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and MDD Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that new 
development should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk (from all 
sources) by first developing in areas with lowest flood risk, carrying out a Flood Risk 
Assessment (FRA) where required and managing surface water in a sustainable 
manner. 
 

29. The site is located in Flood Zone 1. The footprint of the building will be predominantly 
located in an area at risk from surface water flooding areas with a high and medium 
risk of surface water flooding are located on the site close to the proposed location of 
the building. As the site is over 1ha a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) is required. 

 
30. The previous application was not supported by the required Flood Risk Assessment 

and could therefore not be supported. The application is accompanied by a Flood Risk 
Assessment undertaken by GeoSmart which outline the mitigation measures 
proposed as part of the development. The assessment has been reviewed by the flood 
risk and drainage officer who confirms support of the proposal, subject to suggested 
conditions. As such, the proposal addresses reason for refusal no 4 of the previous 
application 183535. 

 
Access and Movement: 
31. Highway Safety:  The existing access will be used for the hotel and assessments have 

been carried out to prove that vehicles can access and egress the site safely. In 
addition, the gateway has been widened to enable a separate pedestrian access to 
be provided. Moreover, within the site, a pedestrian route will be marked out with 
dropped kerbs and on road markings to segregate pedestrians from vehicles. Details 
of which have been secured by condition 

 
32. Traffic Impact:  There would be an increase in traffic in the morning peak from the 

hotel however this would be less than the daily variation on traffic and this is 
acceptable. The management of deliveries to the hotel would be secured through a 
Delivery and servicing plan 
 

33. Parking:  The level of parking proposed for the hotel would be 4 less than Borough 
Standards, however these 4 spaces and spaces for staff parking can easily be 
accommodated within the proposed 703 spaces on site.  There will be 6 electric 
vehicle charging spaces which is welcome and the details of these will be secured by 
condition. An additional 5 disabled spaces will be provided which is in line with 
Borough Standards. 

 
34. Sustainability:  Whilst this location is poorly served by buses, Winnersh Station is 

within an acceptable walking distance providing services to Reading, Wokingham and 
Guildford for example. The hotel does operate a shuttle bus service to and from the 
station on request. A travel plan for the hotel (guests and staff) has been secured by 
condition and this will assist in encouraging more sustainable forms of travel to and 
from the hotel. 

 
Landscape and Trees: 
35. Core Strategy Policy CP1 and CP3 and MDD Policies CC03 and TB21 seeks to 

ensure development does not have a detrimental impact on the landscape character 
and its features, and enhances the high quality of the environments in the borough 

 

24



36. The site abuts the countryside to the south, east and west. The site is mostly located 
in Wokingham District Landscape Character Area J2 ‘Arborfield Cross and Barkham 
Settled and Farmed Clay’ a moderate quality landscape with a modest capacity for 
change.  

 
37. However, the far eastern edge of the site and the land opposite is part of the high 

quality landscape of L1 ‘Bearwood Wooded Sands and Gravel Hills’ and has a limited 
capacity for change, comprising of wood pasture visible on the east side of Mole Road. 
Key issues affecting the areas are loss of native hedgerow, over maturity of veteran 
hedgerow trees, and loss of structure and species diversity of woodland cover.  The 
landscape strategy is to retain and enhance the positive landscape character and seek 
to improve their condition.  
 

38. The site is subject of an Area TPO 48/1971 which applies to the S and SW site 
boundaries, and TPO 582/1993 that applies to the E and N of the site.  The species 
within the TPOs are broadly Oak, Holly, Maple, Cedar, Ash, Sycamore and Hawthorn. 
The protected trees are to the edges of the site and these are mature native species 
of character and form a significant element of the site and is its defining landscape 
feature. 

 
39. The application is supported by a revised Arboricultural Survey, Impact Assessment 

and Draft Protection Plans including Heads of Terms Method Statement. In addition 
to this a ‘Detailed Soft Landscape Proposals’ Dwg. No. BHA_330_05_LS’ has been 
received, seeks to introduce and acceptable level of soft landscaping across the site.  

 
40.  The proposal results in the removal of 20 moderate quality-trees and 15 low-quality 

trees will be required. All of these trees are young or semi-mature and located in the 
existing car park area. Many of these trees also have a history of unsympathetic 
pruning. None of the trees to be removed are protected by Tree Preservation Order.   

 
41. On the basis that appropriate mitigation planting is proposed and a net increase in 

trees on the site will be provided, the arboricultural losses associated to the proposed 
development are considered acceptable. The landscape and tree officer has reviewed 
the submitted information and has no objection to the proposal, subject to condition. 

 
Ecology: 
42. Core Strategy Policy CP7, carried forward by MDD LP Policy TB23, requires 

appropriate protection of species and habitats of conservation value. Design Principle 
1b (i-ii) is concerned with protection of ecological habitat and biodiversity features, 
together with mitigation of any impacts that do arise. The biodiversity officer has 
reviewed the submitted information regarding ecology and biodiversity and provides 
the following observations. 
 

43.  The site is located in habitat which matches that where bat roosts have previously 
been found in the borough and is within the borough council’s great crested newt 
(GCN) consultation zone.  The site largely comprises building and hardstanding with 
some scattered trees and small patches of amenity grassland.  Tree lines border the 
site.  To the northwest are agricultural fields and to the southeast is a small woodland 
(across the B3030).  There is a pond known to host GCN within the site boundary, 
approximately 140 meters from the proposed new hotel.    

 

25



44.  The ecology report (Derek Finnie Associates, August 2018) has been undertaken to 
an appropriate standard and concludes the current gym building is unlikely to host 
roosting bats.  Likewise, the trees scheduled for removal are unlikely to host roosting 
bats.  However, the surrounding tree lines and adjacent woodland provide suitable 
habitat for use by foraging and commuting bats.  The ecology report states that no 
lighting is proposed within the new car parking area which is contrary to the lighting 
report which states the car park indeed benefit from a variety of lighting across the 
proposal site. 

 
45. Whilst the Lighting report adequately addresses the impact of light on existing 

residential development the lighting in the car park and the use of uplighting is likely 
to result in unacceptable levels of light spillage into the night sky and onto the 
surrounding trees and adjacent woodland.  This could adversely affect foraging and 
commuting bats, their prey, and other nocturnal wildlife. The biodiversity officer 
therefore requests an updated lighting report which considers the ecological assets 
across the site by condition.  

 
46.  The ecology report concludes that the habitats to be immediately affected by the 

development are unsuitable for use by Great Crested Newts and isolated from the 
pond by further unsuitable habitat.  It concludes that GCN are unlikely to be affected 
by the proposals.  However, due to the extent of the works and the proximity of the 
proposed works to a known GCN pond a Construction Environmental Management 
Plan (CEMP) for biodiversity is requested by planning condition. 

 
Sustainable Design/Construction: 
47. Policy CP1 and the Council’s Sustainable Design and Construction SPD requires 

proposals to maintain or enhance the high quality of the environment through 
contributions toward sustainable development. 
 

48. In line with these requirements the proposed development incorporates the following 
sustainability measures, which are considered acceptable, subject to Building 
Regulations: 
 
a) Roof, wall and fenestration materials controlled by condition, to match or 
complement the existing building materials. 
b) High quality insulation. 
c) ‘A’ rated electrical appliances and energy saving light fittings. 
d) Sustainable water use through utilisation of on-site aquifer as per the existing     
Spa facility. 
e) ‘A’ rated double glazed windows with south and east facing windows for solar gain. 
f) A combination of conventional gas and use of existing onsite Combined Heat and 
Power Heating system. 
g) Proposed solar panels on the flat roof of the proposed hotel extension. 

 
49. The sustainably measures proposed are considered suitable and appropriate for the 

site, subject to the approval of Building Control. 
 

Archaeology 
50. Core Strategy Policy CP3 and MDD Policy TB25 require the archaeological impact of 

development to be taken into consideration. 
 

26



51. There are potential archaeological implications with this proposal as evidenced by 
Berkshire Archaeology’s Historic Environment Record (HER). The application site lies 
on a terrace of the River Loddon, a tributary of the River Thames. There is now ample 
evidence that the Loddon valley was settled and farmed from prehistory to the present 
day and recent archaeological investigations have revealed the remains of several 
important settlement and industrial sites in proximity to the application area.  

  
52. This application proposes a development on a reasonable scale and in view of the 

archaeological potential of the application site, the applicant is requested to secure 
the implementation of a programme of archaeological works by planning condition. 

  
Employment Skills 
53.  The application is for Major Development. Policy TB12 of the MDD Local Plan states 

proposals for major development should be accompanied by an Employment and 
Skills plan to show how the development would provide opportunities for training, 
apprenticeship or other vocational initiatives to develop local employability skills 
required by developers, contractors or end users of the proposal. This would be 
secured via a section 106 agreement. Completion of such an agreement would 
address reason for refusal no 6 of the previous application 183535. 

 

 
 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 

In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations 
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age, 
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from 
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will 
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular 
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected 
groups as a result of the development.  

 

CONCLUSION 

It is considered by officers that all previous reasons for refusal have been overcome by 
this proposal, subject to conditions and signed legal agreement. The application is 
therefore considered to be compliant with the Council’s adopted policies and the 
objectives of the National Planning Policy Framework. 

 
 

27



This page is intentionally left blank



Proposed

Pool

Proposed Nirvana Spa

Accommodation

Nirvana Spa &

Leisure

Existing Pulse 8 Fitness

Club to be Removed

Profile of previously refused

scheme ref: 183535

c/o MBP Ltd.

Nirvana Spa & Leisure Ltd.

Tel/Fax: 0118 989 0990

All dimensions to be checked on site.  Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information is to be referred to the Planning Consultant.  This drawing is copyright.

MARTIN  BUTLER  PARTNERSHIP  LIMITED
Wokingham

RG40 1AB

Berkshire

28 Broad Street

Client

Date 01/05/18

1:250

Drawn AB

21805-1 01

Description

Proposed Part Site Plan

Scale Project Drawing Revision

Ltd., Mole Road, Sindlesham, Berkshire, RG41 5DJ.

Proposed Spa Accommodation at Nirvana Spa & Leisure

Rev.A. - 22/10/19

Proposals amended following previous refusal.

A

29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



31



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING REF     : 193339                                                       
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Winnersh Community Centre                                    
                 : New Road, Sindlesham, Wokingham                              
                 : RG41 5DX                                                     
SUBMITTED BY     : Winnersh Parish Council                                      
DATE SUBMITTED   : 09/01/2020                                                   
                                                                                
COMMENTS:                                                                       
Winnersh Parish Council OBJECTS to the application on the following grounds:
   

                                                                               
1) Noise  The rooftop terrace should be completely vacated by 21:00 hours and  
this should be made an enforceable
                                             
condition of planning, We understand the two private roof top terraces should   
only ever be occupied by a maximum of two occupants and noise should be limited 
but signs to remind those guests of the requirement to keep noise to a minimum  
after 21:00 hours would be
                                                     
welcome.
                                                                       

                                                                               
Noise in general from the site should be monitored on a
                        
regular basis to ensure it does not exceed quoted levels and is no worse than   
currently generated.
                                                           

                                                                               
Noise in general from the site should be controlled by imposing an upper noise  
level of x db at any point on the boundary. This would be enf orceable between  
the hours of 9:00 pm and 8:00 am 
                                              

                                                                               
Consider Increasing the Acoustic Fence height to 3
                             
metres between Harrow Way and the site, this would mitigate noise from the      
development which is currently well screened by the current Pulse 8 gym.
       

                                                                               
2)  Light Pollution  The lighting assessment categorises the development site  
as E3 Small Town Centres. We feel it should be categorised E2 as the site is in 
Sindlesham, a small rural settlement with limited street lighting. The impact   
of the lighting to ne ighbouring properties could be mitigated by use of all    
lowlevel
                                                                       
bollard lights, instead of Highlevel floodlight masts, together with movement   
sensors to limit the time the carpark is illuminated
                           
unnecessarily. Light pollution must be controlled to avoid  light
              
spillage and consequent harm to foraging bats.
                                 

                                                                               
3) Construction  The demolition plan states ' The site working hours will be   
from 8.00 am to 5.00 pm. Monday to Friday. No Saturday, Sunday or Bank Holiday
 
working will take place.' These conditions  should be extended to the entire    
construction phase and a single point of contact provided for local residents   
to report any breaches. 
                                                       

                                                                               
Use of the alternative entrances on Mole Road for construction traffic should   
be considered to reduce impact on Harro w Way residents.                        

33



This page is intentionally left blank



Line indicating extents of previously

refused proposal, Application Ref: 183535

Line indicating extents of previously

refused proposal, Application Ref: 183535

Proposed South East Elevation (Front Elevation & View from Mole Road)

Proposed North West Elevation (View from Rear of the Site)

Proposed Street Scene Elevation (Site View from Mole Road)

Existing Street Scene Elevation (Site View from Mole Road)

c/o MBP Ltd.

Nirvana Spa & Leisure Ltd.

Tel/Fax: 0118 989 0990

All dimensions to be checked on site.  Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information is to be referred to the Planning Consultant.  This drawing is copyright.

MARTIN  BUTLER  PARTNERSHIP  LIMITED
Wokingham

RG40 1AB

Berkshire

28 Broad Street

Client

Date 01/05/18

& 1:500

Drawn MB

21805-1 05

Description

East, North West and Street

Existing and Proposed South

Scale Project Drawing Revision

Sindlesham, Berkshire RG41 5DJ

Proposed Hotel at Nirvana Spa & Leisure Ltd. Mole Road,

Scene Elevations.

1:200

D

Revision D - 23.09.19

Proposed south west and north east elevations removed and existing south east and north west elevations of Pulse

8 added. Drawing description in title block and elevation titles all modified for clarity.

Revision C - 05/06/19

Scheme amended following refusal 183535.

Revision B - 30.11.18

Scheme modified in accordance with the clients requirements.

Revision A - 02.10.18

Roof garden guardrails modified and added in accordance with the roof plan layout.

Existing South East Elevation (Front Elevation & View from Mole Road)

Existing North West Elevation (View from Rear of the Site)

35



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Link

Corridor

To

Spa

Canopy over staircase

to basement.

Line indicating extents of previously

refused proposal, Application Ref: 183535

Proposed South West Elevation (View from Harrow Way)

c/o MBP Ltd.

Nirvana Spa & Leisure Ltd.

Tel/Fax: 0118 989 0990

All dimensions to be checked on site.  Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information is to be referred to the Planning Consultant.  This drawing is copyright.

MARTIN  BUTLER  PARTNERSHIP  LIMITED
Wokingham

RG40 1AB

Berkshire

28 Broad Street

Client

Date 23/09/19

Drawn AB

21805-1 06

Description

West and North East

Existing and Proposed South

Scale Project Drawing Revision

Elevations.

Proposed North East Elevation (Internal View from Nirvana Spa)

Existing South West Elevation (View from Harrow Way)

1:200

Existing North East Elevation (Internal View from Nirvana Spa)

Ltd., Mole Road, Sindlesham, Berkshire, RG41 5DJ.

Proposed Spa Accommodation at Nirvana Spa & Leisure

37



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Gym /Fitness Zone

(Internal Layout/Arrangement by Specialist)

Lobby

Duct

Staff Only

Lift

Stairs

Up

Escape

Only

Service

Void

To

Hotel Lobby

Up

up

Stairwell

Lifts

up

Female

Changing Room

Male

Changing Room

Service Void

Fire

Escape

Gym /Fitness Zone

(Internal Layout/Arrangement by Specialist)

Gym /Fitness Zone

(Internal Layout/Arrangement by Specialist)

Kitchen

Reception

Female

Change/Toilets

Lifts

Lobby

Guest Restaurant

Link Corridor To Spa

Poolside Cafe

Swimming Pool

(25 x 10m)

Up

To

Basement

Terrace Terrace

Terrace

Entrance Porch

1213

1415

1617

Duct

Stairs

up

1819

2021

1011

89

67

45

23

up

Lounge/Bar

Bar

Treatment

Suite

Male Change/

Toilets

up

Reception

(Private Office)

Luggage/

Store

Lobby Lobby

Female

Toilet

Male

Toilet

Stairwell

1

Cold

Room/

Store

Staff Only

Lift

2223

Line indicating extents of

previously refused proposal,

Application Ref: 183535.

up

Proposed Basement Plan Proposed Ground Floor Plan

c/o MBP Ltd.

Nirvana Spa & Leisure Ltd.

Tel/Fax: 0118 989 0990

All dimensions to be checked on site.  Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information is to be referred to the Planning Consultant.  This drawing is copyright.

MARTIN  BUTLER  PARTNERSHIP  LIMITED
Wokingham

RG40 1AB

Berkshire

28 Broad Street

Client

Date 01/05/18

1:200

Drawn AB

21805-1 03

Description

Ground Floor Plans.

Proposed Basement and

Scale Project Drawing Revision

Ltd., Mole Road, Sindlesham, Berkshire, RG41 5DJ.

Proposed Spa Accommodation at Nirvana Spa & Leisure

D

Revision D - 30.10.19

Minor amendments in accordance with the clients requirements.

Revision C - 24.09.19

Hotel storage area removed from proposed basement as no longer required due to available off site storage

capacity and proposed gym/fitness zone extended to maximise available area. External escape staircase added

from ground level at the rear of the building. Overall key dimensions added.

Revision B - 05.06.19

Scheme amended following refusal ref: 183535.

Revision A - 30.11.18

Amended in accordance with the clients requirements.

39



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Lounge

Area

En-Suite

Service

Duct

Lobby

Bidet

WC

Luggage

w

Trouser

Press

Mini

bar

Dressing Table

Double

Shower

or BathTinted

glass

Super King Size

(1.8m x 2m)

Balcony

Duct

Stairs

24 25 26 27 28 29

30 32 34 36

49

51

5253

5455

5657

5859

6061

6263

6465

6667

6869

Lifts

up

up

46

up

38 40 42 44

4543

33

35 37 39 41

48

72 (Suite)73 (Suite)

47

50 (Suite)

Store

Store

Stairwell

Privacy Screen

31

(Suite)

Staff Only

Lift

7071

Rooftop Garden/

Terrace

Private Rooftop

Garden to

Suite Below

Duct

Stairs

Flat Roof for

Photovoltaics

Flat Roof for

M&E

Up

Escape

Route

Only

Proposed 1.8m high

opaque glazed

screen to be provided

to roof top garden to

ensure privacy to

local properties

located on Harrow

Way.

Proposed 1.8m high

opaque glazed

screen to be provided

to roof top gardens

and escape walkway.

Cherry Laurel

hedging to be planted

in trough planters to

provide screening and

privacy.

Cherry Laurel

hedging to be planted

in trough planters to

provide screening and

privacy.

Proposed 1.8m high opaque

glazed screen to be provided

to roof top garden with

Cherry Laurel hedging

planted in trough planters.

1.1m high glazed

guardrail to rooftop

garden.

1.1m high glazed

guardrail to rooftop

garden.

1.1m high glazed

guardrail to rooftop

garden.

Proposed 1.8m high

opaque glazed

screen to be provided

to roof top

garden/terrace area.

Lifts

down

Stairwell

Servery

down

Stairwell

Store

Rooftop Garden/

Terrace

1.1m high guardrail to

fire escape route.

1.1m high glazed guardrail to

rooftop garden with low level

seasonal planting in troughs.

Proposed 1.8m high opaque

glazed screen to be provided

to roof top garden with

Cherry Laurel hedging

planted in trough planters.

Staff Only

Lift

Line indicating extents of

previously refused proposal,

Application Ref: 183535.

Private Rooftop

Garden to

Suite Below

Flat Roof for

Photovoltaics

Typical Standard Room Layout

c/o MBP Ltd.

Nirvana Spa & Leisure Ltd.

Tel/Fax: 0118 989 0990

All dimensions to be checked on site.  Any discrepancy between this drawing and other information is to be referred to the Planning Consultant.  This drawing is copyright.

MARTIN  BUTLER  PARTNERSHIP  LIMITED
Wokingham

RG40 1AB

Berkshire

28 Broad Street

Client

Date 01/05/18

& 1:200

Drawn AB

21805-1 04

Description

Floor Plans.

Proposed First and Roof

Scale Project Drawing Revision

1:100

D

Revision D - 24.09.19

External staircase giving access to ground floor level only to the rear of the building shown.

Revision C - 05.06.19

Scheme amended following refusal ref: 183535 with proposed second floor removed.

Revision B - 30.11.18

Amended in accordance with the clients requirements.

Revision A - 26.09.18

Roof garden guardrail and planting notes added.

Proposed First Floor Plan Proposed First Floor Plan

Ltd., Mole Road, Sindlesham, Berkshire, RG41 5DJ.

Proposed Spa Accommodation at Nirvana Spa & Leisure

41



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application Number Expiry Date Parish Ward 

192852 15 May 2020 Wokingham Evendons 

 

Applicant Mr P Smith 

Site Address Sorbus House, Mulberry Business Park, Fishponds Road, 
Wokingham RG41 2GY 

Proposal Outline application with for the proposed erection of 38 
dwellings to include one and two bedroom dwellings, 
landscaping, bike store and bin store (access to be considered) 

Type Outline 

Officer Simon Taylor 

Reason for 
determination by 
committee 

Major application (>10 dwellings) 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Thursday 21 May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

The proposal involves the construction of a four storey flat building comprising 38 units 
(six x 1-bed and 32 x 2-bed) on a building footprint of 1005m2, with 59 car spaces, 
vehicular access, cycle storage, bin storage and landscaping around the perimeter of 
the site. The application is outline only, with consideration of the principle of 
development and access only and all other matters forming part of a future reserved 
matters application.  
 
The application was originally considered at the Planning Committee on 8 January 2020 
with a recommendation for approval, subject to 15 conditions and the completion of a 
satisfactory legal agreement to secure an affordable housing contribution (in the form of 
a commuted sum totalling £714,701.34) and preparation of an Employment Skills Plan. 
At the Planning Committee, there was some discussion surrounding on-site provision of 
some or all of the 11.4 affordable units in lieu of some or all of the commuted sum.  
 
Whilst some discussions took place, no formalised position about on-site provision was 
established at the point which the applicant instead submitted a viability assessment, 
questioning the provision of affordable housing.  
 
This supplementary report provides a summary of the submitted viability report, its 
assessment by the Council’s external consultant and follow up considerations. The 
viability assessment submitted by the applicant suggests that the scheme is unviable 
when subject to any form of affordable housing. The review by the Council’s external 
consultant concluded that the scheme would not be viable with 11.4 units of affordable 
housing as per Committee’s resolution but would be viable with the provision of nine 
affordable housing units and a commuted sum of £15,976. This was later reviewed 
following further consideration and revised to nine affordable housing units. The 
applicant has accepted this figure.  
 
The application is tabled back to the Planning Committee for consideration because 
there is a reduction in the amount of affordable housing provision compared to 
Committee’s original resolution.  
 

43

Agenda Item 115.



The original officer report and plans are attached at Appendix 1 and 2 respectively. The 
officer recommendation remains unchanged with the exception of minor changes to 
Condition 9 to reflect changes in the members update for the January meeting of the 
Planning Committee.  

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following: 
 
A) A legal agreement to secure the provision of nine on site affordable housing 

units (in shared ownership with two x 1-bed units and seven x 2-bed units) 
and an Employment Skills Plan  

B) Conditions and informatives:  
 
Conditions 
 
1) Outline approval 
 

No development shall commence until all remaining details aside from access, 
including but not limited to appearance, scale, landscaping, internal and external 
layout, unit numbers and mix and affordable housing (hereinafter called ‘the 
reserved matters’) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority and the development shall be carried out as approved. 
 
An application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local 
planning authority not later than three years from the date of this permission. 
The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than two years from the 
date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 

 
Reason: In pursuance of s.92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2) Approved details  
 

This permission is in respect of plans numbered 076 OP 001 Rev D, 076 OP 003 
Rev D, 076 OP 011 Rev D, 076 OP 012 Rev D, 076 OP 013 Rev D, 076 OP 014 
Rev D, 076 OP 015 Rev D and 076 OP 016 Rev D, all received by the local 
planning authority on 28 October 2019 and plans numbered 076 OP 005 Rev E, 
076 OP 010 Rev E, received 23 December 2019.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details unless other minor variations 
are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before implementation 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby 
approved. 

 
3) Contamination details 
 

No development shall take place until a scheme to deal with contamination of the 
site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
The scheme shall include an investigation and assessment to identify the extent of 

44



contamination and the measures to be taken to avoid risk when the site is 
developed.  Development shall not commence until the measures approved in the 
scheme have been implemented. 

 
Reason: To ensure that any contamination of the site is identified at the outset to 
allow remediation to protect construction workers and proposed occupants of 
property on the site.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15 and Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3. 

 
4) Construction method statement  

 
No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
Statement shall provide for: 
 
a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
c) Storage of plant and materials 
d) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
e) Programme of works, including measures for traffic management and 

operating hours 
f) Details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 

construction (eg wheel washing facilities) 
g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 
h) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works 
i) Provision of boundary hoarding 
j) Details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility 

buildings 
k) Lighting on site during construction 
l) Monitoring and review mechanisms 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour 
amenities.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6. 

 
5) Sustainable drainage details 
 

No development shall take place until full details of the drainage system for 
the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The 
details shall include: 

 
a) Calculations indicating the existing/greenfield runoff rate from the site 
b) BRE 365 test results demonstrating whether infiltration is achievable or not 
c) Use of SuDS following the SuDS hierarchy, preferably infiltration 
d) Full calculations demonstrating the performance of soakaways or 

capacity of attenuation features to cater for 1 in 100 year flood event 
with a 40% allowance for climate change and runoff controlled at 
Greenfield rates, or preferably better 

e) If connecting to an existing surface water sewer is proposed, we need 

45



to understand why other methods of the SuDS hierarchy cannot be 
implemented and see confirmation from the utilities supplier that their 
system has got capacity and the connection is acceptable 

f) A demonstration of how surface water runoff is going to be catered for, given 
that parts of the development site already suffer from surface water flooding. 

g) A description of how any overland flow routes will be catered for 
h) Groundwater data confirming seasonal high groundwater levels 
i) A drainage strategy plan indicating the location and sizing of SuDS features, 

with the base of any SuDS features located at least 1m above the seasonal 
high water table level 

j) Details demonstrating how any SuDS for this development would be 
managed throughout the lifespan of the development and who will be 
responsible for maintenance 

k) Details of permeable and bonded materials within the car park area 

 
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.   
Relevant policy:  NPPF Section 10, Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10. 

 
6) Energy and water saving details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include a scheme to reduce water 
consumption to achieve internal potable water consumption targets of 105 litres or 
less per person per day and for generating 10% of the predicted energy 
requirement of the development from decentralised renewable and/or low carbon 
sources (as defined in the glossary of Planning Policy Statement: Planning and 
Climate Change (December 2007) or any subsequent version), which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented before the development is first occupied and shall 
remain operational for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section, Core Strategy policy CP1, Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC05 and the Sustainable Design and Construction 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
7) Lighting details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include a report detailing the lighting 
scheme and how this will not adversely impact upon wildlife, which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The report shall include the 
following figures and appendices:  
 
l) A layout plan with beam orientation  
m) A schedule of equipment  
n) Measures to avoid glare  
o) An isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and 

horizontally and areas identified as being of importance for commuting and 
foraging bats.  

 
The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed.  
 

46



Reason: To limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on nature 
conservation in accordance with para 180 of the NPPF.  

 
8) Landscaping details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include full details of both hard and soft 
landscape proposals, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, car parking 
layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas, hard surfacing 
materials, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting and external services. Soft 
landscaping details shall include a planting plan, specification (including cultivation 
and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), schedules of 
plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities where 
appropriate, and implementation timetable. It should also include a landscape 
management plan, including management responsibilities, timescales and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas.  
 
It should take account of car parking to meet (and not exceed) the parking 
standards in Appendix 2 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan in 
consultation with Condition 9, with the remaining excess spaces assigned as soft 
landscaping and tree/shrub planting.  
 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in 
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of species, size and number as originally approved 
and permanently retained. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 

 
9) Parking details 

 

In consultation with Condition 8 and as part of a reserved matters application(s), no 
development shall take place until full details of allocated, visitor, unallocated and 
disabled parking in accordance with WBC parking standards, an Electric Vehicle 
Charging Strategy (including on-site infrastructure, installation of charging points 
and future proofing of the site) and bicycle parking have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority:   
 
All parking shall be implemented in accordance with such details as may be 
approved before occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be 
permanently retained in their approved form and used for no other purpose, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are 
provided, to encourage the use of alternative and sustainable modes of travel, to 
meet the future requirements of disabled users and to ensure that secure electric 
vehicle charging facilities.  

47



Relevant policy: NPPF Section 9 and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP2, CP3 and 
CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 

 
10) Travel Plan 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include a revised Travel Plan which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel 
plan shall include a programme of implementation and proposals to promote 
alternative forms of transport to and from the site, other than by the private car and 
provide for periodic review. It shall also include reference to the Council’s 
MyJourney scheme and include targets, mode share and action plans. The travel 
plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.   

 
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes.  
Relevant policy:  NPPF Section 9 and Core Strategy policy CP6. 

 
11) Materials and finishes details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include details of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings, including to the 
courtyards of ground floor units, which shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 

 
12) Refuse storage details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include details of bin storage, which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The bin 
storage area and facilities shall be permanently so-retained and used for no 
purpose other than the temporary storage of refuse, recyclable and compost 
materials. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual and neighbouring amenities and functional 
development.   
Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policy CC04. 

 
13) Biodiversity enhancement details 
 

No occupation of the development shall take place until details of biodiversity 
enhancements, to include swift bricks, bird, and bat boxes on and around the new 
buildings and native and wildlife friendly landscaping, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the council. The biodiversity enhancements shall thereafter 
be installed as approved prior to occupation of the development. 
 
Reason: To incorporate biodiversity in and around developments in accordance 
with paragraph 175 of the NPPF.  

 
14) Site clearance 

48



 
All areas of hedges, scrub or similar vegetation where birds may nest which are to 
be removed as part of the development, are to be cleared outside the bird-nesting 
season (March - August inclusive) or if clearance during the bird-nesting season 
cannot reasonably be avoided, a suitably qualified ecologist will check the areas to 
be removed immediately prior to clearance and advise whether nesting birds are 
present. If active nests are recorded, no vegetation clearance or other works that 
may disturb active nests shall proceed until all young have fledged the nest.  
 
Reason: To ensure that wildlife is not adversely affected by the proposed 
development in line with Policy CP7 of the core strategy and wildlife legislation.  
 

15) Working hours 
 

No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of 
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than 
between the hours of 8am and 6pm Monday to Friday and 8am to 1pm on 
Saturday and at no time on Sunday or Bank or National Holidays. 

 
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and 
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06. 

 
Informatives 
 
1) Section 106 agreement 
 

This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated <<TBC>>, the 
obligations in which relate to this development. 

 
2) Southern Gas Networks 
 

Gas mains are located within the site. There should be no mechanical excavations 
taking place above or within 0.5m of a low/medium pressure system or above or 
within 3.0m of an intermediate pressure system. You should, where required 
confirm the position using hand dug trial holes. Safe digging practices in 
accordance with HSE publication HSG47 “Avoiding Danger from Underground 
Services” must be used to verify and establish the actual position of the mains, 
pipes, services and other apparatus on site before any mechanical plant is used.  

 
3) Changes to the approved plans 
 

The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved 
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning 
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details.  Non-material 
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
4) Travel plan 
 

49



The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local 
guidance: 
 
a) NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) 
b) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008) 
c) Delivering Travel Plans Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009) 
d) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT) 
e) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) 

 
Documents, covering workplace travel plans and residential travel plans provide 
local guidance and are available on the Borough’s website. 

 
5) Protected species 
 

This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent required under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for protected species.  The applicant is 
advised to contact Natural England with regard to any protected species that may 
be found on the site. 

 
6) Pre commencement details 
 

Where this permission requires further details to be submitted for approval,   the 
information must formally be submitted to the Council for consideration with the 
relevant fee. Once details have been approved in writing the development should 
be carried out only in accordance with those details.  If this is not clear please 
contact the case officer to discuss. 

 
7) Discussion 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received. 
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive 
discussions with the applicant in terms of a full pre-application process being used 
and amended plans being submitted to overcome concerns. 
 
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a 
positive outcome of these discussions. 

 

ASSESSMENT 

1. Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy, Policy TB05 of the MDD Local Plan and the 
Affordable Housing SPD specify an affordable housing rate of 30% for any 
development comprising more than 15 dwellings. This equates to 11.4 units of the 
total of 38 units. 

 
2. The applicant initially indicated an intention to meet the affordable housing 

obligations via an off-site financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision. The 
Council’s Housing Policy Officer was not averse to this approach on the basis of 
the location within the Core Employment Area and the type of units proposed that 
would not adequately address need/demand based on dwelling size and location. 

50



The required sum was £714,701.34 index-linked, to be used on other affordable 
housing in the borough.  

 
3. Member discussion at the Planning Committee promoted on site provision of 

affordable housing contrary to the recommendation of the Housing Officer. The 
minutes from the meeting also indicate that the applicant was ‘exploring options 
with affordable housing companies and were open to providing on-site affordable 
housing units.’  
 

4. A financial viability assessment has been submitted prior the completion of the 
legal agreement. The summary of that assessment concluded that ‘As there is a 
negative residual land value for the scheme comprising all 38 units for private sale 
and also for the scheme providing 11.4 affordable housing units, this indicates that 
neither scheme is able to generate sufficient land value for there to be any 
affordable housing contribution.’ 

 
5. On the aspect of developer return, the National Planning Policy Guidance 

assumes a viability assumption of 15-20% of Gross Development Value as a 
suitable return to developers. An alternative figure can be used where there is 
evidence to support this according to the type, scale and risk. A lower figure may 
be more appropriate in consideration of delivery of affordable housing in 
circumstances where this guarantees an end sale at a known value and reduces 
risk.  

 

6. The applicant has used a 17% return on private sales and 6% on the affordable 
housing element. This has been accepted by the Council’s external consultant as 
an acknowledgement that it is a brownfield site and because it is a single phased 
scheme with all costs expended before any revenues are achieved. Affordable 
units have a lower return of 6% as they are seen as lower risk as an agreement 
has usually been reached with an RP prior to construction rather than private units 
where they usually need to have been constructed prior to a purchaser being 
found.  
 

7. The review by the Council’s external consultant raises five areas of disagreement 
with the financial viability assessment submitted by the applicant: 
 

a) The Gross Development Value is undervalued with insufficient allowance 
made for their new build nature and new build premium 

b) A six month lead in time is excessive given no demolition is required 
c) The total build cost is excessive for a flatted scheme given there are no 

estate roads, very limited landscaping and fencing and no garaging and the 
sort 

d) Finance costs are overstated and sales, marketing and legal costs are 
marginally overstated  

e) Where the benchmark land value was not assessed in the applicant’s review, 
it is clear that the site lies in residential use because of a lack of marketability 
of the previous planning permission for an office building and because of the 
substantial number of office conversions in the surrounding area  

 

8. These points of differentiation have the effect of ensuring that the proposed 
development can return a developer profit of 15.13% whilst providing for nine 
affordable housing units and a commuted sum of £15,976. This is higher than the 
14.18% at which the applicant stated that their appraisal of the 100% private sale 

51



scheme would proceed at. The developer return with no affordable housing is 17% 
and 10.95% when applying the policy compliant affordable housing requirement of 
11.4 units.  

 
9. The applicant accepted this conclusion, with the exception of the commuted sum, 

citing current uncertainties with the coronavirus pandemic and disagreement with 
the application of the existing use value as amenity land (and not open car 
storage). Upon review, the Council’s external consultant has accepted this 
reasoning.  
 

10. Accordingly, the affordable housing requirement is for the provision of nine on-site 
units, which is 23.7% of the total of 38 units. This is a 2.4 unit reduction from a 
policy complaint requirement of 11.4 units (30%). The units are to be provided in 
the form of two x 1-bed units and seven x 2-bed units in a 100% shared ownership 
arrangement. The Council’s Housing Officer is satisfied with this arrangement.  
 

11. It also remains subject to a late stage viability review to be undertaken when 70% 
of the units have been sold in order that the viability of providing a commuted sum 
to bridge the difference between the nine units and the remaining 2.4 units to 
provide a policy compliant scheme can be reassessed. 
 

12. The legal agreement is being updated to reflect the provision of nine on site 
affordable units and the late stage review as well as the Employment Skills Plan. 
At the time of writing, it was not yet completed but it is anticipated that it will be in 
place at the time of the Planning Committee meeting.  
 

13. As a postscript and following assurances to the Planning Committee at the 
meeting on 8 January 2020, the applicant is currently in negotiations with a 
housing provider whereby 100% of the development will be provided as affordable 
housing. It is anticipated that this will be finalised by the time of the Planning 
Committee meeting. 

 

CONCLUSION 

14. The viability of the proposed development has been scrutinised and a partially 
reduced provision of affordable housing from 30% to 23.7% (or reduction of 2.4 
units) is accepted as appropriate. The proposal remains acceptable in the context 
of the assessment made in the original officer report.   

 

52



Application Number Expiry Date Parish Ward 

192852 27 January 2019 Wokingham Evendons 

 

Applicant Mr P Smith 

Site Address Sorbus House, Mulberry Business Park, Fishponds Road, 
Wokingham RG41 2GY 

Proposal Outline application with for the proposed erection of 38 
dwellings to include one and two bedroom dwellings, 
landscaping, bike store and bin store (access to be considered) 

Type Outline 

Officer Simon Taylor 

Reason for 
determination by 
committee 

Major application (>10 dwellings) 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Wednesday 8 January 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

The application site is currently vacant but was previously occupied by an office building 
before it was damaged by fire and then demolished. It is surrounded by office buildings 
within the wider Molly Millars Industrial Area (Core Employment Area), although several 
neighbouring properties are undergoing prior approval conversions to residential 
accommodation.  
 
The proposal involves the construction of a four storey flat building comprising 38 units 
(six x 1-bed and 32 x 2-bed) on a building footprint of 1005m2, with 59 car spaces, 
vehicular access, cycle storage, bin storage and landscaping around the perimeter of 
the site. The application is outline only, with consideration of the principle of 
development and access only and all other matters forming part of a future reserved 
matters application.  
 
No submissions were received during the consultation period although the ward 
member has raised concern with a lack of facilities and services, failure to address 
mitigation for the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area, lack of parking and a 
proposal to provide off site affordable housing. The application is acceptable on account 
of the above. 
 
The proposal would result in the loss of land assigned for business use within the Molly 
Millars Core Employment Area, which would be contrary to policy in the Development 
Plan. However, when accounting for the recent prior approvals for office to residential 
conversions on surrounding sites (some of which have commenced) and when 
acknowledging the identified marketability issues with the office use of the site, the 
principle of establishing residential development on the site is acceptable. Furthermore, 
vehicular and pedestrian access to the site is acceptable and approval is 
recommended, subject to Conditions 3-12 requiring pre commencement details as part 
of a reserved matters application, including relating to contamination, construction, 
drainage, ecology, landscaping, parking, materials and waste storage. 

 
 
 
 

141

Agenda Item 77.

53



PLANNING STATUS 

 Major development location 

 Combined Core Employment (Molly Millars Industrial Area) 

 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (7km zone) 

 Bat consultation zone 

 Flood zone 1 

 South East Water consultation zone 

 Nitrate vulnerable zone (surface water) 

 Landfill gas consultation zone 

 Heathrow Aerodrome wind turbine safeguarding zone 

 Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone 

 Non-classified road 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following: 
 
A) A legal agreement to secure the off site commuted sum for affordable 

housing and an Employment Skills Plan  
B) Conditions and informatives:  
 
Conditions 
 
1) Outline approval 
 

No development shall commence until all remaining details aside from access, 
including but not limited to appearance, scale, landscaping, internal and external 
layout, unit numbers and mix and affordable housing (hereinafter called ‘the 
reserved matters’) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the local 
planning authority and the development shall be carried out as approved. 
 
An application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the local 
planning authority not later than three years from the date of this permission. 
The development hereby permitted shall begin not later than two years from the 
date of approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved. 

 
Reason: In pursuance of s.92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 

 
2) Approved details  
 

This permission is in respect of plans numbered 076 OP 001 Rev D, 076 OP 003 
Rev D, 076 OP 011 Rev D, 076 OP 012 Rev D, 076 OP 013 Rev D, 076 OP 014 
Rev D, 076 OP 015 Rev D and 076 OP 016 Rev D, all received by the local 
planning authority on 28 October 2019 and plans numbered 076 OP 005 Rev E, 
076 OP 010 Rev E, received 23 December 2019.  The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details unless other minor variations 
are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and before implementation 
with the Local Planning Authority. 
 

14254



Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby 
approved. 

 
3) Contamination details 
 

No development shall take place until a scheme to deal with contamination of the 
site has been submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  
The scheme shall include an investigation and assessment to identify the extent of 
contamination and the measures to be taken to avoid risk when the site is 
developed.  Development shall not commence until the measures approved in the 
scheme have been implemented. 

 
Reason: To ensure that any contamination of the site is identified at the outset to 
allow remediation to protect construction workers and proposed occupants of 
property on the site.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15 and Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3. 

 
4) Construction method statement  

 
No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the local planning authority. The 
approved Statement shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. The 
Statement shall provide for: 
 
a) The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors 
b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
c) Storage of plant and materials 
d) The erection and maintenance of security hoarding including decorative 

displays and facilities for public viewing, where appropriate 
e) Programme of works, including measures for traffic management and 

operating hours 
f) Details of measures to prevent mud from vehicles leaving the site during 

construction (eg wheel washing facilities) 
g) Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction 
h) A scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and 

construction works 
i) Provision of boundary hoarding 
j) Details of any site construction office, compound and ancillary facility 

buildings 
k) Lighting on site during construction 
l) Monitoring and review mechanisms 

 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience and neighbour 
amenities.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6. 

 
5) Sustainable drainage details 
 

No development shall take place until full details of the drainage system for 
the site have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The 
details shall include: 

14355



 
a) Calculations indicating the existing/greenfield runoff rate from the site 
b) BRE 365 test results demonstrating whether infiltration is achievable or not 
c) Use of SuDS following the SuDS hierarchy, preferably infiltration 
d) Full calculations demonstrating the performance of soakaways or 

capacity of attenuation features to cater for 1 in 100 year flood event 
with a 40% allowance for climate change and runoff controlled at 
Greenfield rates, or preferably better 

e) If connecting to an existing surface water sewer is proposed, we need 
to understand why other methods of the SuDS hierarchy cannot be 
implemented and see confirmation from the utilities supplier that their 
system has got capacity and the connection is acceptable 

f) A demonstration of how surface water runoff is going to be catered for, given 
that parts of the development site already suffer from surface water flooding. 

g) A description of how any overland flow routes will be catered for 
h) Groundwater data confirming seasonal high groundwater levels 
i) A drainage strategy plan indicating the location and sizing of SuDS features, 

with the base of any SuDS features located at least 1m above the seasonal 
high water table level 

j) Details demonstrating how any SuDS for this development would be 
managed throughout the lifespan of the development and who will be 
responsible for maintenance 

k) Details of permeable and bonded materials within the car park area 

 
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.   
Relevant policy:  NPPF Section 10, Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10. 

 
6) Energy and water saving details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include a scheme to reduce water 
consumption to achieve internal potable water consumption targets of 105 litres or 
less per person per day and for generating 10% of the predicted energy 
requirement of the development from decentralised renewable and/or low carbon 
sources (as defined in the glossary of Planning Policy Statement: Planning and 
Climate Change (December 2007) or any subsequent version), which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The approved 
scheme shall be implemented before the development is first occupied and shall 
remain operational for the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason: To ensure developments contribute to sustainable development.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section, Core Strategy policy CP1, Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC05 and the Sustainable Design and Construction 
Supplementary Planning Document. 

 
7) Lighting details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include a report detailing the lighting 
scheme and how this will not adversely impact upon wildlife, which shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The report shall include the 
following figures and appendices:  
 

14456



l) A layout plan with beam orientation  
m) A schedule of equipment  
n) Measures to avoid glare  
o) An isolux contour map showing light spillage to 1 lux both vertically and 

horizontally and areas identified as being of importance for commuting and 
foraging bats.  

 
The approved lighting plan shall thereafter be implemented as agreed.  
 
Reason: To limit the impact of light pollution from artificial light on nature 
conservation in accordance with para 180 of the NPPF.  

 
8) Landscaping details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include full details of both hard and soft 
landscape proposals, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
local planning authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, car parking 
layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access and circulation areas, hard surfacing 
materials, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting and external services. Soft 
landscaping details shall include a planting plan, specification (including cultivation 
and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), schedules of 
plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities where 
appropriate, and implementation timetable. It should also include a landscape 
management plan, including management responsibilities, timescales and 
maintenance schedules for all landscape areas.  
 
It should take account of car parking to meet (and not exceed) the parking 
standards in Appendix 2 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan in 
consultation with Condition 9, with the remaining excess spaces assigned as soft 
landscaping and tree/shrub planting.  
 
All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details prior to the occupation of any part of the development or in 
accordance with a timetable approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
Any trees or plants which, within a period of five years after planting, are removed, 
die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of species, size and number as originally approved 
and permanently retained. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 

 
9) Parking details 

 
In consultation with Condition 8 and as part of a reserved matters application(s), 
no development shall take place until full details of visitor and unallocated parking 
(total of 16 spaces), disabled parking (minimum of four spaces), an Electric 
Vehicle Charging Strategy (including on-site infrastructure, installation of charging 
points and future proofing of the site) and bicycle parking have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the local planning authority:  
 

14557



All parking shall be implemented in accordance with such details as may be 
approved before occupation of the development hereby permitted, and shall be 
permanently retained in their approved form and used for no other purpose, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are 
provided, to encourage the use of alternative and sustainable modes of travel, to 
meet the future requirements of disabled users and to ensure that secure electric 
vehicle charging facilities. 
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 9 and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP2, CP3 and 
CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 

 
10) Travel Plan 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include a revised Travel Plan which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The travel 
plan shall include a programme of implementation and proposals to promote 
alternative forms of transport to and from the site, other than by the private car and 
provide for periodic review. It shall also include reference to the Council’s 
MyJourney scheme and include targets, mode share and action plans. The travel 
plan shall be fully implemented, maintained and reviewed as so-approved.   

 
Reason: To encourage the use of all travel modes.  
Relevant policy:  NPPF Section 9 and Core Strategy policy CP6. 

 
11) Materials and finishes details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include details of the materials to be 
used in the construction of the external surfaces of the buildings, including to the 
courtyards of ground floor units, which shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. Development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 

 
12) Refuse storage details 
 

The reserved matters application(s) shall include details of bin storage, which shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.  The bin 
storage area and facilities shall be permanently so-retained and used for no 
purpose other than the temporary storage of refuse, recyclable and compost 
materials. 

 
Reason: In the interests of visual and neighbouring amenities and functional 
development.   
Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policy CC04. 

 
 
 
 

14658



13) Biodiversity enhancement details 
 

No occupation of the development shall take place until details of biodiversity 
enhancements, to include swift bricks, bird, and bat boxes on and around the new 
buildings and native and wildlife friendly landscaping, has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the council. The biodiversity enhancements shall thereafter 
be installed as approved prior to occupation of the development. 
 
Reason: To incorporate biodiversity in and around developments in accordance 
with paragraph 175 of the NPPF.  

 
14) Site clearance 
 

All areas of hedges, scrub or similar vegetation where birds may nest which are to 
be removed as part of the development, are to be cleared outside the bird-nesting 
season (March - August inclusive) or if clearance during the bird-nesting season 
cannot reasonably be avoided, a suitably qualified ecologist will check the areas to 
be removed immediately prior to clearance and advise whether nesting birds are 
present. If active nests are recorded, no vegetation clearance or other works that 
may disturb active nests shall proceed until all young have fledged the nest.  
 
Reason: To ensure that wildlife is not adversely affected by the proposed 
development in line with Policy CP7 of the core strategy and wildlife legislation.  
 

15) Working hours 
 

No work relating to the development hereby approved, including works of 
demolition or preparation prior to building operations, shall take place other than 
between the hours of 8am and 6pm Monday to Friday and 8am to 1pm on 
Saturday and at no time on Sunday or Bank or National Holidays. 

 
Reason: To protect the occupiers of neighbouring properties from noise and 
disturbance outside the permitted hours during the construction period.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06. 

 
Informatives 
 
1) Section 106 agreement 
 

This permission should be read in conjunction with the legal agreement under 
section 106 of the Town and Country Planning Act dated #/#/####, the obligations 
in which relate to this development. 

 
2) Southern Gas Networks 
 

Gas mains are located within the site. There should be no mechanical excavations 
taking place above or within 0.5m of a low/medium pressure system or above or 
within 3.0m of an intermediate pressure system. You should, where required 
confirm the position using hand dug trial holes. Safe digging practices in 
accordance with HSE publication HSG47 “Avoiding Danger from Underground 

14759



Services” must be used to verify and establish the actual position of the mains, 
pipes, services and other apparatus on site before any mechanical plant is used.  

 
3) Changes to the approved plans 
 

The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved 
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning 
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details.  Non-material 
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
4) Travel plan 
 

The requisite Travel plan would need to comply with the latest national and local 
guidance: 
 
a) NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) 
b) The Essential Guide to Travel Planning (DfT, March 2008) 
c) Delivering Travel Plans Through the Planning Process (DfT, April 2009) 
d) A Guide on Travel Plans for Developers (DfT) 
e) Making Residential Travel Plans Work (DfT, June 2007) 

 
Documents, covering workplace travel plans and residential travel plans provide 
local guidance and are available on the Borough’s website. 

 
5) Protected species 
 

This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent required under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for protected species.  The applicant is 
advised to contact Natural England with regard to any protected species that may 
be found on the site. 

 
6) Pre commencement details 
 

Where this permission requires further details to be submitted for approval,   the 
information must formally be submitted to the Council for consideration with the 
relevant fee. Once details have been approved in writing the development should 
be carried out only in accordance with those details.  If this is not clear please 
contact the case officer to discuss. 

 
7) Discussion 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received. 
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive 
discussions with the applicant in terms of a full pre-application process being used 
and amended plans being submitted to overcome concerns. 
 
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a 
positive outcome of these discussions. 

14860



 

PLANNING HISTORY 

App Number Proposal Decision 

25379 Hi tech buildings (outline)  Approved 24 April 1986 

28081 Employment marketing office Approved 9 July 1987 

32351 Internal partitions and fire escape Approved 24 February 
1989 

33232 Illuminated signage Approved 2 June 1989 

161475 
(outline) 

Three storey office building with parking 
(access, layout and scale considered) 

Approved 18 August 
2016 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

Site Area 0.3 hectares 

Existing use Vacant land but the site has approval for and was 
previously occupied by an Class B1 office building 

Proposed use Class C3 Residential  

Proposed units 38 units (six x 1-bed and 32 x 2-bed) 

Proposed density 126 dwellings per hectare 

Existing parking spaces 79 spaces 

Proposed parking spaces 59 spaces 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

WBC Sports Development No comments received. 

WBC Environmental 
Health 

No comments received. 

WBC Drainage No objection, subject to a pre commencement condition 
requiring additional drainage details in Condition 5.  

WBC Growth and Delivery No objection. 

WBC Highways No objections are raised on the grounds of traffic 
generation, trip rates, on-site parking provision, internal 
manoeuvrability (to most spaces) and car space 
dimensions. Concerns are raised in relation to the location 
of the cycle parking, swept path access to six of the car 
spaces and the adequacy of the Travel Plan.  
 
Officer comment: A Construction Method Statement would 
be required by Condition 4 and additional parking details 
are required in Condition 9. The Travel Plan is updated by 
Condition 10 and swept path access details have been 
submitted as part of revised details, which are acceptable. 

WBC Tree and Landscape Objections are raised on the grounds of inadequate 
landscaping and substandard external amenity. 
 
Officer comment: Refer to comments in support of the 
proposal in paragraphs 59-60 and 45-48 respectively and 
Condition 8. 

WBC Economic Prosperity 
and Place 

No objection is raised in relation to the reliance upon a 
commuted sum in lieu of on-site provision for affordable 
housing. The total commuted sum is £714,701.34 and this 
is secured by legal agreement.  

14961



WBC Ecology No objection, subject to Conditions 7 and 13 relating to 
external lighting and biodiversity enhancements and 
Condition 14 relating to timing of the clearing of the site. 

WBC Cleaner and Greener No objection. 

WBC Education No comments received. 

WBC Green Infrastructure No comments received. 

National Grid No comments received. 

SSE Power Distribution No objection, subject to Informative 2. 

Southern Gas Networks No objection, subject to Informative 2. 

Royal Berkshire Fire and 
Rescue 

No comments received. 

Wildlife Trust No comments received. 

NHS Wokingham No objection. 

Crime Prevention No comments received.  

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Wokingham 
Town Council 

The building is of excessive height and there is a lack of amenity 
space. 
 
Officer comment: The proposal is acceptable on both accounts, as 
detailed in paragraph 33 onwards and in paragraphs 45-48 
respectively. 

Local Members Councillor Sarah Kerr raised the following concerns: 
 

 There are a lack of facilities and services in the area 
 
Officer comment: It is noted that the site is located within a core 
employment area where the level of facilities and services is limited. 
However, the site retains a suitable level of sustainability to services 
and facilities in surrounding areas and is within a major 
development location, as noted at paragraphs 5-6. 
 

 Inadequate parking provision 
 
Officer comment: The proposal makes provision for a complaint 
amount of on-site parking, as noted at paragraphs 21-23. 
 

 An off site commuted sum for affordable housing is 
unacceptable 

 
Officer comment: The Council’s Housing Policy Officer accepts that 
a commuted sum is acceptable in this case, as noted at paragraph 
78. 
 

 The proposal fails to secure mitigation for the Thames Basin 
Heaths Special Protection Area 

 
Officer comment: The proposal does not trigger the requirement for 
mitigation for the Thames Basin Heaths SPA, as noted at paragraph 
76. 

Neighbours No submissions were received.  

15062



 

APPLICANTS POINTS 

The principle of development should be considered acceptable for the following main 
reasons:  
 
a) The site is not in employment use 
b) There would be no net loss of employment floorspace 
c) The existing consent has lapsed 
d) Sorbus House is surrounded on all sides within the estate with residential 

consents that either have or are shortly to be implemented;  
 
Despite extensive and ongoing marketing since 2011 there has been no appetite from 
commercial developers to develop the site for employment use. The appetite for 
employment development is now non-existent in light of the residential context. Policy 
CP15 and paragraph 4.71 of the Core Strategy allow alternative needed uses, where a 
case is demonstrated, including reference to this particular estate. 
 
There is a very real and demonstrated need for market and particularly affordable 
housing in the Country, Borough and in Wokingham specifically. This proposal would 
contribute significantly to this need and should attract very significant weight in the 
overall planning balance.  
 
The proposal will make a valuable contribution to the provision of smaller 
accommodation, assisting Wokingham to achieve its housing targets. The site is easily 
accessible via a choice of transport modes and as a brownfield site within the urban 
area, comprises a sustainable location and type of development, without causing 
significant impacts on the character of the area or amenity.  
 
The design and siting of the proposed development (although only outline at this stage), 
is demonstrated to be in keeping with the existing buildings adjacent to the site. There 
will be no detrimental impact on amenity or the character of the area that could warrant 
refusal of planning permission. The proposed development will be seen either against a 
backdrop of the existing buildings or associated landscaping.  
 
The accompanying Transport Assessment has demonstrated that the surrounding road 
network is able to accommodate the associated traffic movements and that the 
proposed access to the site is acceptable.  

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

NPPG National Planning Policy Guidance 

Core Strategy 
2010 

CP1 Sustainable Development 

CP2 Inclusive Communities 

CP3 General Principles for Development 

CP5 Housing mix, density and affordability 

CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

CP7 Biodiversity 

CP8 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 

CP9  Scale and Location of Development Proposals 

CP15 Employment Development 

CP17 Housing Delivery 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

15163



Managing 
Development 
Delivery Local 
Plan 2014 

CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping 

CC04 Sustainable Design and Construction  

CC05 Renewable Energy and Decentralised Energy Networks 

CC06 Noise 

CC07 Parking 

CC09 Development and Flood Risk 

CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

TB05 Housing Mix 

TB07  Internal Space Standards 

TB11 Core Employment Areas 

TB12 Employment Skills Plan 

TB21 Landscape Character 

TB23 Biodiversity and Development 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Documents 

BDG Borough Design Guide (Sections 4 and 5) 

AH SPD Affordable Housing 

SDC Sustainable Design and Construction 

Other DCLG National Internal Space Standards 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

 
Description of Development 
 
1. The proposal involves the following outline proposal: 
 

 Regrading/levelling of the site 

 Construction of a four storey flat building, comprising the following:  
- Ground floor: Two lobby entrances with ten x 2-bedroom units (with 

ground floor amenity space to eight units) 
- First and second floors: Ten x 2-bedroom units on each level (with 

private balconies to six units on each floor) 
- Third floor: Six x 1-bed and two x 2-bed units (with private balconies to 

six units) 
- Two passenger lifts and two communal staircases serving each floor 

 59 parking spaces surrounding the building, interspersed with cycle parking 
and refuse storage  

 New pedestrian access 

 Associated landscaping 
 
Site Description 
 
2. The site is located at the rear of Mulberry Business Park, on the southern side of 

Fishponds Road. It measures 0.3 hectares in area and is currently vacant, having 
been cleared following fire damage to the previous building. The area is 
characterised by multi storey office buildings, surrounded by car parking, with 
several in the immediate vicinity undergoing conversion to residential units. The 
closest residential property is 20m to the west at 2 Reeves Way.  

 

Principle of Development 
 
3. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour 

of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development 

15264



Plan. Policy CC01 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan states that 
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for 
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
4. Policy CC02 of the MDD Local Plan sets out the development limits for each 

settlement and Policy CP9 of the Core Strategy outlines the hierarchy of 
development locations, having regard to the service provisions associated with the 
major, modest and limited categories. The site is located within the major 
development location and would be acceptable in terms of the principles stated in 
the Core Strategy and the relevant policies in the MDD Local Plan, subject to a 
consideration of other outline factors.  

 
Sustainability 
 
5. Policies CP1, CP6 and CP9 of the Core Strategy permit development where it is 

based on sustainable credentials in terms of access to local facilities and services 
and the promotion of sustainable transport. Expanding on this, paragraph 4.57 in 
the CS aims to prevent the proliferation of development in areas away from 
existing development limits as they are not generally well located for facilities and 
services and would lead to the increase in use of the private car. 

 
6. Whilst the site lies at the south eastern end of Molly Millars Industrial Area (or 

Core Employment Area) amongst buildings originally constructed for office use, it 
is still suitably located within relatively short walking distance of several retail 
facilities (such as Lidl supermarket at the end of Fishponds Close). It is also within 
walking distance of regular bus services to Reading from a bus stop on Barkham 
Road or Molly MIllars Lane and is 15 minutes’ walk from Wokingham Train 
Station. Cycling use is also realistic, particularly given the 30mph speed limit on 
surrounding roads. The fact that it is located within the Core Employment Area 
does not negate this conclusion and on balance, the site exhibits satisfactory 
sustainability credentials and is acceptable on this basis.  

 
Core Employment Area 
 
7. The site is within the Milly Millars Core Employment Area (CEA) and Policy CP15 

of the Core Strategy aims to accommodate Class B floorspace (business, industry 
or warehousing) in this area (and other designated areas). More particularly, 
though, there should not be a net loss of Class B floorspace and Policy TB11 of 
the MDD Local Plan also states that the majority of employment growth is to occur 
in the Core Employment Areas. The primary basis behind this is outlined in 
paragraph 4.70 of the Core Strategy, which points to a forecast need for increased 
supply of industry and warehouse floor space leading up to 2026 of 51,000m2 to 
meet forecast Class B use growth in the borough.  

 
8. The Council’s Employment Land Monitoring Report for April 2013 to March 2014 

demonstrated that there was a net gain of 3,649m2 of Class B use floor space in 
the borough from 1 April 2006. The Central FEMA (Functional Economic Market 
Area) Economic Development Needs Assessment dated October 2016 identified a 
recommended net office space requirement for 2013-2036 of at least 93,305m2 
based on the labour supply approach. At last review, there was a total of 88,099m² 
of extant permissions for Class B use floor space but there has and will be 

15365



significant additions through permissions for the Science Park development at 
Shinfield supported by Policy CP16 of the Core Strategy. However, the 
implementation rate of all of the current permissions remains uncertain. What is 
certain, however, is that the Council’s most recent monitoring data from the 
Annual Monitoring Report (published February 2017) shows further on-the-ground 
losses of floor space, to the extent that a deficit of 790m2 existed at April 2016 
(and a loss of some 4,439m2 in two years). 
 

9. As is immediately evident within the Mulberry Business Park, Class O of the 
GPDO also allows for the conversion of existing Class B1(a) office space to 
residential use through the prior approval process, with the primary intention being 
to boost housing supply. There has been significant uptake of such planning 
permissions throughout the borough. 

 
10. The site was originally occupied by a two storey office building that was destroyed 

by fire in 2011 and approval for a replacement three storey office building was 
granted in 2016 (application 161475) although it has since lapsed. As such, it is 
currently vacant and does not result in the loss of any floorspace. 
 

11. The proposal would, however, result in the loss of part of the CEA to a non-
employment use and introduce sensitive residential receptors in a location which 
is promoted for commercial and industrial uses. This is contrary to the spatial 
strategy of Policies CP15 and TB11. Were such sites allowed to be lost 
unchecked, without appropriate justification, this would clearly run contrary to the 
qualitative policy aim to ensure variety in provision across the borough. 

 
12. However, paragraph 4.71 of the Core Strategy states that the creation of 

additional floorspace on existing and new sites would allow for the reuse of some 
existing employment sites for other uses where there is a demand for other uses 
and/or a lack of demand for business uses without a net loss in employment 
floorspace. 

 
13. The supporting documentation relies upon the changing character of the 

immediate area and in particular within Mulberry Business Park itself. Prior 
approvals for office to residential conversions under Class O of the GPDO have 
been granted and/or are currently under construction at all of the sites surrounding 
the site and at a total of eight sites on the southern side of Fishponds Road.  
Some buildings have also had additional full planning approval for roof extensions 
to accommodate additional units. In short, more than 50% of the buildings and the 
vast majority of the existing floorspace on the southern side of the road have 
approval to be converted to create at least 269 units across eight buildings, 
including all of the existing buildings within Mulberry Business Park. 

 
14. Of these examples, the residential conversions at Ilex and Nigra are underway 

and Mulberry and Quoin are unoccupied and boarded up in anticipation of the 
commencement of construction. In addition, Indigo House is currently subject to 
two further prior approval applications which would increase the number of units 
from 30 to 54. There are also two other prior approvals in the wider area – Cyber 
House comprises 73 units (360m to the east) and a prior approval application is 
under assessment at 12 Oaklands Park (175m to the south) for 25 units. This 
brings the net total to 367 units.  

 

15466



15. On the basis of the above, it is reasonable to conclude that the immediate area 
(and to a lesser degree, the wider area of the Molly Millars Industrial Area) is 
undergoing change to residential use and this application is consistent with the 
future characteristics of the area.  
 

 
 
16. The application was also accompanied by a marketing report. It noted that the 

office building had a 25% vacancy prior to the fire and marketing of the site in the 
12 months following the approval of the replacement office building (application 
161475) in October 2016 resulted in no offers being registered. Following a listing 
with another agent, it was eventually withdrawn from sale. The marketing report 
also offers the following additional justification: 
 

 The site is of limited size, has poor access and traffic issues and Reading, 
Bracknell and Winnersh offers better connectivity 

 Occupants tends to prefer areas within larger commercial centres outside of 
industrial estates and with a greater variety of services and facilities 

 As of October 2019, there is a high vacancy rate of office accommodation of 
varied sizes in Wokingham, with a total of 29 offices and 84,000 square feet 
of floorspace. This is evidence of Wokingham acting as a secondary 
destination 

 
17. To resist the application is likely to result in the site remaining vacant and were it 

to be developed for Class B use, it could result in conflicting land uses posing 
potential amenity issues with the residential units surrounding the site. 
Accordingly, there is no objection to the proposal for residential development on 
the site despite the clear departure from Policies CP15 and TB11 and the principle 
of residential accommodation is supported. 

 
 

Quoin 
180318  
(23 units) 
 

Rubra 1 
180674 
(22 units) 
 Rubra 2 

180675  
(26 units) 
 

Alba 
180676  
(22 units) 
 

Ilex 
191907 
191204 
182732  
(57 units) 
 

Nigra 
183084 
180029 
(55 units) 
 

Indigo 
182428  
30 units) 
 

Rosa 
191254 
34 units) 
 

Cyber 
161689 
171693 
(73 units) 
 

15567



Density  
 
18. Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy and Policy TB05 of the MDD Local Plan require 

an appropriate dwelling density and R10 of the Borough Design Guide SPD seeks 
to ensure that the development achieves an appropriate density in relation to local 
character. 

 
19. The residential density would equate to 126 dwellings (or 233 bedrooms) per 

hectare, which is greater than the surrounding converted office buildings, whether 
under construction or with extant permission. These buildings generally do not 
exceed 100 dwellings per hectare.  
 

20. The 38 units would be accommodated over four storeys but the overall height of 
the building is not unreasonably out of context with the surrounding built form. It 
does, however, have the effect of increasing the parking requirements for the site, 
which limits the amount of soft landscaping within the site as a result. However, as 
the site currently has no landscaping of any retainable merit and in the context of 
the surrounding area and the Core Employment Area as a whole, where 
landscaping is confined to the site boundaries, there is no unreasonable impact. 
Moreover, additional or denser landscaping can be achieved in balancing parking 
requirements as part of Condition 8 and in the reserved matters application. In this 
respect, the density of the development is acceptable in principle.  

 
Access and Movement 
 
Car Parking 
 
21. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street 

parking standards, including provision for charging facilities.  
 
22. There are a total of 59 car parking spaces surrounding the proposed building, 

made up of 38 allocated spaces (one per unit) and 21 unallocated spaces on site. 
With dimensions of 5m x 2.5m, the car parking spaces accord with the Council’s 
standards.  

 
23. The total requirement is 54 spaces, which results in an excess of five spaces 

although additional space would be required to account for enlarged and relocated 
cycle storage and provision for disabled parking (see Condition 9) and a potential 
resign of the refuse storage to increase capacity. Of the 54 spaces, 16 would be 
assigned as visitor and unallocated parking spaces and the remainder would be 
reassigned for additional landscaping as part of Condition 8.  

 
Cycle Parking 
 
24. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum cycle 

parking standards and Policies P2 and P3 of the Borough Design Guide SPD 
ensure that it is conveniently located, secure, undercover and compatible.  

 
25. One cycle storage space (measuring 2m x 0.9m) is required for each unit and two 

storage areas are proposed at the eastern and western ends of the building. The 
areas appear sufficient to accommodate 12 bicycles, which is a significant 
departure of 26 bikes. Enlargement of the cycle storage, its relocation to be 

15668



secure and undercover and further details of the storage would form part of 
Condition 9 and in a reserved matters application.  

 
Access and Traffic 
 
26. The site benefits from existing access from Fishponds Road, which is shared with 

Ilex House, Rosa House and Indigo House, all of which are currently undergoing 
or shortly expected to be converted to residential use. It allows two way movement 
and has sufficient splays such that there are no immediate concerns with the 
proposal for additional residential development on the site and the use of a shared 
access. 

 

27. The Transport Statement submitted with the application demonstrates an overall 
generation of 9 two-way vehicle movements in the morning peak and 9 two-way 
vehicle movements in the evening peak. The Council’s Highways Officer has 
reviewed the details and noted that these are less than those approved in the 
strategic model. However, due to the level and type of the development, the 
difference is marginal and the trip rates are otherwise acceptable. On this basis, it 
is unlikely that the proposal would have an adverse impact on the highway 
network. Moreover, when accounting for the trip movements associated with other 
nearby residential flat buildings, it remains acceptable.  

 
28. A Travel Plan was also submitted with the application but is not acceptable in its 

current form as it does not refer to the Council’s MyJourney nor does it include 
targets, mode share and action plans. Changes are required in Condition 10.   

 
29. Car park access within the site is via either side of the building, which minimises 

vehicle conflict. The aisle width within the car park measures 6.0m, which allows 
sufficient space for safe manoeuvring, two way passing and forward movement to 
and from the site from all spaces, including space 47 which is somewhat 
compromised. Part of the aisle width to the north of the building is shared with 
Indigo House and this is to be retained in the approved prior approval plans for 
application 182428 such that no further concerns are raised. There is adequate 
space and manoeuvrability for refuse vehicles (which will involve on site collection 
as currently occurs) and emergency vehicles such as fire engines.  

 
30. 2.0m wide footways are provided on both sides of Fishponds Road, leading into 

Mulberry Park and onto the subject site. There is a reliance upon a shared surface 
within the site, but with access to the building on both sites of the building, the 
likelihood of conflict is low. Measures would need to be adopted in the design 
stage as part of the reserved matters application to ensure that vehicles and 
pedestrians can co-exist safely. 

 
31. To protect the amenity of surrounding properties and to co-exist with other 

surrounding construction sites, a construction method statement is required in 
Condition 4. However, there are no in-principle concerns with construction access 
at outline stage given the site is currently vacant.  

 
 
 
 
 

15769



Character of the Area 
 
32. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in 

terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and 
must be of high quality design.  

 
33. To accommodate 38 units, the building comprises four storeys with a flat roof and 

a total height of 12.1m. The area is predominated by two storey office buildings 
with some of the prior approvals accommodating residential units within a third 
floor within the roofspace. The eaves heights of surrounding properties vary 
between 6.3m and 8.3m and the ridge heights extend to 11.3m-14.1m. As such, 
the subject dwelling is not the tallest structure in the immediate vicinity as 
measured to the ridge height. Regardless, however, the floor to ceiling height of 
each of the floors in the proposed building would be no more than 2.7m and the 
building design includes a flat roof form. This contrasts with the significantly 
greater ceiling heights and pitched roofs within surrounding buildings. 
 

34. The footprint measures 1005m2, which is less than or equal to the other 
surrounding buildings. It also equates to about 1/3 of the site, which is broadly 
consistent with the ratio of building footprint to site area on surrounding properties. 
It is also centrally located within the centre of the site and largely in alignment with 
the demolished building and with ample setbacks to property boundaries. There 
are no immediate concerns with the footprint or siting of the development.  
 

35. As a result, whilst the subject application exhibits greater building bulk than 
surrounding existing buildings, it is not unreasonably out of context with the 
surrounding area, in terms of bulk, scale and height. It also benefits from its 
backland location, which limits its visibility in wider views. These factors are 
illustrated in the overview submitted by the applicant.  

 

 
 
36. P2 of the Borough Design Guide SPD ensures that parking is provided in a 

manner that is compatible with the local character. The proposed car parking 
dominates the perimeter of the site, although this is improved from the current 
arrangements, which a net reduction of 20 car spaces and greater opportunities 
for soft landscaping centrally within the site. This is reinforced further in Conditions 
8 and 9, which require additional landscaping. In doing so, it is also entirely 
compatible with the surrounding area, which comprises similar car parking 

Fishponds Road 

Rear of site 

15870



arrangements to the front and rear of buildings that are being converted for 
residential use.  

 
37. The building design includes a contrast in materials and articulation to the long 

elevations. However, these matters are for consideration under a reserved matters 
application in Condition 11 but there are no glaring concerns with the design of the 
building as depicted in the plans submitted with this outline application.  
 

38. Accordingly, insofar as it relates to the outline application, the proposal achieves a 
satisfactory character outcome in terms of Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and 
the Borough Design Guide and is acceptable.  

 
Dwelling Mix 
 
39. Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy requires an appropriate mix of dwelling types, 

tenures and sizes so that the housing needs of the community are met. Policy 
TB05 of the MDD Local Plan requires an appropriate housing mix which reflects a 
balance between the underlying character of the area and both the current and 
projected needs of households. 

 
40. The dwelling mix does not address the identified future housing need for more 

than 65% of all new units to be 3 or more bedrooms, as established in the 
Berkshire Strategic Housing Market Assessment (February 2016): 

 
 1 bed 2 bed 3 bed 4+ bed Total 

SHMA 
requirements 

934 3488 5605 2862 12889 

7.2% 27.1% 43.5% 22.2% 100% 

Subject application 6 units 32 units 0 units 0 units 38 units 

16% 84% 0% 0% 100% 

 
41. Paragraph 4.30 of the Core Strategy states that depending upon the character 

and needs of the area, it may not be necessary to include a mix of dwellings in 
every residential scheme, especially smaller ones. This is the case in this location 
where the surrounding developments have a high concentration of one bed units. 
The supporting documentation acknowledges that the mix is indicative only and 
would be subject to change (and should be altered) in a reserved matters 
application. While this is the case and a greater variety of unit types would be 
supported, the outline application demonstrates that the unit mix would not be a 
reason for refusal of the application given the neighbourhood and good public 
transport connections that are generally supportive of smaller unit types.   

 
Housing Amenity 
 
Internal amenity 
 
42. Policy TB07 of the MDD and R17 of the SPD require adequate internal space to 

ensure the layout and size achieves good internal amenity. In accordance with the 
Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard, a minimum 
standard of 50m2 applies for the 1-bed units and 70m2 for the 2-bed units. The 
proposal accords with these minimum standards. 

 
43. Paragraphs 127 and 130 of the NPPF seeks to promote development that has 

good architecture and layout with a high standard of amenity for existing and 

15971



future users and Paragraphs 150 and 153 of the NPPF state that new 
development to should take account of landform, layout, building orientation, 
massing and landscaping to minimise energy consumption. R18 of the SPD also 
requires sufficient sunlight and daylight to new properties, with dwellings afforded 
a reasonable dual outlook and southern aspect. 
 

44. Because of the narrow nature of the site, the building design includes a high 
number of single aspect units (24 or 63% of the total development). Of these, 12 
of the units (31%) face north and will receive no sunlight across the day although 
conversely, the remaining 12 units face almost due south and will receive sunlight 
throughout the day. Despite the clear reduction in amenity afforded to the north 
facing units through reduced access to sunlight, the design and layout of the units 
does provide for an open plan form within the main living areas, there is a 
complaint minimum floor area and provision for outdoor amenity space (subject to 
comments in paragraph 46 of this report) and there is an adequate uninterrupted 
outlook of 18m. Moreover, the level of amenity arising from a new build is vastly 
superior to that afforded to other prior approval units within surrounding buildings 
and given the elongated nature of the site and the constraints that this imposes, a 
degree of single aspect units is unavoidable.  On balance, it does not warrant 
refusal of the outline application.  

 
External amenity 
 
45. R16 of the Borough Design Guide SPD stipulates that each unit should have 

amenity space and it should retain and protect privacy, benefit from sunlight and 
be able to accommodate 2–4 chairs and a small table. 

 
46. There is no communal amenity space and 10 of the 38 units (26%) have no 

private amenity space, whether in the form of a private courtyard or balcony. The 
ground floor units have courtyards of 7-11m2 with a maximum depth of 1.8m, 
which is generally acceptable although two of the units have no amenity space, 
presumably because it would conflict with vehicular access. Most of the above 
ground floor units have balconies of no more than 3-4m2 in area, which is only 
marginally capable of accommodating chairs and a table.  
 

47. All units in a new build development should have access to good sized outdoor 
amenity space (in terms of depth and total area) and it should take account of site 
context. As such, improvements should and can be made as part of the reserved 
matters application(s) without compromising the ability of the site to accommodate 
the scale of development depicted on the outline application plans. For instance, 
courtyards can be added to the ground floor units that currently have no private 
amenity space, above ground balconies can be enlarged where they are already 
proposed and added to the end units on the first and second floors where they do 
not. For this reason, the extent of private amenity space is unfavourable to a 
degree but does not form in-principle justification for the refusal of the outline 
application.   

 
48. The planning statement suggests that Leslie Sears Field would be used for 

outdoor amenity space. Whilst it is 190m south of the site as the crow flies, the 
walking distance is in excess of 1km and would prove undesirable for most 
occupants for regular use. Nonetheless, this does not influence the conclusion 

16072



that the proposed outdoor amenity space, as required to be amended in a 
reserved matters application, would be acceptable.  

 
Acoustic amenity 
 
49. Policy CC06 and Appendix 1 of the MDD Local Plan requires that development 

protect noise sensitive receptors from noise impact. The units are stacked 
appropriately across all four floors although bedrooms do adjoin living rooms 
within the centre units on each of the four floors. Whilst this is not preferred, the 
development will need to be built to building regulations and this would ensure that 
noise transfer between common walls of units is unlikely. 

 
50. The site will remain within the Molly MIllars Core Employment Area, which brings 

with it potential acoustic privacy issues. However, the existing office buildings are 
not high noise emitters and the evolving nature of the immediate area from office 
to residential development is such that no objection is raised.  

 
Residential Amenities 
 
51. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity. In this 

instance, consideration of acoustic and visual privacy, dominance and access to 
light are relevant considerations for the reserved matters application but it is also 
relevant for outline consideration to determine the relationship with existing land 
uses. The relevant guidelines of the Borough Design Guide SPD are:  

 

 R15 requires the retention of reasonable levels of visual privacy to habitable 
rooms, with separation of 22m (ground and first floor) to 30m (second and 
third floor) to the rear 

 R16 requires separation distances of 1.0m to the side boundary and 11m to 
the rear boundary 

 R18 aims to protect sunlight and daylight to existing properties, with no 
material impact on daylight in the habitable rooms of adjoining properties 

 Policy CC06 and Appendix 1 of the MDD Local Plan also requires that 
development protect noise sensitive receptors from noise impact 

 
Overlooking 
 
52. To the south, there is 12m separation to the boundary and 22-24m separation to 

the two nearest buildings, both of which have office uses. There is a departure 
with the 30m standard when measured from the second and third floors but when 
accounting for the non-residential use of the neighbouring buildings, the level of 
privacy is acceptable. Even if the offices are converted to residential use (which is 
not a matter for consideration under this application), there is a change in ground 
level and extensive buffer of existing landscaping between the two properties (the 
landscaping lies outside the boundaries of both properties) such that no adverse 
concerns are raised. 

 
53. There is less separation to the north (minimum 17.6m) and no landscaping such 

that there is a heightened degree of overlooking towards Indigo House to the 
north. It is currently in office use but has extant prior approval permission for 
residential use with at least eight units facing the subject site. Despite departures 
with the 30m standard of up to 12.4m and clear opportunities for overlooking 

16173



between properties, the issue has arisen more from the prior approval process at 
Indigo House than anything with the subject scheme. Rather, the subject building 
adopts some positive design measures in preventing overlooking and the degree 
of overlooking can be considered as mutual between the buildings such that no 
objection is raised.  
 

54. There is even greater overlooking to the west where there is 11.1m separation 
between Ilex House (which is currently being converted to residential use) and the 
subject building. It would represent a departure with the 30m standard of 18.9m on 
the upper levels and the degree of overlooking would be even more pronounced. 
However, the same prior approval scenario exists here and the subject application 
takes adequate account of this situation whereby there is only one bedroom 
window and part of a living room window within each of the seven units along the 
corresponding elevation facing Ilex House. To the east, there is no immediate 
neighbouring building and at least 30m separation such that no concern is raised.  
 

55. In conclusion, the prior approval process within surrounding buildings has resulted 
in a planning outcome that would be contrary to the guidelines in the Borough 
Design Guide and would not be supported in terms of the policies in the 
Development Plan. This is because the prior approval process does not take 
account of neighbouring amenity as a planning consideration and the scope of 
works does not allow for changes to fenestration. Instead, the subject application 
involves a new build and it has adopted sufficient measures to minimise but 
clearly not alleviate privacy concerns. Overall, it does not form the basis for 
refusing the development on in-principle grounds.   

 
56. Internally within the development, the building exhibits good design such that 

there are no immediate opportunities for unreasonable overlooking.  
 
Sense of enclosure/Loss of light 
 
57. Despite its 12m height, the aforementioned separation distances to the property 

boundaries are such that there is no adverse or unreasonable levels of enclosure, 
dominance or loss of sunlight and daylight to neighbouring properties. There is 
likely to be some loss of light to the eastern elevation of Ilex House to the west 
where the separation is only 11.1m but at this distance, it still does not warrant 
refusal of the outline application, particularly in the context of surrounding built 
form. 
 

Noise disturbance 
 

58. The density of the scheme would bring about a degree of noise conflict between 
residential neighbours and within the development itself but it when accounting for 
the high density of surrounding development, it is not unreasonable and does not 
form a reason of concern at outline stage.  

 
Landscaping and Trees 
 
59. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks, 

retain existing trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 
requires consideration of the landscape character.  

 

16274



60. The Council’s Trees Officer raises no in principle objection to development of the 
site, noting that there is little landscaping of merit on the site and the corridor of 
landscaping along the southern boundary will be retained and not impacted by the 
proposed scheme. The footprint of the building and the expanse of hardstanding 
does preclude any significant landscape planting being established within the site. 
However, in the context the surrounding built form, no objection is raised. 
Additional landscaping can be accommodated as part of Condition 8, which 
requires landscaping details as part of the reserved matters process. 

 
Ecology 
 
61. Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity 

features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with 
the wider green infrastructure network.  

 
62. The plot is covered in rough grass, shrub and tall ruderal vegetation and is 

isolated from the immediate surrounding landscape by hardstanding (car parks). 
The surrounding landscape contains large office blocks and hardstanding with 
some scattered shrubs and trees, including a thin strip of woodland adjacent to the 
south of the site which has connections to gardens and fields in the wider 
landscape. The site is also located in habitat where bat roosts have previously 
been found and the strip of woodland provides habitat suitable for use by foraging 
and commuting bats.  

 
63. The Council’s Ecology Officer notes that although the site contains habitat suitable 

for use by protected species such as reptiles, it is too isolated from surrounding 
suitable habitat to be utilised by these protected species. However, to protect any 
foraging and commuting bats within the adjacent woodland, lighting details are 
required in Condition 7 as part of the reserved matters application(s) in addition to 
details relating to biodiversity enhancements (Condition 13) and limitations upon 
site clearance (Condition 14). 

 
Building Sustainability 
 
64. Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan and the Sustainable Design and Construction 

SPD require sustainable design and conservation and Policy CC05 encourages 
renewable energy and decentralised energy networks, with encouragement of 
decentralised energy systems and a minimum 10% reduction in carbon emissions. 
There is no suggestion that the proposal would not be able to meet the above 
obligations and this is outlined in Condition 6 as part of the reserved matters 
application(s).  
 

Waste Storage 
 
65. Policy CC04 of the MDD Local Plan requires adequate internal and external 

storage for the segregation of waste, recycling and food waste. A bin store has 
been provided and whilst it may need to be enlarged to accommodate waste, 
recycling and compost arising from a 38 unit development, it is appropriately 
located for ease of access for residents and for collection by refuse vehicles. 
Additional details would be sought as part of Condition 12 as part of the reserved 
matters application(s).  

 

16375



Flooding and Drainage 
 
66. Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from 

historic flooding. The site and access thereto is located within Flood Zone 1 and 
the proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability and the principle of 
development on this site is satisfactory.  

 
67. Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and 

the minimisation of surface water flow. The amount of hardstanding on the site is 
likely to be reduced as part of this application and natural discharges to Emm 
Brook are likely to be improved as part of the redevelopment. The Council’s 
Drainage Engineer has reviewed the proposal and raises no objection, subject to 
full drainage details in Condition 5, including permeable materials for the car park.  

 
Environmental Health  
 
Contamination 
 
68. Section 78A(2) of Part 2A of the Environmental Protection Act 1990(a) states that 

‘contaminated land’ is any land which appears to the local authority in whose area 
it is situated to be in such a condition, by reason of substances in, on or under the 
land that (a) significant harm is being caused; or (b) significant pollution of 
controlled waters is being caused, or there is a significant possibility of such 
pollution being caused.  

 
69. The site falls within contaminated land consultation area as well as landfill gas 

consultation zone and therefore there may be risks to the proposed residential 
use. It is located on the site of a former Brickworks and partly located on a landfill 
site known as Molly Millars Lane Filled Ground. The site may therefore potentially 
be affected by ground contamination and migrating and toxic/flammable gases 
which could pose a risk to the sensitive residential end users.  

 
70. An assessment of potential contamination and any remediation and validation 

considered necessary is required to ensure the site is suitable for its end use as 
residential and to protect workers during the construction phase. This forms a pre 
commencement requirement in Condition 3 because it deals with the principle of 
development on the site. However, given prior approvals have been granted for 
residential uses on surrounding sites and the GPDO requires the Council to 
consider these risks in the assessment of prior approval applications, it is 
concluded that the risks would not prevent future redevelopment of the site and on 
this basis, the proposal is acceptable. 

 
Construction activities 
 
71. The recommendation for approval is subject to conditions relating to construction 

activities, including but not limited to noise amelioration, dust suppression and 
working hours. This is outlined in Condition 4.  

 
 
 
 
 

16476



The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 
 
72. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its 

obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected 
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief.  

 
73. There is no indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) 

that persons with protected characteristics as identified by the Act have or will 
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular 
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts as a result 
of the development. 
 

74. On this aspect, Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy seeks to ensure that new 
development contributes to the provision of sustainable and inclusive 
communities, including for aged persons, children and the disabled.  
 

75. 10–20% of all dwellings (up to eight units) should be to Lifetime Homes standards 
in accordance with Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy and Policy TB05 of the MDD 
Local Plan. This is achievable, with open plan floor layouts and lift access within 
the building design. However, four disabled parking spaces to meet resident and 
visitor needs would need to be provided amongst the existing 59 space car park 
and this would form part of a redesign of the site layout in Condition 9 as part of a 
reserved matters application. 

 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
 
76. Policy CP8 of the CS states that where development is likely to have an effect on 

the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA), it is required to 
demonstrate that adequate measures to avoid and mitigate any potential adverse 
effects are delivered. The subject property is located more than 5km of the TBH 
SPA and the trigger relates to any development of 50 dwellings or more. Given 
this threshold is not met, there are no perceived adverse effects and no objection 
is raised.  

 
Housing Affordability 
 
77. Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy, Policy TB05 of the MDD Local Plan and the 

Affordable Housing SPD specify an affordable housing rate of 30%, which equates 
to 11.4 units. 

 
78. The applicant has indicated an intention to meet the affordable housing obligations 

but via an off-site financial contribution in lieu of on-site provision. The Council’s 
Housing Policy Officer is not averse to this approach on the basis of the location 
and type of units proposed. The sum would be £714,701.34 index-linked, to be 
used on other affordable housing in the borough. This forms part of the section 
106 legal agreement.  

 
 
 
 
 

16577



Employment Skills 
 
79. Policy TB12 of the MDD Local Plan requires an employment skills plan (ESP) for 

major development to provide opportunities for training, apprenticeship or other 
vocational initiatives to develop local employability skills. The scale of the 
development triggers the major threshold. 

 
80. ESPs use the Construction Industry Training Board (CITB) benchmark based on 

the value of construction. This is calculated by multiplying the total floor space 
(approximately 3416m²) by £1025, which is the cost of construction per square 
metre as set out by Building Cost Information Service of RICS and the 
methodology as set out in the Council’s Employment and Skills Guidance. In this 
case, it totals £3,501,400. 
 

81. The ESP would require a total of three community skills support jobs and the 
creation of one job. If for any reason the applicant is unable to deliver the plan or 
elects to pay the contribution, the employment outcomes of the plan will be borne 
by the Council at a cost of £3,750. Measures to secure this arrangement form part 
of a section 106 legal agreement. 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
82. The application is liable for CIL payments but the obligations are calculated and 

applied at reserved matters stage. 

 

CONCLUSION 

83. Mulberry Business Park is currently undergoing change from business use 
(offices) to residential via the prior approval process in Class O, Part 3 of the 
GPDO. Upwards of 300 units are likely to be accommodated within the existing 
buildings on surrounding properties in the next three years. The subject 
application seeks to capitalise on this change of building use by establishing a 
new residential flat building on a vacant site. The principle of residential 
development is satisfactory on account of this change to residential. It will largely 
utilise the existing access arrangements such that the primary consideration of 
access is addressed. The design, form and siting of the building, as depicted on 
the outline plans, is such that it indicates that up to 38 units can satisfactorily 
accommodated on the site. On this basis, approval is recommended.   

 

16678



FILE REF: REV:
ITB15445 - Indicative Scale Bar

0m 250m 500m

Reproduced from ordnance survey by the permission of the controller of her majestys 
stationery office. Crown copyright. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

SORBUS HOUSE, WOKINGHAM
SITE LOCATION PLAN

TITLE:

FIGURE 1
FIGURE No:

Grove House, Lutyens Close, Chineham Court, 
Basingstoke, RG24 8AG

Tel: 01256 338 640
Fax: 01256 338 644

www.i-transport.co.uk

KEY

RAIL STATION
SITE BOUNDARY

79



0 10 20

SORBUS HOUSE

ILEX HOUSE

INDIGO HOUSE

THE MULBERRY

CENTRE

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Location plan and site photographs

1: 1000 076 OP 001 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Site also owned by client

Site location

View over site looking West

View looking South  along south access road

80



0 10 20

ILEX HOUSE

INDIGO HOUSE

SORBUS HOUSE

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Block plan - proposed

1: 500 076 OP 003 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Proposed new building

Site boundary

81



LIFT LIFT

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

UNIT G.01
GIA - 71.4m2

UNIT G.10
GIA - 71.40m2

UNIT G.02
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.03
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.04
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.09
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.08
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.07
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.06
GIA - 63.00m2

UNIT G.05
GIA - 71.80m2

ENTRANCE LOBBY

SHARED SURFACE

SHARED SURFACE

BICYCLE
STORAGE

BICYCLE
STORAGE

SHARED SURFACE

SHARED SURFACE

REFUSE

STAIR

0 5

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Site plan - proposed

1: 200 076 OP 005 E

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 09 10 11 12 13 14 15 16 17

22 23 25 26 27 28 29 30 31 32 33 34 35 36 37 38
39

40

41

42

5000mm

6000mm

1500mm

5000mm

1500mm

24

18 19

20 21

43
44

45

46

47

48

49

50

51

52

53

54

55

56

57

58

59

REV E - 23rd December 2019 :
entrance added to north elevation

82



LIFT LIFT

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

UNIT G.01
GIA - 71.4m2

UNIT G.10
GIA - 71.40m2

UNIT G.02
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.03
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.04
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.09
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.08
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.07
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT G.06
GIA - 63.00m2

UNIT G.05
GIA - 71.80m2

ENTRANCE LOBBY

SHARED SURFACE

SHARED SURFACE

BICYCLE
STORAGE

BICYCLE
STORAGE

SHARED SURFACE

SHARED SURFACE

REFUSE

STAIR

0 5

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Ground floor - proposed

1: 200 076 OP 010 E

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Parking bays

Planting

Private courtyard

Main entrance and
communal stair

Private courtyards

Main entrance

Parking bays

Parking bays

Pavement

Private courtyards

Main entrance and
communal stair

Pavement

Private courtyard

Main entrance

Parking bays

Green living wall to side
elevations

Green living wall to side
elevations

Planting

Pavement

Planting

Planting

REV E - 23rd December 2019 :
entrance added to north elevation

83



LIFT LIFT

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

UNIT 1.01
GIA - 71.4m2

UNIT 1.10
GIA - 71.40m2

UNIT 1.02
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 1.03
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 1.04
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 1.09
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 1.08
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 1.07
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 1.06
GIA - 63.00m2

UNIT 1.05
GIA - 71.80m2

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

First floor - proposed

1: 200 076 OP 011 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Green living wall to side
elevations

Private terrace

Communal stair

Private terrace

Communal stair

Communal stair

Private terrace

Green living wall to side
elevations

Private terrace

84



LIFT LIFT

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

UNIT 2.01
GIA - 71.4m2

UNIT 2.10
GIA - 71.40m2

UNIT 2.02
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 2.03
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 2.04
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 2.09
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 2.08
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 2.07
GIA - 69.50m2

UNIT 2.06
GIA - 63.00m2

UNIT 2.05
GIA - 71.80m2

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Second floor - proposed

1: 200 076 OP 012 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Green living wall to side
elevations

Private terrace

Communal stair

Private terrace

Communal stair

Private terrace

Communal stair

Green living wall to side
elevations

Private terrace

85



STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

UNIT 3.01
GIA - 73.2m2

UNIT 3.02
GIA - 52.50m2

UNIT 3.08
GIA - 52.50m2

UNIT 3.07
GIA - 52.50m2

UNIT 3.06
GIA - 52.50m2

UNIT 3.05
GIA - 73.20m2

STAIR

ENTRANCE LOBBY

UNIT 3.03
GIA - 52.50m2

UNIT 3.04
GIA - 52.50m2

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Third floor - proposed

1: 200 076 OP 013 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Private terrace

Communal stair

Private terrace

Communal stair

Private terrace

Private terrace

86



c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Roof plan - proposed

1: 200 076 OP 014 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

87



c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Elevations - proposed South and
North with artist impression

1: 200 076 OP 015 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Timber cladding

Tiled roof

Timber cladding

Private terrace

Brick facing

Timber cladding

Tiled roof

Timber cladding

Private terrace

Brick facing

SOUTH ELEVATION

NORTH ELEVATION

ARTIST IMPRESSION OF NORTH ELEVATION

88



0 10 20

SORBUS HOUSE

ILEX HOUSE

INDIGO HOUSE

THE MULBERRY

CENTRE

B

A

E

D

C

B

A

E

D

C

c    copyright Simon Mack Architecture Ltd 2019

Simon Mack Architecture

3 Walton Avenue, Henley on Thames, Oxfordshire, RG9 1LA

www.simonmackarchitecture.com

t +44 (0)14 9157 1475

Drawings title

Scale @ A3 Drawing No. Revision No.

Client

Project

RIBA stage

OUTLINE PLANNING APPLICATION

Elevations showing heights of
surrounding buildings

1: 300 076 OP 016 D

Mr Smith

Sorbus House
Mulberry Business Park
Wokingham, RG41 2GY

Feasability

Highest point of roof to proposed new
building 65.00

ridge 66.97
ridge 63.13

SECTION 1 - 1

SECTION 2 - 2

Section 1 - 1

Section 2 - 2

Building C

Building D
(behind C from this view

Building B (Ilex house)
behind this view

Building A (Indigo house)

ridge 63.82
ridge 64.14

Building E
Mulberry house

ridge 62.57

ridge 66.97

Building D

ridge 63.82

NOTE: sections do not take into
account change in ground level, this
drawing is to indicate surveyed soffit /
ridge heights

Highest point of roof to proposed new
building 65.00

ridge 63.13

MODEL OVERVIEW

Green living walls

Green living walls

89



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application Number Expiry Date Parish Ward 

200475 20 April 2020 Wokingham Wescott 

 

Applicant Mr A Williams 

Site Address Wokingham Family Golf, Finchampstead Road, Wokingham  
RG40 3HG 

Proposal  
(as amended) 

Application to vary conditions 2, 6 and 9 and remove conditions 3 and 
7 of planning consent 172979 for the full application for the proposed 
erection of a single storey extension to existing driving range building 
to provide catering/bar and toilet facilities, erection of covered bike 
store and alterations to existing parking layout. Condition 2 (approved 
details) is varied to include an enlarged southern terrace, new lighting 
and changes to the building, car park and cycle parking (retrospective); 
Condition 6 (landscaping) is varied to discharge landscaping details; 
Conditions 3 (drainage) and 7 (protection of trees during construction) 
are removed and Condition 9 (opening hours) is varied allow extended 
trading hours between 07:30 to 23:30 Mon to Sat and 08:00 to 22:30 
Sun and Bank Holidays and until 22:00 within external terrace areas, 7 
days a week between the months of April and September inclusive. 

Type Variation 

Officer Simon Taylor 

Reason for 
determination 
by committee 

Listed by Councillor Gee on the grounds of noise disturbance, 
urbanisation of the countryside, harm to wildlife from external lighting 
and light spill from car headlights 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Thursday 21 May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

The application site originally comprised an 18 hole golf course known as Woodcray 
Manor Golf Club. It now operates as Wokingham Family Golf, consisting of a 9 hole golf 
course, pitch and putt course, mini golf course, single storey driving range and adjacent 
club house with carpark. The current driving range building was approved in 2013 (ref: 
F/2013/1273). 
 
Planning permission 172979 then granted approval for a single storey extension to the 
driving range building comprising an office, toilet facilities, two separate dining and bar 
areas with two adjoining terraces, kitchen and back of house storage. The trading hours 
for the public bar areas, including the outdoor terraces, were limited to 7:30am-9pm, 
Monday to Friday and 8am-7pm on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank or National Holidays in 
Condition 9 of that permission, reflecting the approved hours of the floodlights and 
driving range. Works associated with 172929 are complete and the business was due to 
be trading were it not for the current lockdown.  
 
The public bar areas have since been issued with a premises licence allowing trade from 
8am–11.30pm Monday to Saturday and 8am-10:30pm on Sunday, with the sale of 
alcohol restricted to between 11am–11pm Monday to Saturday and 11am-10.30pm on 
Sunday. The subject variation seeks to amend Condition 9 to reflect these later evening 
hours.  
 

91

Agenda Item 116.



The site is in the countryside and well removed from the settlement edge. With the 
exception of the three immediately adjoining properties, the nearest residential 
properties are 300m to the west on Finchampstead Road.   
 
The application has been subject to two member objections and one resident objection, 
citing concerns of noise disturbance, urbanisation of the countryside, harm to wildlife 
from external lighting and light spill from car headlights. The proposal simply amends 
conditions on a previous consent and is acceptable on all of these aspects and there is 
no objection to the extended trading hours and Condition 9 is recommended to be 
amended accordingly. It is, however, subject to the additional restrictions relating to use 
of outdoor areas, external lighting and amplification and rubbish sorting and collection. 
These are detailed at Conditions 9, 14 and 15 respectively.  
 
Internal and external modifications to the building and its surrounds are retrospective 
and sufficiently minor in nature and there is no adverse impacts associated with these 
changes. Condition 2 is amended to reflect these changes. Landscaping details, as 
originally required to be discharged prior to the commencement of works, are 
satisfactory but further drainage details are required. Conditions 3, 6 and 7 have been 
amended accordingly. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Designated Countryside 

 Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (5km and 7km) 

 Access onto Nominated Green Route 

 Minerals consultation zone 

 Heathrow Aerodrome wind turbine safeguarding zone  

 Farnborough Aerodrome consultation zone 

 South East Water consultation zone 

 Flood Zone 1 

 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following conditions and informatives:  
 
Conditions 
 
The variation of Conditions 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, 9 and 10 as follows:  
 
1.   (deleted) 
 
2.   Approved details 
 

This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings 
numbered PP0010, PP0011, PE0010, PE0011 and PE0012, all dated April 2020 
and received by the local planning authority on 17 April 2020 and as amended by .  
The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
  

92



Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby 
approved.  

 
3.   Drainage details 
 

Prior to the first use of the clubhouse, details of the sustainable drainage scheme 
are to be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
These details are to include an assessment of the potential for disposing of surface 
water by means of a sustainable drainage system and the results of the 
assessment provided, including information about the design storm period and 
intensity, the method employed to delay and control the surface water discharged 
from the site and the measures taken to prevent pollution of the receiving 
groundwater and/or surface waters and a management and maintenance plan for 
the lifetime of the development. 

 
Reason: To prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.   
Relevant policy:  NPPF Section 10, Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC09 and CC10.  

 
6.   Landscaping 
 

All hard and soft landscape works shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details (ref: PP1013, dated April 2020) in the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the first use of the clubhouse. Any trees or plants which, within a 
period of five years after planting, are removed, die or become seriously damaged 
or defective, shall be replaced in the next planting season with others of species, 
size and number as originally approved and permanently retained.  

 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21.  

 
7.   (deleted) 
 
9.   Opening hours 
 

The internal public bar areas, hereby permitted, shall not operate other than 
between the hours of 7:30am and 11:30pm, Monday to Saturday and 8am to 
10:30pm on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.  
 
The external terrace to the south of the clubhouse, and any associated external 
lighting, shall not be used other than between the hours of 7:30am and 10pm daily. 
The gravel surfaced seating area to the north of the clubhouse shall not be used 
other than between the hours of 7:30am and 9pm, Monday to Friday and 8am to 
7pm on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank or National Holidays. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of nearby residents, wildlife and 
the area generally from noise and light spill. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06.  

 

93



10.   Delivery times 
 

No deliveries shall be taken in or dispatched from the site other than between the 
hours of 7:30am and 9pm, Monday to Friday and 8am to 7pm on Saturdays, 
Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.  
 
Reason: To safeguard residential amenities.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policies CC06 and TB20.  

 
The retention of Conditions 4, 5, 8 and 11-13 unchanged as follows: 
 
4.   Parking and turning space 
 

No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the 
vehicle parking and turning space has been provided in accordance with the 
approved plans. An additional accessible car space is to be provided immediately 
to the north of the proposed accessible space alongside the main entrance.  
 
The vehicle parking and turning space shall be retained and maintained in 
accordance with the approved details and the parking space shall remain available 
for the parking of vehicles at all times and the turning space shall not be used for 
any other purpose other than vehicle turning.  
 
Reason: To provide adequate off-street vehicle parking and turning space and to 
allow vehicles to enter and leave the site in a forward gear in the interests of road 
safety and convenience and providing a functional, accessible and safe 
development and in the interests of amenity.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP3 and CP6 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.  

 
5.   Cycle parking 
 

No building shall be occupied until secure and covered parking for cycles has been 
provided in accordance with the approved drawing(s)/details. The cycle parking/ 
storage shall be permanently so-retained for the parking of bicycles and used for 
no other purpose.  
 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are 
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 4 and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07.  

 
8.   External materials 
 

The colour and type of the timber to be used in the construction of the external 
surfaces of the extension hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to 
those used in the existing building unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority.  
 
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.  

94



 
11.   Bin store 
 

No building shall be occupied until the bin storage area/ facilities have been 
provided in full accordance with the approved details.  The bin storage area and 
facilities shall be permanently so-retained and used for no purpose other than the 
temporary storage of refuse and recyclable materials.  
 
Reason: In the interests of visual and neighbouring amenities and functional 
development.   
Relevant policy: Core Strategy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policy CC04.  

 
12.   Bin collection area 
 

No building shall be occupied until the collection area(s) for refuse and recyclable 
materials have been constructed in accordance with the approved details and 
plans.  The collection areas/ facilities shall be permanently retained in accordance 
with the approved details and used for no purpose other than the temporary 
storage of refuse and recyclable materials (on collection days only).  
 
Reason: To ensure the efficient collection of waste materials whilst avoiding 
highway obstruction and loss of visual amenity, in the interests of a functional 
development, the character of the area, highway safety and convenience and the 
quality of the pedestrian environment.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC04.  

 
13.   Removal of portaloos 
 
 The two existing portaloos shall be permanently removed from the site.  
 

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the countryside.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3, CP11 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan policies TB21.  

 
Conditions 15-17 are added: 
 
15.  External amplification 
 

Sound amplifying equipment associated with the operations of the clubhouse is not 
permitted. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of nearby residents from noise.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3and CP7 and 
Policies CC06 and TB23 of the Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy 
CC06. 

 
16. Rubbish sorting 
 

The sorting of any glass bottles into rubbish receptacles is limited to between the 
hours of 8am and 8pm on any given day.  

95



 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of nearby residents and the area 
generally from noise and disturbance.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06. 
 

17. Bike racks 
 

The clubhouse shall not be first used until secure bicycle parking for a minimum of 
five cycles (eg in the form of Sheffield stands) has been provided in the gravel 
seating area to the northern side of the main clubhouse entrance. The cycle 
parking shall be permanently so-retained for the parking of bicycles for the lifetime 
of the development, 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure customer bicycle parking facilities are 
provided in a convenient location so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes 
of travel.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 9 and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP6 
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 
 

Informatives 
 
1.   Changs made in this application 
 
 Condition 1 has been deleted because the development has been commenced. 

Conditions 3, 6 and 7 have been amended to reflect the submission of information 
enabling the approval of these details. Condition 9 allows for amended oeprating 
hours but imposes an additional restriction on outdoor areas. Conditions 15 and 16 
have been added to safeguard residential amenity.  

 
2.   Changes to the approved plans 
 

The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved 
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning 
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details.  Non-material 
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990.  

 
3.   Advertising signage 
 

This consent does not give any permission for the installation iof any advertising 
signage.  

 
4.   Discussion 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received 
and subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.  
 
 

96



5. License application 
 
 The additional trading in the morning period (ie from 7:30am instead of 8am) and 
 any changes to the licensed area of the clubhouse will be subject to a variation to 
 the approved license. Refer to https://publicprotectionpartnership.org.uk/licensing/
 alcohol-and-entertainment/premises-licence/. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

App No. Description Decision/Date 

DN/1996/0076 Demolition of farm shop and outbuilding Approved 13 June 1996 

RM/1996/63815 18 hole golf course, clubhouse and green 
keeping facility 

Approved 6 August 
1996 

A/1996/64777 Non-illuminated hoardings Refused 27 January 
1997 

F/1997/64983 Engineering, landscaping and mounding Approved 3 July 1997 

F/1999/70590 New clubhouse Approved 29 November 
1999 

TP/2001/3180 Temporary CoU of green keeping facility to 
one bedroom accommodation, pro shop 
and offices (retrospective) 

Refused 30 May 2001 

O/2003/0081 Construction of a clubhouse, pro shop, 
green keeping facility, driving range, 
football pitch and running track, tennis 
centre, outdoor court and car parking, three 
detached dwellings and 28 flats (outline) 

Refused 12 November 
2003 

A/04/1150159 Appeal against refusal of O/2003/0081 Dismissed on 22 March 
2003 

F/2003/0122 Redevelopment of 9 hole golf course, CoU 
of clubhouse to dwelling and provision of a 
nursery, car park and glasshouses 

Not proceeded with 

F/2013/1273 Golf Driving Range with roof mounted flood 
lighting and security access gate 

Approved on 26 
September 2013 

172979 Single storey extension to driving range 
building to provide catering/bar and 
alterations to existing parking layout 

Approved 24 November 
2017 

181557 Use of existing building as a self-contained 
residential dwelling house (CLE) 

Approved 10 September 
2018 

192566 Licensing application for Monday to 
Saturday 8am–11.30pm and Sunday 8am-
10.30pm (with sale of alcohol to between 
11am–11pm Monday to Saturday and 
11am-10.30pm Sundays) 

Issued 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

Existing floor space Internal: 420m2 
External: 120m2 (southern terrace) and 65m2 (northern 
terrace) 

Proposed floor space Internal: 390m2, inclusive of bin store 
External: 185m2 (southern terrace) and 300m2 (northern 
gravel seating area) 

Number of jobs Increased evening trade but no job figures provided 

97

https://publicprotectionpartnership.org.uk/licensing/%09alcohol-and-entertainment/premises-licence/
https://publicprotectionpartnership.org.uk/licensing/%09alcohol-and-entertainment/premises-licence/


Existing parking spaces 55 spaces (shortfall of nine spaces) 

Proposed parking spaces 83 spaces (increase of 28 spaces) 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

WBC Environmental 
Health 

No objection. 

WBC Ecology No objection to the proposed lighting. 

WBC Drainage The information submitted in support of the discharge of the 
drainage requirements is inadequate. 

WBC Trees and 
Landscaping 

No objection. The landscaping requirements are discharged and 
Condition 6 is amended and Condition 7 is removed. 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Wokingham Town 
Council 

No comments received. 

Ward Member Comments were also received from Councillor Maria Gee (ward 
member), who has listed the application for the following 
reasons: 
 

 Urbanisation of the countryside 

 Lack of consultation (all residents should be advised of the 
application) 

 Increased noise pollution 

 Headlight glare 

 Harm upon protected species and wildlife from external 
lighting  

 
Officer comments: The principle of the development is 
acceptable, and has been approved under the original consent 
as noted at paragraphs 8-11.  
 
Neighbour amenity issues (light and noise pollution) are 
discussed at paragraphs 23-27. It is concluded that there is no 
adverse harm and Condition 9 is recommended to be amended 
as proposed. Any alcohol related harm (in terms of public 
disorder) in excess of these neighbour amenity concerns is not a 
relevant planning consideration. 
 
Issues of any potential harm to wildlife are discussed at 
paragraph 36 where no objection is raised.  
 
Consultation was undertaken in excess of the requirements of 
the Statement of Community involvement, as detailed in the 
summary at the top of the report.  
 
Comments were received from Councillor Sarah Kerr (Evendons 
Ward) raising the following issues: 
 

 Alcohol related issues 

 Increased noise pollution 

 Light spill affecting the character of the countryside 

98



 Harm upon protected species and wildlife from external 
lighting 

Neighbours The original application was consulted to neighbours from 26 
February to 18 March 2020 and the revised application was 
consulted from 17 April to 9 May 2020. A site notice was 
installed at the entrance on Finchampstead Road from 23 April 
to 14 May 2020. 
 
One submission was received from 203b Finchampstead Road, 
Wokingham RG40 3HS. It raised the following concerns:  
 

 Unacceptable development of the countryside 

 Increased noise and light pollution, including from traffic 

 Harm upon protected species and wildlife from external 
lighting  

 
Officer comments: The clubhouse was approved in the original 
planning permission as it represented acceptable development 
in the countryside. The proposed modifications are acceptable 
and the principle of the development remains acceptable, 
including with respect to light and noise pollution on residents 
and wildlife. Refer to the assessment in the body of the report. 

 

APPLICANTS POINTS 

The rationale for the provision of the clubhouse extension was to create enhanced 
facilities for their customers and to generate a secondary income which would help the 
business to continue to grow and, importantly, to help sustain the business during the 
winter months when, as one would expect, the primary recreational facilities (save for 
the driving range) have significantly less use and generate a correspondingly reduced 
income. 
 
The opening hours permitted by the Premises Licence would allow this secondary 
stream of income to develop and allow for those who use the recreational facilities – 
individuals, groups and families alike - to remain at the site to have a drink and a meal 
and, in turn, would provide a focal point for associated local groups (e.g. FootGolf 
teams, Golf Societies etc) to meet and socialise even when they are not using the 
primary facilities. 
 
The clubhouse extension is located a comfortable distance from the nearest residential 
properties (to the north-west) with significant planting along common boundaries. In 
these circumstances, it is not considered that the use of the clubhouse for the hours 
proposed would materially harm the residential amenities enjoyed by the residents of 
these properties who, as noted above, did not object to the Premises Licence 
application. 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

NPPG National Planning Policy Guidance 

Core Strategy 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

CP3 General Principles for Development 

CP6 Managing Travel Demand 

CP7 Biodiversity 

99



CP8 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 

CP9 Scale and Location of Development Proposals 

CP11 Proposals Outside Development Limits 

Adopted Managing 
Development 
Delivery Local Plan 
2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

CC02 Development Limits 

CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping 

CC06 Noise 

CC07 Parking 

CC09 Development and Flood Risk 

CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

TB21 Landscape Character 

TB23 Biodiversity and Development 

Supplementary 
Planning 
Documents 

BDG Borough Design Guide 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

Description of Development  
 
1. The approved development (172979) involved a single storey extension to the 

western side of the existing driving range and clubhouse to enable the 
enlargement of the existing facilities for the golfing complex. It included an office, 
toilet facilities, two separate dining and bar areas with two adjoining terraces, 
kitchen and back of house storage as well as bin store and cycle store. The 
existing car parking was rearranged, with dedicated disabled parking and a 
delivery bay. The existing mini golf course was also relocated with associated 
landscaping. 

 
2. The application was subject to Condition 9 as follows: 
 

9. Opening hours 
 
 The public bar areas, including the outdoor terraces, hereby permitted, shall 

not operate other than between the hours of 7:30am and 9pm, Monday to 
Friday and 8am to 7pm on Saturdays, Sundays or Bank or National Holidays.  

 
 Reason: To safeguard residential amenities. Relevant policy: Core Strategy 

policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy 
CC06. 

 
3. The subject variation seeks to modify Condition 9 to align with the later trading 

hours of the recently issued premises license, being between the hours of 8am and 
11.30pm, Monday to Saturday and 8am-10:30pm on Sundays. The sale of alcohol 
is restricted to between 11am and 11pm on Monday to Saturday and 11am to 
10.30pm on Sunday. In addition, the external terrace is sought to remain open until 
22:00, 7 days a week between the months of April and September inclusive. 

 
4. The proposal also seeks retrospective approval for several design changes to the 

approved layout of the clubhouse and the car park, including: 
 

 Internal reconfiguration of the entrance foyer and toilets 

 Changes to fenestration and some external materials 

100



 Enlargement of the southern terrace with the provision of an artificial grass 
area 

 Deletion of the northern terrace area and its replacement with an enlarged 
gravel seating area with planter beds 

 Separation of the bin store to the west of the clubhouse building 

 Reconfiguration of the car park layout and its enlargement to the south with a 
net increase in parking spaces 

 Installation of external wall lighting 
 
5. The planning permission was also subject to Condition 3 (drainage details), 

Condition 6 (landscaping details) and Condition 7 (tree protection details), all of 
which were required prior to the commencement of the development works. These 
details were not submitted prior to the commencement of works but have been 
submitted as part of this application. The proposal therefore seeks to 
retrospectively discharge these requirements, with the conditions amended or 
deleted to suit. 

 
Description of Site 
 
6. The site comprises the Wokingham Family Golf complex, consisting of a 9 hole 

golf course, pitch and putt course, mini golf course, single storey driving range and 
adjacent club house with an expansive carpark immediately to the east. The club 
extension to its south, which forms the scope of the approved development, is 
nearing completion. The site is accessed via a driveway from Finchampstead Road 
that is shared with two other residential properties adjoining to the east. The site is 
within the countryside with the settlement edge 270m to the west.  

 
Principle of Development 
 
7. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour 

of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development 
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that 
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be 
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
8. The principle of the existing development in the countryside was first established 

as acceptable in F/2013/1273 in its conversion to include a golf driving range 
because it was converted into a more family friendly and diverse recreational 
facility and satisfied Policy CP11, which allows development that ‘…contributes 
and/or promotes recreation in, and enjoyment of, the countryside’. This conclusion 
was accepted in the original planning permission for the clubhouse extension 
because the additional floor area supported the continued viable operation of the 
golfing business, it was achieved without adverse encroachment of development 
and it also allowed for environmental improvement (improved landscaping and 
removal of cluttered paraphernalia). 
 

9. The variation to the trading hours in Condition 9 does not alter the conclusion that 
the development is acceptable in terms of Policy CP11. Whilst there are extended 
trading hours into the evening period, the clubhouse would remain as an ancillary 
part to the main golf club operations, which includes the golf course, pitch and putt, 
driving range and mini golf course.  
 

101



10. As part of the application, the trading hours of the clubhouse would extend beyond 
those of the driving range so it is anticipated that the clubhouse would be open to 
the general public not using the golf facilities or for private hire. However, by doing 
so, it is still secondary to the primary daytime use and operations of the clubhouse 
as part of the gold driving range.  

 
11. The extent of the physical changes to the building and those being discharged are 

also appropriate within the scope of a Section 73 application.  
 
Character of the Area 
 
12. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in 

terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and 
must be of high quality design. 

 
13. As part of the proposed reconfiguration of the building, there is a net reduction in 

footprint of 30m2 as well as various changes to fenestration and external surfaces 
and the reconfiguration of the bin and cycle stores. There is no significant 
departure from the scale and form of the built envelope of the approved buildings 
and the proposal retains a satisfactory relationship with the existing golf driving 
range and pro shop and its setting in the countryside. 
 

14. There is a 28 space increase in the area of the car park, mostly to its southern end 
alongside the clubhouse. It is complemented by additional landscaping through the 
centre of the car park, which offsets the minimal additional harm posed upon the 
countryside. The landscaping scheme proposed as part of the discharge of 
Condition 6 is also acceptable, with a net increase of 13 trees across the site. 
External lighting is limited to wall lighting, which is sympathetic to the character of 
the building and appropriate within the countryside, including its night time 
appearance. The application does not seek to alter any aspects of the lighting 
within the driving range.  

 
15. Whilst there would be additional vehicle and customer movements associated with 

the later trading hours of the clubhouse, it is not to the detriment of the character of 
the countryside setting and on this basis, no objection is raised. 

 
16. On the basis of the above, the proposal maintains an acceptable impression within 

the countryside and no objection is raised.  
 
Neighbour Amenities 
 
17. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity and Policy 

CC06 and Appendix 1 of the MDD Local Plan requires that development protect 
noise sensitive receptors from noise impact.  

 
18. The opening hours for the public bar areas, including the outdoor terraces, were 

approved as 7:30am-9pm Monday to Friday and 8am-7pm on Saturdays, Sundays 
or Bank or National Holidays. These were duplicated from the approved hours of 
the golf driving range to ensure consistency across the complex. 
 

19. The variation seeks to extend the hours of the clubhouse only to 11:30pm on 
Monday to Saturday and 10:30pm on Sundays, representing an additional 2.5 

102



hours on weekdays, 4.5 hours on Saturday and 3.5 hours on Sunday. These hours 
are intended to reflect those approved on the recently approved license and would 
allow for the business to operate more generally in a licensed club capacity. 
Additional clarity is also provided for the external terrace to the southern side of the 
clubhouse, being open during the summer until 10pm.  

 
20. There are three residential properties in the immediate vicinity of the golf club – 

The Fairways to the immediate west of the clubhouse and Woodcray Manor and 
Woodcray House, some 75m to the west. The Fairways is the original golf course 
club house and is currently lawfully occupied by the applicant as a residential 
dwelling. Woodcray Manor and Woodcray House are screened by a row of trees 
and formed part of the original farm buildings of Woodcray Manor Farm before its 
conversion into a golf course in the 1990s. 
 

21. It is then 300m from the established settlement edge on the eastern side of 
Finchampstead Road and 350m on the western side of Finchampstead Road 
where major (residential) development is located. This is illustrated below. 

 

 
 
22. The assessment of the original application offered the following assessment: 

 
The extension is designed to be inwardly facing, which would direct any noise 
away from the settlement boundary. Regardless, the existing business 
operates in a low intensity and satisfactory manner and it is sufficiently 
removed from residential properties to the east not to warrant concern. 

 
23. The variation represents an intensification of the existing operations of the 

clubhouse in the more sensitive evening period when background noise levels are 
traditionally lower. The enlarged southern terrace would also allow for increased 
external capacity throughout the day and up to 10pm at night.  

 
24. The Council’s Environmental Health Officer has reviewed the proposal and raises 

no objection to the application on these grounds, Because of its countryside 

Location of clubhouse 

103



location and separation distances to the residential receptors, there is no 
justification to oppose the changes to the opening hours. Noise will be mostly 
contained within the building, which is a new construction required to meet the 
appropriate insulation regulations.  
 

25. The variation sought to use the southern terrace until 10pm during the summer 
months of the year only. This is reasonable. But given the lesser likelihood of 
customers being outside during the winter months and to allow compliance with 
smoking legislation, the additional restriction was considered unnecessary. The 
gravel seating area to the north of the clubhouse is larger in size and open such 
that there is a possibility of increased noise during the evening, For this reason, 
Condition 9 maintains the approved opening hours to this area.   

 
26. Notwithstanding the above conclusions, it remains prudent to condition other 

external noise sources, including from amplification or public address systems and 
the sorting of glass and similar in rubbish receptacles in order to protect any long 
distance noise transmission in the evening or early morning period. These are 
conditioned at Conditions 14 and 15,  
 

27. The Council’s Environmental Licensing Officer has noted that the additional trading 
in the morning period (ie from 7:30am instead of 8am) and any additional licensed 
area would require a variation of the approved license. This is noted in Informative 
5. 

 
Light Spill 
 
28. The existing driving range (ref: F/2013/1273) comprises floodlights directed onto 

the eastern facing fairway. Subject to conditions relating to angle of orientation, 
degree of illumination and hours of use, no objection was raised at the time. The 
variation to the trading hours of the licensed area does not involve any change to 
the range operation and the proposed external lighting within the clubhouse is 
modestly designed and minimal relative to the floodlight of the driving range.  

 
29. There will be additional evening traffic movements and external lighting as a result 

of night time trading but given the aforementioned separation distances and 
against the backdrop of the golf range floodlighting, no objection is raised. Any 
perceived headlight glare from traffic at the intersection with Finchampstead Road 
is not unreasonable in the context of what would ordinarily be experienced on 
surrounding roads and at intersections and because of existing hedgerow to 
property boundaries, which provides adequate screening. 

 
Access and Movement  
 
30. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street 

parking standards. The original planning permission accepted that a car park of 55 
spaces (with a deficiency of nine spaces) was acceptable. The reconfiguration of 
the car park and its enlargement at the southern edge has resulted in a net 
increase of 28 car spaces (inclusive of an additional disabled car space). This 
results in a minor over provision with the parking standards.  

 
31. The enclosed cycle storage has been relocated from the northern side of the 

clubhouse to the western rear corner and enlarged by 12m2. Whilst the capacity is 

104



supported, its location is well removed from the main entrance to the clubhouse 
and is sited amongst the delivery bay and waste storage. It is likely to be 
underutilised because of its concealed location. To alleviate these concerns and 
recognising the edge of town location that is supportive of bike usage, Condition 17 
requires the addition of a bike rack for use by customers within the gravel seating 
area at the northern side of the clubhouse.  

 
32. The additional trading hours of the licensed area would allow for trading over an 

extended period which would, in theory, spread any parking demand across the 
entire day. Any additional traffic from functions and the like would also be 
reasonable as the later trading hours are outside of the normal peak traffic periods 
on Finchampstead Road.  
 

33. On this basis, the car park is considered to be suitable for accommodating the 
likely patronage and no objection is raised.  

 
Trees and Landscaping 
 
34. Conditions 6 and 7 of the original permission required the submission of 

landscaping and tree protection details. Both were required prior to the 
commencement of works but were never submitted. They were intended to ensure 
that there was a satisfactory landscape character for the countryside, through 
replacement planting and protection of existing features. 

 
35. This application seeks retrospective approval by submitting the relevant details and 

amending the conditions. The tree protection details are now irrelevant given the 
works have now been completed but there was no damage to or removal of 
important trees during the construction phase. The submitted landscaping details 
are to the satisfaction of the Council’s Trees Officer, with net increase of 13 trees 
across the complex compared to the previously approved scheme. Condition 6 is 
amended/discharged accordingly and Condition 7 is removed. 

 
Ecology 
 
36. There were no ecology related issues raised with the original planning application, 

partly because of the openness of the fairways of the golf club. Whilst the licensed 
area will trade later in the evening and some external wall lighting is included, the 
changes are not sufficient to warrant concern by the Council’s Ecology Officer, 
particularly as there is already approval for night time use of the driving range. The 
outdoor areas close earlier in the evening and are not intended to be used in winter 
months and the lighting is sympathetically designed and located not to project 
away from the building or impose any undue levels of spillage.  

 
Flooding and Drainage 
 
37. Condition 3 of the original permission required the submission of drainage details 

prior to the commencement of works but the drainage works were completed 
without formal approval. They were intended to ensure that there was a 
satisfactory drainage arrangement for the additional footprint of the building.  

 
38. This application seeks retrospective approval by amending the condition because 

the drainage has already been installed. The drainage works as submitted in this 

105



application are not to the satisfaction of the Council’s Drainage Officer because it 
does not address the specific details of Condition 3. However, a further review of 
the specific details are such that the extent of information is either unnecessary or 
unreasonable given that the works have already been completed and because of 
the limited nature of the footprint, the provision of permeable materials and the 
countryside location. This information will need to form part of a future discharge of 
details application.  

 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
 
39. The subject property is located within 5km of the TBH SPA but the scope of the 

works are minor whereby there will be no foreseeable impact upon the SPA. The 
proposal therefore remains acceptable in terms of Policy CP8.  

 
Waste Storage 
 
40. A bin store was approved to the rear of the kitchen, with approximate dimensions 

of 3.8m x 3.8m, which were sufficient for the likely waste and recycling generation 
from the bar area. The additional evening trading hours would include functions 
and similar events, which would bring about a likely increase in waste and 
recycling materials. However, the subject variation proposes a relocated bin store 
external to the building, which measures 4.1m x 5.8m. The increased capacity is 
acceptable with respect to Policy CC04.  

 
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 
 
41. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its 

obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected 
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. Level access is 
maintained through the clubhouse and there is no indication or evidence (including 
from consultation on the application) that persons with protected characteristics as 
identified by the Act have or will have different needs, experiences, issues and 
priorities in relation to this particular planning application and there would be no 
significant adverse impacts as a result of the development.  

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
42. The application is not liable for CIL payments because it is non-retail floorspace.   

 

CONCLUSION 

43. The site benefits from a relatively isolated location in the countryside and the 
proposed amended operating hours, as proposed, and with further restrictions in 
Conditions 9, 10, 15 and 16, represent a satisfactory outcome in terms of 
neighbour amenity, protection of wildlife and impression upon the character of the 
area (including its night time appearance). 

 
44. The remaining changes, being an increase in the area of the southern terrace and 

other internal and external changes as well as changes to discharge conditions, 
are also appropriate.  

 
 

106



Proposed new walls

DRAWING KEY:

Existing walls

A

PE1011

A

PE1011

Kitchen

Beer store

Office
Ball store

Female

Disabled

Male
Servery

Family dining/ bar

'Spike' Bar

Pro shop

Office

Driving Bays

Entrance

Parking

Terrace
(Paving)

Bar

EXISTING BUILDING

Deliveries

RAMP

Bin Store

RAMP

Planting to 
existing bank

Seating area
(gavel)

Planting 
bed Planting 

bed

Planting 
bed

Planting 
bed

Planting 
bed

Disabled

Disabled

Cycle Store

Paving

Gravel

Artificial 
Grass

0 10

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:200  @  A2

PROPOSED SITE PLAN

04/2020 LH

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF
CLUBHOUSE

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF

17103 - PP1010 -

PLANNING

107



600mm pipe
IL 56.97

5

58
.5

59

59

59.5

59
.5

59.5

60

60

60

60
.5

Existing 
Building 

Driving 
Range

Existing 
Building 

80x Parking Spaces
2x Disabled Parking spaces

Deliveries

Disabled

Disabled

Bin Store
Cycle Store

0 30

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:500  @  A3

PROPOSED ROOF PLAN

04/2020 LH

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF
CLUBHOUSE

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF

17103 - PP1011 -

PLANNING

1 : 500
Roof Plan

108



PROPOSED EXTENSION

PROPOSED EXTENSION

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

04/2020 LH

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF
CLUBHOUSE

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF

17103 - PE1010 -

PLANNING

NORTH ELEVATION

WEST ELEVATION

vertical timber 
fins

vertical timber 
cladding 

proposed wall 
lights

proposed wall 
light

109



PROPOSED EXTENSION

Entrance TerraceTerrace

PROPOSED EXTENSION

proposed 
wall lights

vertical timber cladding 

SOUTH ELEVATION

SECTION A-A

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford,  OX33  1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A2

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

04/2020 LH

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF
CLUBHOUSE

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF

17103 - PE1011 -

PLANNING

proposed wall lights 

110



Bins

Bikes

6000

42
00

0 5

NOTE:
ALL DIMENSIONS MUST BE CHECKED ON SITE AND NOT SCALED FROM 
THIS DRAWING.
FOR USE IN PRECISE NAMED LOCATION ONLY.  COPYRIGHT RESERVED.

project title

drawing title

client name

first issued drawn scale

job/drawing no/revision

status

revision date description

The  Studio, 70 Church  Road, Wheatley, Oxford, OX33 1LZ
01865 873936 info@andersonorr.com www.andersonorr.com

1:100  @  A3

PROPOSED BIN STORE

04/2020 LH

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF
CLUBHOUSE

WOKINGHAM FAMILY GOLF

17117 - PE1012 -

PLANNING

1 : 100
Ground Floor Plan

1 : 100
East Elevation

1 : 100
North Elevation

1 : 100
South Elevation

1 : 100
West Elevation

Vertical boarding to provide screening to 
the bin enclosure.

Timber framed encloser for bins. 
Structure to be roofless to provide 
natural ventilation.

Broxap Lightwood Cycle 
shelter or similar

Broxap Lightwood Cycle 
shelter or similar

Broxap Lightwood Cycle 
shelter or similar

111



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application Number Expiry Date Parish Ward 

200312 22 May 2020 Shinfield Shinfield South 

 

Applicant Mr Fleetwood 

Site Address Gravelly Bridge Farm, Grazeley Green Road, Grazeley RG7 1LG 

Proposal Full application for the temporary change of use of the agricultural 
land to soil and aggregate production with a single storey site office 
and bunds (retrospective) 

Type Full 

Officer Simon Taylor 

Reason for 
determination 
by committee 

Major application (waste development) 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Thursday 21 May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

The proposal seeks retrospective approval for the use of 0.27 hectares of agricultural 
land at the rear of existing buildings at Gravelly Bridge Farm near Grazeley for the 
sorting of mounds of soil and aggregate for reuse as soil in landscape garden projects 
and the stones/hardcore for drainage or driveways and patios. It also includes a bund 
along the western and northern boundaries and a small site office. The application seeks 
to formalise an unlawful use and seeks approval for a further three years.   
 
The application has not been the subject of any resident objections nor has it received 
any complaints from its past (unlawful) use. There was no in principle objection from 
Shinfield Parish Council and no interest raised by the ward member.  
 
Because it is an industrial use within the countryside, the proposal is contrary to Policy 
CP11 of the Core Strategy and it is located outside of the preferred areas for waste uses 
as identified in the previous Waste Local Plan for Berkshire and the draft Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan. However, there is a clear need for such a facility, limited locations 
where this use could satisfactorily be accommodated and it is broadly in accordance 
with the waste policies. The bund is a modest change to the landform and the site office 
is a temporary structure. Environmental enhancement is also proposed as part of 
additional tree screen planting around the perimeter of the site. On this basis, approval 
is recommended, subject to conditions specifying its three year temporary nature and 
the restoration of the land at the completion of this period (Condition 2), seeding of the 
bunds (Condition 3), limitations to the hours of use (Condition 4), limiting output to 
15,000 tonnes per annum (Condition 5) and prohibition of any external lighting, 
amplification or storage (Conditions 6 and 7).  

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Countryside 

 Within Grazeley Future Development Site 

 Safety Hazard Area – AWE Burghfield Nuclear Site (Outer Buffer Zone) 

 Nuclear consultation zone 

 Groundwater zone 3 

 Flood zones 2 and 3 

 Nitrate vulnerable zones (Surfacewater: Foundry Brook (West End Brook to M4)) 

113

Agenda Item 117.



 Grade 3a Agricultural land 

 Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area (7km zone) 

 Bat consultation zone 

 Public right of way (along western boundary) 

 Archaeological site (across western boundary) 

 Minerals consultation zone 

 Sand and gravel extraction consultation zone 

 Non-classified road 

 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following conditions and informatives: 
 
1) Approved details  
 

This permission is in respect of the development and use of the land for soil and 
aggregate production only (with a single storey site office and bunds), as shown on 
the plan numbered FGS-GBF-APP-01, dated January 2020 and received by the 
local planning authority on 6 February 2020, the plan numbered FGS-GBF-LAY-01 
Rev C, dated April 2020 and received on 30 April 2020 and the plan numbered 
FGS-GBF-BND-01 Rev A, dated April 2020 and received on 9 April 2020. 
 
The development shall be maintained in accordance with the approved details 
unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission 
and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried 
out in accordance with the application form and associated details hereby 
approved 

 
2) Temporary period and restoration details 

 
The use hereby permitted shall be discontinued and the land restored to its former 
condition on or before three years from the date of this planning permission. All 
buildings, bunds, mounds of waste or sorted aggregate, equipment and all other 
fixed and non-fixed items within the approved area hereby approved shall be 
removed from the land, and the land shall be restored to its condition before the 
development took place within 3 months of the conclusion of the temporary 
permission, in accordance with details on the approved plan numbered FGS-GBF-
LAY-02 and dated April 2020. 

 
Reason: To allow the local planning authority an opportunity to assess the long 
term effect of the use hereby permitted on the countryside. 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11 and Managing 
Development Delivery Local Plan Policy TB21.  

 
3) Landscaping and bunds  
 

The bunds, hereby approved, shall be reconstructed in accordance with the 
approved details and seeded with grass and wildflower within one month of this 
planning permission and maintained for the life of the development, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. In addition, the bund 

114



along the western boundary of the site shall be reconstructed so that it is graded 
back to ensure that the piling of soil is no more than 10mm within 8m of the second 
southernmost tree as depicted on the approved drawing FGS-GBF-LAY-01 Rev B. 

 
Additional tree planting shall be carried out in accordance with the details on the 
approved plan numbered FGS-GBF-LAY-01 Rev B in the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the occupation of the building(s). Any trees or plants which, 
within a period of three years from the date of the planting (or within a period of 
three years of the occupation of the buildings in the case of retained trees and 
shrubs) die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be 
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species or 
otherwise as approved in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason:  To ensure adequate planting in the interests of visual amenity.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery 
Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 

 
4) Hours of use (including operation of machinery) 
 

The waste sorting use hereby permitted shall not operate other than between the 
hours of 8am-5pm Monday to Friday and 8am–12 midday on Saturday and shall 
not operate at all on Sundays or Bank Holidays. 
 
Reason: To safeguard residential amenities.  
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan policy CC06. 

 
5) Maximum tonnage 
 

Soil screening within the site is limited to a maximum of 15,000 tonnes per annum. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of residents and minimise impacts upon traffic 
movements.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3, CP6 and 
CP11 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06. 

 
6) No external amplification or lighting 
 

No sound amplifying equipment or lighting shall be installed in the premises or 
affixed to any buildings on the site. 

 
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of residents from noise and light.  
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 15, Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC06. 

 
7) No external storage  
 

No plant, machinery, vehicles or equipment shall be stored on the site outside of 
buildings outside of the approved operating hours in Condition 4 except for any 
such items as shown on the approved drawings. 

 
Reason: In order to safeguard the visual amenities of the countryside. 

115



Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 and CP11. 
 
Informatives 
 
1) Changes to the approved plans 
 

The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved 
drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning 
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details.  Non-material 
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2) Protected species 
 

This permission does not convey or imply any approval or consent required under 
the Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981 for protected species.  The applicant is 
advised to contact Natural England with regard to any protected species that may 
be found on the site. 

 
3) Discussion 
 

The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining 
this application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, 
including planning policies and any representations that may have been received. 
This planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive 
discussions with the applicant in terms of extending the determination period of the 
application and amended plans being submitted by the applicant. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

App No. Description Decision/Date 

1260/1971 New dwelling house Refused 27 October 
1971 

39330  Change of use of buildings to light industrial 
(B1(c) and B2) (retrospective)  

Approved 14 October 
1992  

41266  Change of use of field to use as go-kart track 
and siting for portacabin  

Temp approved 13 
October 1993 

43649  Change of use of land for use as quad track  Temp approved 22 
March 1995 

44045  Change of use of agricultural building to class 
B1(c) industrial unit  

Approved 12 July 1995  

F/1997/65591 Change of use of outbuilding to residential 
(retrospective) 

Refused 3 August 
1998 

F/1998/68274 Use of buildings for business and leisure 
lettings 

Approved 20 
November 1998 

F/1999/69730 Formation of hardstanding (retrospective) Refused 12 
November 1999 

F/2000/2466 Formation of hardstanding for commercial 
vehicles (retrospective) 

Refused 8 January 
2001 

A/01/1058467 Appeal against refusal of F/2000/2466 Dismissed 31 May 
2001 

116



F/2006/9482 Change of use from agricultural to sui 
generis for Model flying Club (north of 
application site) 

Refused 1 February 
2007 

AG/2008/1262 Insertion of a farm track (prior approval) Refused 15 August 
2008 

F/2008/2379 CoU from quad bike track to training area 
for agricultural and construction equipment 

Withdrawn  

AG/2008/0630 Insertion of a farm track (prior approval) Refused 12 May 2008 

F/2010/1946 CoU of land from Class B1 to sui generis to 
operate a waste facility for the screening 
and crushing of inert waste, to produce 
secondary aggregate and screening of soil 
(north of application site) 

Not proceeded with 
23 September 2010 

F/2010/0662 Withdrawn 3 June 
2010 

F/2013/0644 
 

CoU from miscellaneous use and storage to 
transfer station for storage of inert 
secondary aggregate and soil (to the 
western side of the farm) 

Not determined 30 
July 2013 

A/13/2202216 Appeal against non-determination of 
F/2013/0644 

Withdrawn 22 
November 2013 

OFF/2015/0368 
 

Conversion of Class B1(a) offices to two 
dwellings (prior approval) 

Refused 9 April 2015 

151972 Conversion of existing offices (Use Class 
B1(a)) to 2 dwellings (Use Class C3) 

Refused 9 April 2015 

163218 Certificate of existing lawful development for 
the use of attached annex and part of 
existing outbuilding (within the curtilage of 
the Farmhouse) as two self-contained units 
containing four letting rooms 

Approved 31 January 
2017 

170407 Conversion of unit 9 to two x 1 bed 
dwellings and one x 2 bed dwellings (part 
retrospective). 

Refused 21 March 
2017 

173488 Conversion of unit 9 to two x 1 bed 
dwellings and one x 2 bed dwellings (part 
retrospective) with private amenity space 
and car parking 

Refused 7 February 
2018 

192651 Use of land for the parking of HGVs Approved 4 
December 2019 

RECENT ENFORCEMENT HISTORY 

RFS/ 
2018/084317 

Unauthorised works using field 
as transfer site 

No breach. Closed 17 April 2018 

RFS/ 
2019/085127 

Storage of HGVs Closed 19 February 2020 following 
submission of application 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

Site Area 0.4 hectares with 0.27 hectares operational area 

Previous land use Agriculture 

Current land use Class B2 (waste sorting) 

Previous floor space 0m2 

Current floor space 15m2 increase associated with office/mess room 

Job creation (current) 9 (2 administrators and 7 drivers/operators) 

Previous parking spaces Nil 

117



Proposed parking spaces Informal parking only 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

WBC Policy No objection, subject to further restoration details by condition.   
 
Officer comment: Restoration details have been provided in plan 
form and this forms part of Condition 2. The site will be returned to 
its original condition as a paddock.  

Waste and 
Minerals 

As there is an identified need for such a facility, no objection is 
raised, subject to tonnage limits (Condition 5).  

WBC Trees and 
Landscaping 

Following a reduction in the scale of the bund, no objection is raised.  
Potential harm to trees is also considered to be acceptable, as 
detailed in paragraphs 39-40. 

WBC Waste and 
Recycling 

Concerns are raised in relation to the justification for the need for 
this type of development and the potential for unlawful activities on 
the site in the future.  
 
Officer comment: Discussion at paragraphs 21-25 illustrates that the 
proposal responds to an identified need. Condition 1 also requires 
compliance with the approved use and any future unauthorised use 
would be subject to enforcement action.  

WBC Drainage No objection, subject to drainage and SuDS details by condition. 
 
Officer comment: The request for drainage details is considered 
unnecessary, as detailed in paragraph 53. 

WBC Rights of 
Way 

Shinfield Footpath 30 runs directly to the west of the site, but does 
not appear to be affected. 

WBC Env. Health No objection. 

WBC Ecology 

WBC Highways 

WBC Economic 
Prosperity 

No comments received.  

Environment 
Agency 

The business operates under a license issued by the Environment 
Agency and no objection was raised as part of the consultation 
process.  

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Shinfield Parish 
Council 

Activities should be limited to processing of local materials within 5 
miles.  
 
Officer comment: Given the modest nature of the activities, it is 
considered unnecessary and unjustified (and unenforceable) to 
impose this restriction.  

Ward Member No comments received. 

Neighbours 

 

APPLICANTS POINTS 

The use meets national targets for diverting waste from landfill, increasing the amount 
of waste recovered for re-use and recycling and meeting the wider objectives of 
sustainable waste management by managing waste close to the source of the arisings 
and markets for secondary aggregates. 

118



 
The surrounding land is being promoted for housing development. This application is for 
a temporary period of 3 years. This will allow the operator to monitor the operation 
against the proposed development in the wider area. 
 
The applicant employs 9 staff from the local area. This contributes to the local rural 
economy, providing an income to the farm owner. 
 
The proposed development meets sustainability criteria including: 
 

 Achieving a diversion rate of 100% from landfill disposal. 

 Serving the local needs to reduce vehicle movements. 

 Site has excellent access to main road network 

 There is a shortfall of sites suitable for manufacturing secondary aggregates 

 The site provides a small-scale contribution to local construction projects. 

 Reduce reliance on primary aggregates. 

 Ensure sustainable use of materials through the supply chain. 
 
The proposal is consistent with national, regional and local planning policy and will 
contribute to the sustainable development criteria of the NPPF. 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

NPPG National Planning Policy Guidance 

NPPW National Planning Policy for Waste 

Core Strategy 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

CP3 General Principles for Development 

CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

CP7 Biodiversity 

CP8 Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 

CP9  Scale and Location of Development Proposals 

CP11 Proposals Outside Development Limits 

CP15 Employment Development 

Managing 
Development 
Delivery Local Plan 
2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

CC02 Development Limits 

CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping 

CC06 Noise 

CC07 Parking 

CC09 Development and Flood Risk 

CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

TB04 Development in vicinity of Atomic Weapons 
Establishment (AWE), Burghfield 

TB20 Service Arrangements and Deliveries for 
Employment and Retail Use 

TB21 Landscape Character 

TB23 Biodiversity and Development 

TB25 Archaeology 

Waste Local Plan 
for Berkshire 
(WLPB) 

WLP1 Sustainable Development 

WLP16 Waste Management Development Outside Preferred 
Areas 

119



(saved policies) WLP27 Requirements for Acceptable Waste Management 
Development 

WLP28 Criteria for Exceptions to the Waste Management 
Strategy 

WLP29 Locations Where There is a Strong Presumption 
Against Waste Management Development 

WLP30 Assessment Criteria for Waste Management 
Development Proposals 

WLP31 Information to be Provided with an Application 

WLP33 Securing Environmental Improvements and Other 
Public Benefits 

Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan (MWLP) 
(draft only) 

M5 Supply of Recycled and Secondary Aggregates 

W1 Sustainable Waste Development Strategy 

W3 Waste Capacity Requirements 

W4 Locations and Sites for Waste Management 

DM1 Sustainable Development 

DM2 Climate Change – Mitigation and Adaption 

DM3 Protection of Habitats and Species 

DM5 Protection of the Countryside 

DM8 Restoration of Minerals and Waste Development 

DM9 Protecting Public Health, Safety and Amenity 

DM10 Water Environment and Flood Risk 

DM11 Sustainable Transport Movements 

DM12 High Quality Design of Minerals and Waste 
Development 

Borough Design 
Guide SPD (BDG) 

Section 7 Non-Residential 

Section 8 Rural and Settlement Edge 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

 
Description of Proposal 
 
1. The proposal seeks approval to use the land to the north of the existing 

commercial and industrial buildings and parking area at Gravelly Bridge Farm for 
the sorting and manufacture of soil and aggregates. It includes two site office 
structures on the western side of the site and a 1-1.5m high x 3m wide earth bund 
to the northern and western boundaries. Additional tree planting is also proposed. 

 
2. Incoming loads are deposited before being loaded into a screening plant to 

separate into separate mounds of soil and stones/hardcore. The soil is tested to 
the BS3882 for use in landscape garden projects and stones/hardcore for 
drainage projects, driveways and patios. The current Environmental Permit allows 
the site to process up to 75,000 tonnes per annum but the planning statement 
suggest that the site will manage approximately 10,000 tonnes per annum on a 
seasonal basis (generally March to September when weather conditions are more 
favourable). 

 
3. The application is retrospective, with the exception for a reduction in the scale of 

the bund, as amended. The planning statement suggests it has operated for about 
three years and the permission sought is temporary for three further years from 
the date of any planning permission. 

120



 
Description of Site  
 
4. The site is located on the northern side of Grazeley Green Road, 200m west of 

the intersection with Mereoak Lane and Bloomfield Hatch Lane. Fronting the road 
is a collection of mostly single storey agricultural buildings that once formed part of 
a much larger discontinued dairy farm and have since been converted for a variety 
of light industrial, commercial and other uses. A small area to the western side has 
lawful approval for the storage of HGVs, land to the immediate rear is used for the 
storage of a variety of materials and vehicles, mostly in a haphazard manner. The 
site to the east is the original farmhouse dwelling. The application site occupies an 
open field to the rear of these buildings and stored items and as the application is 
retrospective, is currently used for the storage of soil. Two cabins provide space 
for an office and mess room, which are positioned immediately alongside several 
shipping containers that are outside the red line site area.   

 
Principle of Development 
 
5. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour 

of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development 
Plan. Policy CC01 of the MDD Local Plan states that planning applications that 
accord with the policies in the Development Plan for Wokingham Borough will be 
approved without delay, unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 
Land use 
 
6. The Planning Statement suggests that soil screening on the site commenced in 

2009/10 but only to produce hard core for repairing farm tracks. This is about the 
same time as the submission of two planning applications in 2010 that were both 
undetermined (withdrawn and not proceeded with) that related to land further 
removed to the north of the subject site. A further application for the screening and 
crushing of inert waste from 2013 was also non-determined with a withdrawn 
appeal that related to a small parcel of land immediately to the west of the existing 
commercial buildings.  

 
7. The Planning Statement acknowledges the retrospective nature of the subject 

application and indicates that operations have been occurring for about three 
years and that temporary permission is sought for a further three years.  

 
8. The recent approval of a certificate for the parking of HGVs on land to the south of 

the red line site (application 192651) recognised that HGVs associated with 
Fleetwood Grab Services had been used for over 10 years but it did not reference 
anything associated with the subject application. 

 
9. Based on the above planning history, there is no lawful planning permission for 

the development, whether in this location of anywhere on the farmholding. 
However, an Environmental Permit allows the site to process up to 75,000 tonnes 
per annum in the area in question. This is a Standard Rules permit which sets an 
upper maximum limit but it is proposed that the site will manage approximately 
10,000 tonnes per annum with six in and six out HGV movements each day. 
Operations are curtailed to the warmer and drier months when soil can be kept 
dry.  

121



 
Waste development in the Countryside 
 
10. The site is located outside the settlement boundary and in the countryside. Policy 

CP11 of the Core Strategy does not normally permit development outside of 
development limits unless it can be considered as a sustainable rural or 
recreational enterprise, where it does not lead to excessive expansion away from 
the original building and is contained within a building suitable for conversion. The 
proposal involves an industrial use which does not strictly satisfy this requirement 
but Policy CP11 is not viewed as a blanket ban on any development.  

 
11. Policy CP15 of the Core Strategy expects the majority of employment needs to be 

met within development limits, particularly within defined Core Employment Area. 
There are certain uses (such as the subject application) that may be less suitable 
within traditional industrial estates and may be more suitably located in more rural 
areas. It is also likely that such businesses are driven to more rural locations 
because of competition for sites within settlement limits.  

 
12. Paragraph 83 of the NPPF also refers to the importance of enabling ‘the 

sustainable growth and expansion of all types of business in rural areas…’ and 
Paragraph 84) recognises that sites to meet local business and community needs 
in rural areas may have to be found adjacent to or beyond existing settlements. 
Paragraph 203 then highlights the importance of a sufficient supply of minerals, 
and the contribution that substitute, or secondary and recycled minerals waste can 
make to this supply. The NPPG contains a number of relevant paragraphs under 
the ‘Waste’ category, including the use unallocated sites and the demonstrable 
need for the facility.  

 
13. Movement of waste up the waste hierarchy is also one of the principle tenants of 

the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) where the focus is on reduction, 
then reuse and recycling. Paragraph 1 of the NPPW aims to allow communities to 
take more responsibility for their own waste (i.e. provide waste management 
facility locations close to the source of the waste and Paragraph 4 also allows for 
a consideration of a broad range of locations with priority to (amongst others) 
redundant agricultural buildings and their curtilages. 

 
14. Wokingham Borough, Bracknell Forest, Reading Borough and the Royal Borough 

of Windsor and Maidenhead are currently working to produce a Joint Minerals and 
Waste Plan which will guide minerals and waste decision-making in the area. The 
emerging plan is still at focused consultation stage but includes a requirement for 
further Minerals and Waste sites to be brought forward throughout the plan area.  

 
15. Instead, the Berkshire Waste Local Plan remains relevant, as adopted in 1998. In 

2007, the SoS instructed that a number of policies can be saved until such time as 
a new Waste Plan is adopted, including Chapter 7 (Policies WLP13), Chapter 8 
(Policies WLP16 to WLP21), Chapter 9 (Policies WLP23 to WLP25) and Chapter 
10 (Policy WLP34) which are intended to define those specific circumstances 
where waste management development may be acceptable outside the preferred 
areas identified in the adopted Plan. Chapter 10 (Policy WLP30) provides the 
basis for assessing proposals in all other circumstances. The Waste Plan also 
contains a number of retained policies namely WLP28, WLP29 and WLP30 where 

122



they relate to the specific circumstances where waste management development 
may be acceptable outside the preferred areas. 

 
16. The Direction from the Secretary of State included the following paragraph: 
 

“Following 27 September 2007, the extended policies should be read in 
context. Where policies were adopted some time ago, it is likely that material 
considerations, in particular the emergence of new national and regional 
policy and also new evidence, will be afforded considerable weight in 
decisions.” 

 
17. WLP16 of the Waste Local Plan identifies sixteen preferred areas for waste 

management development. The application site is not located within one of these 
areas but this does not preclude waste management activities. WLP28 also 
expresses a presumption against such development in this location but 
nevertheless provides circumstances for development to come forward as an 
exception, consistent with the NPPF. 

 
18. The form of waste management noted within the application is soil sorting, which 

involves removal of soil from construction sites and other localities and processing 
this waste product into soil and aggregates rather than this material being 
disposed of.  

 
19. The proposal therefore assists in minimising waste and allows for the husbanding 

of finite primary aggregate reserves by providing an alternative secondary 
aggregate source for use in the construction industry. It would continue to drive 
waste up the Waste Hierarchy as supported by the NPPG, the NPPF and NPPW 
and in accordance with WLP1 of the Waste Local Plan in terms of being 
sustainable development. 
 

20. Whilst it is strictly contrary to WLP16 BD WLP28, there are several drivers in 
focusing waste development in this location and outside of the preferred areas, 
including sensitivity to residential noise receptors and availability of land within 
preferred areas, as recognised in paragraph 84 of the NPPF.  

 
21. Part (i) of WLP28 requires consideration of whether there is a ‘need to develop 

land outside the Preferred Areas or other areas defined in the above policies in 
order to meet the need for waste management facilities as defined by the Plan’. 
 

22. The Planning Statement accompanying the planning application states that there 
is a need because the Waste Background Report to the Central and Eastern 
Berkshire Joint Minerals and Waste Draft Plan dated June 2018 confirms that 
there is currently no permanent capacity in Wokingham for inert waste treatment 
(and only 18,5000 tonnes per annum capacity within Reading), and 617,992 
tonnes per annum capacity of inert construction, demolition and excavation waste 
will continue to be produced throughout the plan period. 
 

23. There is no dispute with these figures. It is further noted that Annex 4 to the Waste 
Background Report states that the treatment capacity relied upon is essentially 
recovery of the material through landfill/mineral working restoration (lower down 
the hierarchy than the subject application). The permanent treatment capacity 

123



(similar to the subject application) is identified as 242,659 tonnes per annum 
throughout the Plan period (about 36% of the total arisings).  
 

24. The Waste Background Report also states that aggregate recycling (being the 
subject application) as considered in the Mineral Background Study shows no 
permitted sites carrying out aggregate recycling in Wokingham, and that the 
estimated capacity across the Plan area could be in the region of 10-50,000 
tonnes per annum. It also states that the information is not entirely reliable or 
comprehensive so the level of need is uncertain but in line with the NPPF, sites 
contributing to recycling should be encouraged ahead of other sites.  
 

25. There is clearly an identified need for the development as required by criterion (i). 
By extension, it also accords with criteria (ii) in terms of whether ‘the need could 
be more acceptably met elsewhere than on the application site’, as identified in 
paragraph 20. It would also satisfy criteria (iii) as it would ‘overcome or 
accommodate all constraints deriving from the considerations set out in Policies 
WLP27 and WLP29 to WLP33’, these being other material planning 
considerations as outlined elsewhere in this report. 

 
26. Because of this identified need, as the permission is temporary for three years 

(Condition 2), as the site has been in operation for a number of years without 
neighbour impact or complaint, and as the temporary permission would continue 
to support aggregate production in the borough consistent with the majority of the 
above policies, the principle of the development in this location is supported. This 
is confirmed in the advice received from the Council’s Policy Officer and Waste 
and Minerals consultant, both of which form the basis of the assessment in the 
paragraphs above.  
 

27. However, it is also subject to conditions relating to requirements for site 
restoration and bund management and additional tree planting for the life of the 
development in Conditions 2 and 3. Condition 4 also controls the hours of use and 
Condition 5 limits the output of soil screening to 15,000 tonnes per annum. The 
latter is considered necessary to protect the character of the area against any 
unreasonable expansion or further encroachment into the countryside (see 
paragraphs 32-36), maintain neighbour amenity (paragraphs 43-45) and ensure a 
continued well managed traffic impact (paragraph 47). This is 5,000 tonnes higher 
than the figure of 10,000 tonnes per annum quoted in the Planning Statement but 
is appropriate to allow a degree of business expansion if this occurs and 
correlates sufficiently with the anticipated upper limit of daily vehicle movements.  

 
Character of the Area 
 
28. Paragraph 170(b) of the NPPF requires that planning applications enhance the 

natural and local environment by ‘recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of 
the countryside, and the wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem 
services – including the economic and other benefits of the best and most 
versatile agricultural land, and of trees and woodland.’ 

 
29. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in 

terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and 
must be of high quality design. RD1, NR1 and NR2 of the Borough Design Guide 
SPD requires that development contribute positively towards and be compatible 

124



with the historic or underlying character and quality of the local area. More 
specifically, NR12 requires consideration of boundary treatments. 
 

30. Landscape-wise, Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green 
infrastructure networks, retain existing trees and establish appropriate landscaping 
and Policy TB21 requires consideration of the landscape character.  

 
31. The site is located in the countryside in Wokingham District Landscape Character 

Area I3 ‘Grazeley Farmed Clay Lowland’ it is a landscape of moderate character, 
condition and sensitivity. Key characteristics include open large-scale irregular 
fields divided by a mixture of post and wire fences, discontinuous hedgerows and 
drainage ditches and with remnant lines of mature oaks marking former field 
boundaries as well as mixed pastoral and arable farmland. The most sensitive 
characteristics are the pattern of ancient hedgerows, mature oaks, wayside 
commons and rural lanes, the ancient woodlands, old barns and buildings and 
rural qualities.  
 

32. Prior to the unlawful commencement of the use, the site comprised open farmland 
located to the north of a collection of existing buildings in commercial/industrial 
use. It also included an expanse of externally stored items such as shipping 
containers, HGVs and other paraphernalia that has gradually encroached away 
from the immediate curtilage of the buildings to the south, giving an unmanaged 
and unkempt appearance to an area of approximately 0.8 hectares. Whilst outside 
of the red line site boundary, it has caused a degree of disorderly impact upon the 
immediate character of the countryside. 
 

33. The subject application seeks approval for a screening facility, three separate 
mounds of material, associated heavy equipment (usually only one HGV at a 
time), a 1-1.5m high soil bund (for a length of 63m) and two small office cabins. 
This occurs across a 0.27 hectare area of land, extending a further 56m further 
north from what generally forms the northern extent of the encroachment. As a 
result, there will be a minor degree of adverse impact upon the character and 
quality of the countryside. 
 

34. The bunds along the western and northern boundary are intended to partially 
screen the operations without creating a foreign element within the countryside. 
They currently extend to a height of about 3m height x 5m width but will be 
reduced to 1-1.5m height x 3m width as part of revised details. This ensures an 
appropriate balance between screening the development and maintaining the 
existing form of the paddocks. It also limits any further expansion of uses away 
from the original buildings and the bunds themselves will be seeded with grass 
and wildflower to complement the existing grassed paddocks elsewhere on the 
farm (see Condition 3). On that aspect, WLP33 of the Waste Local Plan 
recognises the opportunity to seek environmental improvements and other public 
benefits both on the site and in the surrounding area. This is also by additional 
tree planting to the perimeter of the red line site as identified on the approved site 
plan identified in Condition 1 and as required in Condition 3. At a minimum, these 
trees are required for life of the temporary permission but there should be no 
reason for the trees to be maintained beyond the temporary permission.  
 

35. It is also worth recognising that the use is temporary for three years and Condition 
2 requires the restoration of the land to its original condition at the end of this 

125



period. Furthermore, Condition 7 also prohibits the storage of any items on the 
land outside of business hours.  
 

36. Whilst there is an identified degree of harm to the character of the area, the extent 
of encroachment away from the original buildings is not excessive and it is not 
permanent and readily reversible (none of the structures or machinery used is 
fixed to the ground and the bunds are made of soil only). As such, the benefits 
arising from providing a waste facility with an identified need outweighs the harm 
posed to the countryside, as conditioned, and no objection is raised on character 
grounds. 

 
Landscaping and Trees 
 
37. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks, 

promote linkages between public open space and the countryside, retain existing 
trees and establish appropriate landscaping. 

 
38. One of the key qualities of this landscape is its open character and far reaching 

views. More locally, this consists of mature native trees, including Oaks, along the 
western edge of the site, in close proximity of the proposed bund.  
 

39. There are 14 trees of varying height in close proximity to the western bund. 11 of 
the trees are located within a 2-2.5m deep drainage culvert or on its western or 
opposite bank with three trees of varying height and breadth on the eastern side of 
the culvert on the same side as the bund. 

 
40. As amended to a width of 3m, the bund would be just outside or up to the root 

protection area of all of the trees, with the exception of one tree where the bund 
encroaches 1m inside the root protection area. The Council’s Trees Officer raises 
no objection to the proposal subject to Condition 3 requiring that any soil within 8m 
of this tree being graded back to ensure that the piling of soil is no more than 
10mm. In doing so, no objection is raised on landscaping grounds. 

 
Archaeology 
 
41. Policy TB25 of the MDD Local Plan requires the retention of archaeological sites 

in situ. The site is 50m to the east of a potential archaeological site. Given the 
adequate separation from the site and as the proposal involves the storage of soil 
rather than its digging up and/or removal, there are no archaeological implications 
with the proposal.  

 
Residential Amenities 
 
42. Policy CC06 and Appendix 1 of the MDD Local Plan requires that development 

protect noise sensitive receptors from noise impact. The site is located in a rural 
setting, with Gravelly Farmhouse (85m to the south east) and Pump House (225m 
to the north west) being the closest residential receivers.  

 
43. The operating hours are stated as 8am to 5pm Monday to Friday and 8am to 

midday on Saturday, with no operations on Sundays or Bank Holidays. These are 
consistent with normal business hours and are entirely appropriate from a 

126



residential amenity perspective. These hours are outlined in Condition 4 to ensure 
no further intrusion through expanded hours.  
 

44. The Planning Statement refers to the sorting operations being limited to 10,000 
tonnes per annum, which remains modest, both in terms of HGV movements and 
sorting operations. To ensure it remains modest and does not lead to any undue 
noise concerns, Condition 5 limits the output to 15,000 tonnes per annum.  
 

45. With the normal business hours of use and the adequate separation to 
neighbouring properties, it is not envisaged that the proposal would result in 
undue noise disturbance to surrounding properties. Moreover, the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer has not objected on these grounds, noting that there 
have been no recorded complaints from its existing operations.  

 
Access and Movement  
 
Parking 
 
46. Policy CC07 and Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan stipulates minimum off street 

car and cycle parking standards although the parking requirement is of little 
relevance to this application given that the proposal relates to an open site with a 
15m2 site office.  Nonetheless, there are two existing site workers and seven 
drivers and staff parking for nine vehicles can easily be accommodated in an ad 
hoc manner across the site without impacting upon the surrounding area or 
existing operations. Furthermore, the adjoining land to the south has a certificate 
of lawfulness for the parking of HGVs (application 192651) and is within the 
ownership of the same applicant. The operators of the plant are also HGV drivers 
and already park within the HGV parking area before operating the HGVs. The 
Council’s Highways Officer is satisfied with this arrangement and there is no 
requirement for a formal parking plan and on this basis, no objection is raised. 
Given the site location and the type of activity, it is also felt that allocated cycle 
parking is unnecessary.  

 
Access and Traffic 
 
47. Access is via the existing access onto Grazeley Green Road, which is of sufficient 

width with adequate sightlines at the entrance for the formalisation of additional 
HGV movements to and from the site. The maximum number of daily HGV 
movements is specified as 12 (6 in and 6 out) and the capacity of the screening 
facility would not generally allow any more movements than this nor is it likely to 
result in any backlog of HGVs within the site and certainly not within surrounding 
roads. This would be reinforced by Condition 5 relating to the maximum output to 
15,000 tonnes, which correlates sufficiently with the capacity that would be 
generated by six daily HGV movements with a maximum load of 15 tonnes each 
within a seasonal operation (7.5 months) across the calendar year. It would also 
be within the scope of the Operating Licence and does not raise concern with the 
Council’s Highways Officer. Given the application is retrospective and application 
192651 has already granted approval for the storage of HGVs, Grazeley Green 
Road is already accommodating these movements such that no objection is 
raised. 

 
Sustainability 

127



 
48. Policies CP1, CP6, CP9 and CP11 of the Core Strategy permit development 

where it is based on sustainable credentials in terms of access to local facilities 
and services and the promotion of sustainable transport. 

 
49. The site is not sustainably located, with the nearest facilities at Three Mile Cross, 

which is 1.5km as the crow flies or 2.3km by road to the east. This would ordinarily 
result in increased dependence upon car usage. However, the business is located 
amongst 12 other business units, the business is more appropriately located away 
from built up areas given the sensitive nature of the use and available land in a 
more sustainable location is unlikely to be available because of competition from 
more profitable competing land uses. The business also involves the 
transportation of soil, which relies upon movement of heavy vehicles. On the basis 
of the above justification, no objection is raised ion sustainability grounds.  

 
Ecology 
 
50. Policy TB23 of the MDD Local Plan requires the incorporation of new biodiversity 

features, buffers between habitats and species of importance and integration with 
the wider green infrastructure network. The site comprises a plot of agricultural 
land of bare earth, hardstanding and grassland, all of low ecological value. As 
noted in paragraphs 39 and 40, a row of trees along the western boundary will be 
unaffected. As such, the site is unlikely to be used by protected species, including 
foraging and commuting bats and nesting birds and with no artificial lighting, 
protected species and priority habitats are unlikely to be affected and there are no 
objections on ecological grounds.  

 
Waste Storage 
 
51. The proposal specialises in the transfer and sorting of soil and gravel/hardcore. As 

such, there is no requirement for separate waste storage although the existing 
office space is sufficient to deal with waste generation from staff members.   

 
Flooding and Drainage 
 
52. Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from 

historic flooding. The site is located within Flood Zone 1 and the proposal 
represents low vulnerability. However, access is via the existing driveway to 
Grazeley Green Road, which is within Flood Zones 2 and 3. A Flood Risk 
Assessment was submitted with the application which noted that the access is 
existing and there is no proposal to alter the levels within the driveway. Moreover, 
there is already permission for the storage and movement of HGVs along the 
driveway and the operation is limited to periods of warmer and drier weather so as 
to prevent soil becoming muddy. As such, there is no realistic flood risk with 
relying upon access through Flood Zones 2 and 3. On this basis, and with the 
Council’s Drainage Officer raising no objection, the proposal is acceptable in 
terms of Policy CC09. 

 
53. Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and 

the minimisation of surface water flow. The Council’s Drainage Officer requested 
additional drainage details. However, as the proposal is retrospective and 

128



predominantly relates to the storage of soil, it does not pose any long term issue in 
terms of on-site infiltration and is acceptable in terms of Policy CC10.  

 
Environmental Health 
 
54. The site is not listed as potentially contaminated and the retrospective proposal 

involves the screening of existing soil, often from household sites. It does not 
include contaminated soil. As such, no objection is raised on contamination 
grounds.  

 
55. Any other potential environmental impacts, including noise levels and dust 

prevention, are covered by the environmental permit that is already issued by the 
Environment Agency. 

 
Atomic Weapons Location 
 
56. Policy TB04 of the MDD allows development in the vicinity of the Atomic Weapons 

Establishment at Burghfield but only where the increase in density can be safely 
accommodated. The site is within the outer zone, which is 3-5km from the 
establishment. Policy TB04 states that further details are required where more 
than 500 people can be accommodated on the site. The business operates with a 
total of nine staff, which is comfortably below the 500 person threshold. As such, 
no further issue is raised.   

 
Community Infrastructure Levy 
 
57. The application is not liable for CIL payments because it relates to a commercial 

operation of less than 100m2 in floorspace. 
 
Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area 
 
58. Policy CP8 of the Core Strategy states that where development is likely to have an 

effect on the Thames Basin Heaths Special Protection Area (TBH SPA), it is 
required to demonstrate that adequate measures to avoid and mitigate any 
potential adverse effects are delivered. The subject property is located within 5km 
of the TBH SPA but the scope of the works are minor whereby there will be no 
foreseeable impact upon the SPA. The proposal is therefore acceptable in terms 
of Policy CP8.  

 
The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 
 
59. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its 

obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected 
characteristics include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and 
civil partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no 
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that persons 
with protected characteristics as identified by the Act have or will have different 
needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular planning 
application and there would be no significant adverse impacts as a result of the 
development. 

 

CONCLUSION 

129



60. On the basis of the permission being sought being temporary and when subject to 
Conditions 2-5, the limited harm posed to the character of the countryside is 
outweighed by the fact that the retrospective proposal addresses an identified 
need for waste storage in a manner that is supported by national and local policy.    

 

130



Gravelly Bridge Farm

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

Ordnance Survey, (c) Crown Copyright 2019. All rights reserved. Licence number 100022432

GRAZELEY GREEN ROAD

T
ra

ck
DRAWING  PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:

SCALE 

DATE

DRAWING NO.

DRAWING STATUS

CLIENT REV.

CHECKED:

FGS-GBF-APP-01 REV

STATUS
ARC

CHECKED

JAN2020

1:500@A3

BELL HOUSE, 32 BELL
STREET, ROMSEY
SOUTHAMPTON,

SO51 8GW
TEL: 02380 737 983          EMAIL: ukinfo@integrated-skills.com

(www.integrated-skills.com)

GRAVELLY BRIDGE FARM
Planning Application

Boundary
FLEETWOOD GRAB
SERVICES LIMITED

KEY:
APPLICATION BOUNDARY

OTHER LAND IN CONTROL
OF APPLICANT

131



Stones

Processed
Soils

Incoming
Soils Screener

 B
un

d

 Bund

O
ffi

ce

A
A'

A A'

1
m

3m

NOTES:

Bund to be
seeded with
wildflower mix

Indicative position
of existing trees
shown. The tree
canopy has been
estimated using
aerial
photographs

Proposed Tree
Planting Position
(Native Trees)

DRAWING  PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:

SCALE 

DATE

DRAWING NO.

DRAWING STATUS

CLIENT REV.

CHECKED:

FGS-GBF-LAY-01 C

STATUS
ARC

CHECKED

APRIL2020

1:250@A3

BELL HOUSE, 32 BELL
STREET, ROMSEY
SOUTHAMPTON,

SO51 8GW
TEL: 02380 737 983          EMAIL: ukinfo@integrated-skills.com

(www.integrated-skills.com)

GRAVELLY FARM
Planning Application

 OPERATIONAL LAYOUT
FLEETWOOD GRAB
SERVICES LIMITED

132



Western Elevation

Eastern Elevation

Southern Elevation

Northern Elevation

1m

1m

23m

23m

43m

1.5m

1m

43m

1.5m

1m

DRAWING  PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:

SCALE 

DATE

DRAWING NO.

DRAWING STATUS

CLIENT REV.

CHECKED:

FGS-GBF-BND-01 A

STATUS
ARC

CHECKED

APRIL2020

ASSHOWN

BELL HOUSE, 32 BELL
STREET, ROMSEY
SOUTHAMPTON,

SO51 8GW
TEL: 02380 737 983          EMAIL: ukinfo@integrated-skills.com

(www.integrated-skills.com)

GRAVELLY FARM BUND ELEVATION
FLEETWOOD GRAB
SERVICES LIMITED

133



Stones

Processed
Soils

Incoming
Soils Screener

Gravelly Bridge Farm

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

GRAZELEY GREEN ROAD

 B
u

nd

 Bund

O
ffi

ce

A
A'

Gravelly Bridge Farm

P
at

h 
(u

m
)

GRAZELEY GREEN ROAD

OPERATIONAL PHASE REINSTATEMENT

All plant, machinery, stockpiles,
bunds, offices associated with
the development to be removed
from this area.

DRAWING  PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:

SCALE 

DATE

DRAWING NO.

DRAWING STATUS

CLIENT REV.

CHECKED:

FGS-GBF-LAY-02 -

STATUS
ARC

CHECKED

APRIL2020

1:1000@A3

BELL HOUSE, 32 BELL
STREET, ROMSEY
SOUTHAMPTON,

SO51 8GW
TEL: 02380 737 983          EMAIL: ukinfo@integrated-skills.com

(www.integrated-skills.com)

GRAVELLY FARM
Planning Application

 REINSTATEMENT PLAN
FLEETWOOD GRAB
SERVICES LIMITED

134



PLANNING REF     : 200312                                                       
PROPERTY ADDRESS : Shinfield Parish Hall                                        
                 : School Green, Shinfield, Wokingham                           
                 : RG2 9EH                                                      
SUBMITTED BY     : Shinfield Parish Council                                     
DATE SUBMITTED   : 06/03/2020                                                   
                                                                                
COMMENTS:                                                                       
The application states that it is preparation for the Grazeley
                 
development however there is no such thing at present therefore SPC would       
require that activities are limited to processing of local materials within 5   
miles.                                                                          

135



This page is intentionally left blank



Application 
Number 

Expiry Date Parish Ward 

193248 01st June 2020 Shinfield Shinfield South; 

 

Applicant Southern Electric Power Distribution 

Site Address Land North of Church Lane, Church Lane, Three Mile Cross 

Proposal Full application for the proposed erection of a temporary 
compound to facilitate infrastructure works, including 
hardstanding, parking, fencing and gates, cabins and storage 
units. (Part retrospective) 

Type Full 

PS Category 21 

Officer Brian O'Donovan 

Reason for 
determination by 
committee 

Major application 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Thursday, 21 May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

The application is before Committee as the application site measures an area of 1.6 
hectares and therefore is within the Major Application site area threshold. 
 
The application for the change of use for the proposed erection of a temporary 
compound to facilitate essential infrastructure works, including hardstanding, parking, 
fencing and gates, cabins and storage units is considered to be acceptable as it would 
not have an unacceptable long term impact upon the character and environment of the 
countryside due to its temporary nature. The proposal would not have a detrimental 
impact upon the objectives of the South of the M4 Strategic Development Location.  It 
has also been demonstrated that the development would not have a detrimental impact 
upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, upon highway safety and parking provision 
or upon trees and landscape. It is therefore recommended that this application is 
approved. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Countryside location 

 Strategic Development Location (South of M4) 

 Wind turbine safeguarding zone 

 Landscape Character Assessment 

 Special Protection Area – 5 and 7 km 

 Groundwater protection zone 

 Nuclear consultation zone 

 Bat Roost Habitat Suitability 

 Overhead Electricity Cable Consultation Zone 

 Contaminated land consultation zone 

 
 
 
 
 

137

Agenda Item 118.



RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following:  
 
Conditions and informative: 

A. Conditions and informative: 
 

1.      Temporary Use Period 
The use hereby permitted shall be discontinued within 24 months of the date of this 
planning permission in accordance with a scheme of work that shall have first been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The land shall be 
restored to its former condition within 6 months of the cessation of the use hereby 
approved. 
 
Reason: To ensure the maintenance of the long term quality of the countryside 
environment. Relevant policy: Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3 and CP11. 
 
2.     Personal Permission  
The temporary use hereby permitted shall be carried on only by Southern Electric 
Power Distribution (or any such successor organisation that may occupy the compound 
similarly for the provision of essential electrical supply infrastructure), unless otherwise 
agreed in writing with the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: In granting this permission the local planning authority has had regard to the 
special circumstances of the case, being the need to ensure the provision of essential 
infrastructure supply and maintenance. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policies CP1. 
 
3. Approved Plans 
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings numbered 
19.1_A, 20.1_A, 21.1_A, 21.2, 21.2, 21.3, 21.4, 22.1, 23.1 and 24.1 received by the 
local planning authority on 13/01/2020. The development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local 
planning authority. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved. 
 
4.       Visibility Splays 
Within 12 weeks of the date of this decision there shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority, details of the proposed vehicular access to 
include visibility splays of 120 x 2.4m. The access shall be formed as so-approved and 
the visibility splays shall be cleared of any obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in height 
prior to the occupation of the development. The access shall be retained in accordance 
with the approved details and used for no other purpose and the land within the visibility 
splays shall be maintained clear of any visual obstruction exceeding 0.6 metres in 
height at all times. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core 
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6. 
 
 
 

138



5.      Cycle Parking 
Within 12 weeks of the date of this decision details of secure and covered bicycle and 
motor bicycle storage/ parking facilities for the occupants of [and visitors to] the 
development shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. The cycle and motor cycle storage/ parking shall be implemented in 
accordance with such details as may be approved and shall be retained in the approved 
form for the parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose as long as the approved 
development is in use. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle and motor cycle parking 
facilities are provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. 
Relevant policy: NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies 
CP1, CP3 & CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 
 
6.      Routing Plan       
Within 12 weeks of the date of this decision details of the lorry routing plan shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The routing plan shall be implemented 
in accordance with such details as may be approved and shall be retained in the 
approved form as long as the approved development is in use. 
 
Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience. Relevant policy: Core 
Strategy policies CP3 & CP6. 
 
7.      Drainage Details 
Within 12 weeks of the date of this decision details of the drainage system for the site 
have been submitted to and approved in writing by the LLFA.  The LLFA requires the 
submission of drawings which show the drainage details for surface and foul water .The 
details shall include how the site currently drains and will be drained after proposed 
development with any consideration to SuDS. 
 
Reason: This is to prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.  Relevant 
policy:  NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policies CC09 and CC10. 
 
8.     Contamination 
Should any unforeseen contamination be encountered during the development, the 
developer shall inform the LPA immediately. Any subsequent 
investigation/remedial/protective works deemed necessary by the LPA shall be carried 
out to agreed timescales and approved by the LPA in writing. If no contamination is 
encountered during the development, a letter confirming this fact shall be submitted to 
the LPA upon completion of the development. 
 
Reason: To protect future occupiers and users of the site from the harmful effects of 
contamination. 
 
Informative: 
 
1. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and 

139



subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF. 

 
2. In relation to condition 1 these details shall include a method statement for the 

removal of Type 1 MOT surface, reinstatement of topsoil, reseeding of site, 
investigating the possible mitigation measures for TPO trees and timescales. The 
restoration plan shall be carried out as approved within six months of finishing on 
site. 

 

PLANNING HISTORY  

173046 - Full application for the proposed erection of a 1.8m high green mesh fence 
and gates to existing field entrance, replacing existing palisade fence – Approved 
13.12.2017 

 
 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

National Grid No comments received 
 
Thames Water 
 
SSE Power Distribution 
 

 
No comments received 
 
No comments received 

WBC Drainage No objection subject to condition 
 

WBC Environmental Health No objection subject to condition 
 

WBC Highways No objection subject to conditions 
 

WBC Tree & Landscape No objection subject to condition 
 

WBC Property Services No comments received 
 

WBC Growth and Delivery No comments received 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Town/Parish Council: No comment 
 
Local Members: No comments received 
 
Neighbours: No comments received 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

 CP3 General Principles for Development 

 CP4 Infrastructure Requirements 

 CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

 CP8 Thames Basin Heaths Special 
Protection Area 

140



 CP9  Scale and Location of Development 
Proposals 

 CP11 Proposals outside development limits 
(including countryside) 

 CP19 South of the M4 Strategic Development 
Location 

Adopted Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan 2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development 

 CC02 Development Limits 

 CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and 
Landscaping 

 CC06 Noise 

 CC07 Parking 

 CC09 Development and Flood Risk (from all 
sources) 

 CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

 TB04 Development in vicinity of Atomic 
Weapons Establishment (AWE), 
Burghfield 

 TB21 Landscape Character 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents      (SPD) 

BDG Borough Design Guide – Section 4 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

Description of Development: 
 
1. The proposed development is for the construction of a temporary compound that is 

to  assist the maintenance and upgrade works to local and regional electrical supply. 
The application site is proposed to function as a hub for deliveries and transport of 
materials necessary to support the upgrade works locally. The application site is 
used to house temporary office space/welfare units and for the storage of non-
hazardous materials for distribution to the surrounding construction sites. The 
application is retrospective with the use and development having already 
commenced 
 

2. Top soil from the application site has been stripped across the entire area and 
stored in bunds in the North West corner of the application. Type 1 MOT sub-base 
has been laid across the application site to provide a suitable running surface for 
vehicles. A section of the southern side of application has been laid with asphalt to 
allow for an area of car-parking. 

 
3. Five temporary cabins for office space and two secure storage units have been 

placed on the asphalt section of the application towards the southern boundary, 
adjacent to Church Lane. The office/welfare cabins are to individually measure 
9.76m in depth, 3m in width and 2.45m in height. , with there being 6 of these sited 
on the application site. There are to be 8 storage cabins sited on the application site 
of varying sizes, 6 of these are to be located towards the western boundary and two 
adjacent to the office cabins by the southern boundary. 

141



 
4. The application site is secured with a security fence around the entire perimeter. 

Temporary tower lighting is utilised along the perimeter of the Site during operational 
hours, when required. Access to site for all vehicles and pedestrians is via the 
existing access off Church Lane. 

 
Principle of Development: 
 
5. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour of 

sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. 
The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that 
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for 
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 
 

6. The application site is  located within the South of the M4 Strategic Development 
Location (SDL)  This SDL is allocated under Core Strategy Policy CP19 for a 
development of up to 2,500 new homes and associated infrastructure, including 
extensive open space.  South of the M4 Strategic Development Location 
Supplementary Planning Document has not identified the application site for any 
type of development or enhancement. Thus, the proposed temporary change of use 
of the land would not have a detrimental impact upon the overarching objectives of 
the SDL. In fact the proposal would assist in delivering development in the SDL, 
Wokingham Borough and the wider region as it would enable essential local and 
regional electrical supply to be maintained and upgraded (Scottish and Southern 
Electrical would operate the site). 

 
7. The application site is also within the designated countryside, with the lawful use of 

the site being agricultural. Policy CC02 of the MDD Local Plan and CP9 of the Core 
Strategy define development limits across the Borough including a hierarchy of 
major, modest and limited locations which typically relates to access to services and 
the density of the area. The proposed development is located in the countryside and 
therefore is limited by principles outlined in CP11 of the Core Strategy DPD which 
relates to proposals outside development limits. It is a restrictive policy designed to 
protect the separate identity of settlement limits and maintain the quality of the 
environment. CP11 states that development will not normally be permitted outside 
development limits except where: 

 
• It contributes to diverse and sustainable rural enterprises within the borough, or 
in the case of other countryside based enterprises and activities, it contributes 
and/or promotes recreation in, and enjoyment of, the countryside; and 
• It does not lead to excessive encroachment or expansion of development away 
from the original buildings; and 
• It is contained within suitably located buildings which are appropriate for 
conversion, or in the case of replacement buildings would bring about environmental 
improvement; or 
• In the case of residential extensions, does not result in inappropriate increases in 
the scale, form or footprint of the original building; 
• In the case of replacement dwellings the proposal must: 
i) Bring about environmental improvements; or 
ii) Not result in inappropriate increases in the scale, form or footprint of 
the original building. 

142



• Essential community facilities cannot be accommodated within development 
limits or through the re-use/replacement of an existing building; 
• Affordable housing on rural exception sites in line with CP9. 
 

8. Whilst, the proposed development does not fall neatly into any of the above 
exceptions, it should be noted that the overarching objective of Policy CP11 is to 
protect the separate identities of the settlement limits and maintain the quality of the 
environment of the countryside. In this regard, it is considered that the proposal 
would not result in a coalescence of different settlement boundaries.  

 
9. The proposal would not strictly comply with the exceptions of Policy CP11, however 

the proposed use of the site by a statutory undertaker of essential infrastructure on a 
temporary basis would cause some degree of limited temporary harm.   Whilst the 
impacts upon the environment and character are considered in more detail in the 
proceeding report, given the temporary nature of the proposal for essential 
infrastructure works, provided the longer term environment and character is not 
detrimentally impacted upon (see condition 1), the limited harm upon the countryside 
would be acceptable in this instance.   

 
10. The proposal is considered to be acceptable on a temporary basis to facilitate 

delivery of essential utilities infrastructure to support existing and future development 
but permanent retention would cause an unacceptable impact upon the environment 
and would not be compatible with Policy CP11 of the Core Strategy. As such, a 
condition is to be included to ensure that the proposed use can only be carried out 
by Southern Electric Power Distribution. 

    
Character of the Area: 
 
11. Policy CP1 of the Core Strategy states that planning permission will be granted for 

development proposals that ‘maintain or enhance the high quality of the environment’. 
Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states planning permission will be granted if 
development is ‘of an appropriate scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, 
materials and character to the area together with a high quality of design’ and 
contributes ‘to a sense of place in the buildings and spaces themselves and in the way 
they integrate with their surroundings, including the use of appropriate landscaping’ 
 

12.  The application site is located within the designated countryside. The northern side 
of Church Lane is visually characteristic of the countryside with little in the form of 
development. It is acknowledged that an application  
Ref. 172941was recently granted to the west of the application site for a mixed use of 
the land for agriculture and the storage of building equipment and the associated 
erection of a storage building, means of enclosure to land and access gates to road 
plus retention of existing bund. Implemented or not. It is also noted that opposite the 
application is Pulleyns Transport Yard.  

 
13.  The proposal includes 5 portacabin style temporary structures for office/welfare use 

and 8 storage containers. It also includes the majority of the site being surface of Type 
1 MOT hardstanding, with a smaller section of an asphalt parking area close to the 
entrance for parking. The application is to include a mix of timber fencing and heras 
fencing to the boundaries.  Whilst the proposal is not typical of the characteristics of 
the open countryside on the northern section of Church Lane and would generally be 
resisted, it is noted that the use is for an essential utility infrastructure project for a 

143



limited time period. As noted in the principle of development section of the report, this 
use is to cease after a period of 24 months and the land is to be returned to its former 
use (agricultural), this is secured by way of condition. Thus, it is not considered that 
the proposal would have a long term detrimental impact upon the character and 
appearance of the area and therefore, on balance, is considered to be acceptable with 
regard to Policies CP1 and CP3 of the Core Strategy. 

 
Residential Amenities: 
 
14. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy aims to protect neighbouring amenity. Policy CC06 

of the MDD seeks to ensure that proposals must demonstrate how they have 
addressed noise impacts to protect noise sensitive receptors 
 

15. The application site is located approximately 150m from the closest residential 
properties to the south west. Therefore, there are no concerns in relation to 
sunlight/daylight/privacy and in terms of the proposal being overbearing. 

 
16. In relation to potential noise impacts, Environmental Health Officers requested that 

additional information be submitted by the applicant to justify the assertion within the 
Planning Supporting Statement that noise levels are negligible and not considered to 
be audible above background noise levels by the M4 to the north of the Site. 

 
17.  Additional information has been submitted that outlined that when existing noise 

baseline based on proximity to the M4 was taken into account with the noise 
potential of the proposal and the separation from any sensitive receptors that it was 
not necessary to undertake a noise impact assessment. Environmental Health 
Officers reviewed the updated information and they have stated that they are 
satisfied that noise impact assessment would not be required and there are no 
concerns in relation to noise pollution as a result of the proposal. Thus, the proposal 
is considered to adhere to Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy and Policy CC06 of the 
MDD.  
 

Access and Movement: 
 
18. Core Strategy Policies CP1, Sustainable Development and CP6, Managing Travel 

Demand seek to manage travel demand by a variety of measures.  New 
development to be located to minimise the need to travel and where there are (or will 
be at the time of development) a choice of modes of transport available.   It should 
also improve the existing infrastructure network, mitigate adverse impacts on the 
network, enhance road safety and avoid highway or traffic related environmental 
problems.  
 

19.  The application site is accessed from the northern side of Church Lane and 
provides 13 car parking spaces, with scope for additional parking if required. In their 
original consultation response WBC Highways Officers have outlined that it is 
unlikely that traffic from this site would have an adverse impact on the highway 
network and there are no concerns with the car parking provision. However, they 
have requested additional information in relation to the siting of the gates, visibility 
splays, heavy good vehicles access to the site and cycle/cycle motor cycle parking. 
Given that the application site is located within the countryside and there are no bus 
or train routes within the immediate vicinity, it is considered that the application is not 
located in a sustainable location. However, given the fact that the proposal is for use 

144



for essential infrastructure purposes and is only for a 24 month period, it is 
considered that the lack of sustainable transport would have a limited impact and 
would be acceptable in this instance. 

 
20.  Following the submission of additional information in relation to the above points, 

Highways Officer have outlined that there are no concerns in relation to the position 
of the gates and that additional information in relation to visibility splays, cycle/motor 
cycle parking and a routing plan can be conditioned. As the application site has been 
in use since approx. 06/07/19, these conditions will be required to be submitted and 
approved within a limited time-frame (12 weeks). Thus, subject to conditions, the 
proposal is considered to adhere to Policies CP1 and CP6 of the Core Strategy. 

 
Flooding and Drainage: 
 
21. In accordance with the sequential approach established by the NPPF, Core Strategy 

Policy CP1 and MDDLP Policies CC09 and CC10 establish that new development 
should avoid increasing and where possible reduce flood risk (from all sources) by 
first developing in areas with lowest flood risk (Flood Zone 1).   

 
22.  The application is within Flood Zone 1 and WBC Drainage Officers have reviewed 

the submitted information, stating that they have no objection to the proposed 
development in principle. As there is be a small increase in impermeable area and 
as drainage details have not been provided, Drainage Officers have requested a 
condition is included to provide details of the proposed drainage system for the site. 
As the application site has seemingly been in use since 06/07/19, the condition will 
be required to be submitted and approved within a limited time-frame (12 weeks). 

 
Landscape and Trees: 
 
23. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks, 

promote linkages between public open space and the countryside, retain existing 
trees and establish appropriate landscaping and Policy TB21 requires consideration 
of the landscape character 

 
24. The application site is located within the countryside with the Oak trees on the south-

western boundary of the site protected by a TPO (1577/2017). There have been no 
trees removed to facilitate the development which has already taken place. 

 
25. WBC Landscape and Tree Officers have reviewed the submitted information and 

they have welcomed the fact that no further works will be undertaken in this area 
during the 24 month use period. Therefore, WBC Landscape and Tree Officers have 
no objections to the proposal in relation to harm upon trees or the landscape and 
requested a condition to ensure the proper restoration of the site is included (see 
Condition 1). This is to be included and requires the submission of a restoration plan 
which may need to assess the condition of the TPO trees and include details of 
mitigation works following removal of the temporary hard surfacing. Subject to 
conditions, the proposal is considered to adhere to Policies CC03 and TB21 of the 
MDD. 

 
 
 
 

145



Environmental Health: 
 
26. Core Strategy policy CP1 requires development to avoid areas where pollution may 

impact upon amenity. 
 
27. Whilst the Council holds no specific information to indicate that the application site or 

the area surrounding the site may be contaminated, on a precautionary basis 
Environmental Health Officers have requested that a condition pertaining to 
contamination is included. This requires the applicant to report any contamination to 
the LPA if it is encountered during operations. In the event that this occurs 
subsequent investigation/remedial/protective works deemed necessary by the LPA 
shall be carried out to agreed timescales and approved by the LPA in writing 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), Special Protection Area (SPA) & Affordable 
Housing: 
 
28. Community Infrastructure Levy: Mitigation is now secured through the Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL) the rate of which is set out in the council’s charging 
schedule. As the proposal is for a temporary compound for essential infrastructure 
the fee payable is £0.  
 

29. Special Protection Area: This application is outside the 5km buffer zone of the SPA 
however it is within the 7km buffer. As the proposal is for a temporary compound an 
Appropriate Assessment would not be required to be carried out. 

 
30. Affordable Housing: The proposal does not meet the threshold for the provision of 

affordable housing as per Policy CP5 of the Core Strategy. Therefore no affordable 
housing is required. 

 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 

In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations 
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age, 
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence (including from 
consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified by the Act have or will 
have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in relation to this particular 
planning application and there would be no significant adverse impacts upon protected 
groups as a result of the development.  

 

CONCLUSION 

The application for the change of use for the proposed erection of a temporary compound 
to facilitate essential infrastructure works, including hardstanding, parking, fencing and 
gates, cabins and storage units is considered to be acceptable as it would cause limited 
harm upon the character and environment of the countryside due to its temporary nature. 
The proposal would not have a detrimental impact upon the objectives of the South of the 
M4 Strategic Development Location.  It has also been demonstrated that the development 
would not have a detrimental impact upon the amenity of neighbouring occupiers, upon 
highway safety and parking provision or upon trees and landscape. It is therefore 
recommended that this application is approved as it would accord with the NPPF and 
development plan policies for Wokingham Borough. 

 
 

146



T

r
a

c

k

T

r

a

c

k

(telecommunication)

45.4m

W

B

46.9m

C

H

U

R

C

H

 

L

A

N

E

The

(PH)

Six Bells

Ruins

Mast

W

a
r
d
 B

d
y

D

r
a

i
n

M

 
4

D

e

f

The

Grove

Rev Date

Description

 First Issue-

Sheet No:

Drawn:

Approved:

A3

Sheet Size:

29.11.2019

1 of 1

NB

13.01.2020A

Application area amended

Land to the north west of Church Lane,

Shinfield, Reading, RG2 8PY

Location Plan

Reading Main to Reading Town 132KV

472391, 168441

KD

Coords:

Scheme Name:

Location:

Drawing Name:

Drawing No:

Applicant:

Southern Electric Power Distribution Plc

Key:

Notes:

172447_PLN_LOC_19.1_A

Scale 1:125020m 40m 50m 60m 70m 80m 90m 100m 110m 120m 130m 140m 150m 160m 170m 180m 190m 200m 210m 220m 230m 240m 250m10m 30m0mSite Plan

The information contained in this document is confidential and protected by copyright.

The use, copying or disclosure to a third party, either wholly or in part, except with the written

permission of, and in the manner prescribed by Southern & Scottish Energy PLC constitutes an

infringement of copyright. Dalcour Maclaren does not warrant that this document is definitive

nor free of error and does not accept liability for any loss caused or arising from reliance upon

information provided herein. Although our best efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy

of these plans, all measurements must be confirmed on site. BASED UPON THE ORDNANCE

SURVEY MAP WITH THE SANCTION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HM STATIONERY

OFFICE. CROWN COPYRIGHT RESERVED. OS LICENCE No. 100019808

Application Site Boundary

Area:

Application site boundary area = 15952.9m²

147



T
his page is intentionally left blank



149



This page is intentionally left blank



151



This page is intentionally left blank



153



This page is intentionally left blank



2
.
4
5
m

2
.
4
5
m

3.00m 9.76m

Front Elevation

'Mobile mini 32ft x 10ft Toilet Block' Unit

Side Elevation

'Mobile mini 32ft x 10ft Toilet Block' Unit

2
.
4
5
m

9.76m

Rear Elevation

'Mobile mini 32ft x 10ft Toilet Block' Unit

9.76m

3
m

'Mobile mini 32ft x 10ft Toilet Block' Unit

Floorplan

6
.
0
9
m

2.44m 2.44m

3
.
0
5
m

Floorplan

'Mobile mini 20ft x 8ft

Storage Container' Unit

Floorplan

'Mobile mini 10ft x 8ft

Storage Container' Unit

Rev Date

Description

 First Issue-

Sheet No:

Drawn:

Approved:

A3

Sheet Size:

13.01.2020

3 of 4

NB

Land to the north west of Church Lane,

Shinfield, Reading, RG2 8PY

Proposed Unit Elevations and Floorplans

Reading Main to Reading Town 132KV

472391, 168441

KD

Coords:

Scheme Name:

Location:

Drawing Name:

Drawing No:

Applicant:

Southern Electric Power Distribution Plc

Key:

Notes:

172447_PLN_EL_21.3

0m 1m 2m Scale 1:503m 4m 5m 6m 7m 8m 9m 10mSite Plan

The information contained in this document is confidential and protected by copyright.

The use, copying or disclosure to a third party, either wholly or in part, except with the written

permission of, and in the manner prescribed by Southern & Scottish Energy PLC constitutes an

infringement of copyright. Dalcour Maclaren does not warrant that this document is definitive

nor free of error and does not accept liability for any loss caused or arising from reliance upon

information provided herein. Although our best efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy

of these plans, all measurements must be confirmed on site. BASED UPON THE ORDNANCE

SURVEY MAP WITH THE SANCTION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HM STATIONERY

OFFICE. CROWN COPYRIGHT RESERVED. OS LICENCE No. 100019808

155



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Datum 44.00m (AOD)

South East Elevation

CCTV Tower

Storage Units
Close boarded fencing

Lighting Tower

Access gates

Storage Units

CCTV Tower Lighting Tower

Welfare Units

Lighting Tower

CCTV Tower CCTV Tower

Heras fencing

Datum 44.00m (AOD)

North East Elevation

CCTV Tower

Lighting Tower Lighting Tower

CCTV Tower

CCTV Tower CCTV Tower

Lighting Tower

Welfare Units Storage Units

Storage Units

Heras fencing

Heras fencing

Heras fencing

Datum 44.00m (AOD)

North West Elevation

Heras fencing

Heras fencing

Heras fencing

Access gatesWelfare Units Storage Units

CCTV Tower

CCTV Tower

CCTV Tower
CCTV Tower

Lighting Tower

Lighting Tower

Lighting Tower

Storage Units

Datum 44.00m (AOD)

South West Elevation

CCTV Tower

CCTV Tower

CCTV Tower

CCTV Tower

Lighting Tower

Lighting Tower

Lighting Tower

Storage Units

Storage Units
Welfare Units

Close boarded fencing

Heras fencing

Close boarded

fencing

Access gates

Storage Units Welfare Units

Lighting Tower

Heras fencing

Rev Date

Description

 First Issue-

Sheet No:

Drawn:

Approved:

A3

Sheet Size:

13.01.2020

1 of 1

NB

Land to the north west of Church Lane,

Shinfield, Reading, RG2 8PY

Proposed Site Elevations

Reading Main to Reading Town 132KV

472391, 168441

KD

Coords:

Scheme Name:

Location:

Drawing Name:

Drawing No:

Applicant:

Southern Electric Power Distribution Plc

Notes:

172447_PLN_EL_23.1

0m Scale 1:50020m 30m 40m 50m 60m 70m 80m 90m 100m10m5m 25m 35m 45m 55m 65m 75m 85m 95m15mProposed Elevations - Site Overviews

The information contained in this document is confidential and protected by copyright.

The use, copying or disclosure to a third party, either wholly or in part, except with the written

permission of, and in the manner prescribed by Southern & Scottish Energy PLC constitutes an

infringement of copyright. Dalcour Maclaren does not warrant that this document is definitive

nor free of error and does not accept liability for any loss caused or arising from reliance upon

information provided herein. Although our best efforts have been made to ensure the accuracy

of these plans, all measurements must be confirmed on site. BASED UPON THE ORDNANCE

SURVEY MAP WITH THE SANCTION OF THE CONTROLLER OF HM STATIONERY

OFFICE. CROWN COPYRIGHT RESERVED. OS LICENCE No. 100019808

Trees and vegetation beyond the perimeter fence line

have not been shown.

Refer to drawing set EL_21.1 - EL_21.4 for welfare/

storage unit elevation details.

0m 2m1m 4m3m Scale 1:1005m 6m 7m 8m 9m 10m 11m 12m 13m 14m 15m 16m 17m 18m 19m 20mProposed Elevations - Site Entrance

NW

SW

NE

SE

C

H

U

R

C

H

 L

A

N

E

Elevation Location Plan:

'Proposed Elevations - Site Entrance' is an enlarged view

of the site entrance area as shown on the South East

Elevation of 'Proposed Elevations - Site Overviews'.

157



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application 
Number 

Expiry Date Parish Ward 

200863 28/05/2020 Wokingham Town Wescott 

 

Applicant Wokingham Borough Council 

Site Address 75 London Road, Wokingham, RG40 1YA 

Proposal Full application for the proposed change of use from HMO (Use 
Class C4) to supported living (Use Class C2), plus erection of two 
storey rear extension with 3 no. rooflights and solar panels and 
erection of detached rear outbuilding to form a meeting room 
following demolition of existing outbuilding, with associated 
parking, cycle and bin storage. 

Type Full Planning Application  

Officer Adriana Gonzalez 

Reason for 
determination by 
committee 

Applicant is Wokingham Borough Council  

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on  Thursday 21 May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

The application proposes a change of use and redevelopment of the site to provide 
supported living accommodation (Use Class C2), specifically for young vulnerable adults 
aged 18+. The proposed scheme would include the erection of a two storey rear extension 
to the existing property, as well as an outbuilding to accommodate all necessary facilities. 
 
The site is within a sustainable location, adjoining Wokingham Town Centre with excellent 
transport links. The proposal includes office and overnight accommodation for a member 
of the management team to be on site 24 hours, 7 days a week. 
 
The site has remained vacant and unkempt for several years; the proposed scheme offers 
the opportunity for positive improvements in visual real terms, whilst providing much 
needed accommodation and support for young vulnerable people within the Borough. 
 
The proposed development would result in an increase in bulk and mass of buildings on 
site compared to that existing. However, it has been demonstrated that the proposal 
would not be so significant as to result in any harm to the local character, nor to the 
residential amenities of neighbouring properties and future occupiers of the site. 
Paragraphs 1-48 provide further details to these material considerations, and subject to 
conditions 1-12 the application is recommended for approval. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Major development location - Wokingham 

 Archaeological Site 

 Green Route – London Road 

 Thames Basin Heath Special Protection Area Linear Mitigation Zone – 5Km 

 
 
 
 

159

Agenda Item 119.



RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following:  
Conditions: 
 

1. Timescale 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years 
from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended 
by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

2. Approved Plans 
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings numbered 
4087.001; 4087.002; 4087.1001 PL3 & 4087.2001 PL1 received by the local planning 
authority on 02/04/2020. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details unless otherwise agreed in writing by the local planning authority. 
 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure that the development is carried out in 
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved. 
 

3. External Materials 
The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the extension 
hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the existing building 
unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and 
before implementation with the Local Planning Authority. 
       
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the building is satisfactory. Relevant 
policy: Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3. 
 

4. Obscure Glazing 
The ensuite windows at first floor in the east and west side elevations of the development 
hereby permitted shall be fitted with obscured glass and shall be permanently so-retained. 
The windows shall be non-opening unless the parts of the window which can be opened 
are more than 1.7 metres above the finished floor level of the room in which the window 
is installed and shall be permanently so-retained. 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties. Relevant 
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3. 

 
5. Restriction of Permitted Development Rights - Windows 

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning, (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order 
with or without modification), no additional windows or similar openings shall be 
constructed in the first floor level or above in the side elevations of the development 
hereby permitted except for any which may be shown on the approved drawing(s). 
 
Reason: To safeguard the residential amenities of neighbouring properties. Relevant 
policy: Core Strategy policy CP3. 
 
 
 

160



6. Ancillary Accommodation 
The outbuilding hereby approved shall be used as ancillary accommodation to the main 
C2 use Class and the building shall remain in use as a single building and not be used, 
sold or sub-let as separate buildings. 
  
Reason: A separate unit of accommodation of this nature may not be acceptable in this 
location in the interests of the amenities, character of the area and highway safety in 
accordance with Core Strategy Policies CP1, CP3, CP4, and Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan Policies CC01, CC07, TB07, TB08. 
 

7. Parking to be Provided 
No part of any building(s) hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the vehicle 
parking space has been provided in accordance with the approved plans.  The vehicle 
parking space shall be permanently maintained and remain available for the parking of 
vehicles at all times. 
 
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway safety, 
convenience and amenity. Relevant policy:  Core Strategy policies CP3 & CP6 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 
 

8. Access Surfacing 
No building shall be occupied until the vehicular access has been surfaced with a 
permeable material across the entire width of the access for a distance of 10 metres 
measured from the carriageway edge. 
 
Reason: To avoid spillage of loose material onto the highway, in the interests of road 
safety. Relevant policy:  Core Strategy policy CP6. 

 
9. Cycle Parking to be Provided 

Secure and covered parking for cycles must be provided in accordance with the approved 
drawing(s)/details. The cycle parking/storage shall be permanently so-retained for the 
parking of bicycles and used for no other purpose. 
 
Reason: In order to ensure that secure weather-proof bicycle parking facilities are 
provided so as to encourage the use of sustainable modes of travel. Relevant policy: 
NPPF Section 9 (Sustainable Transport) and Core Strategy policies CP1, CP3 & CP6 
and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policy CC07. 
 

10.  Drainage Details 

No development shall take place until full details of the drainage system for the site have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. The details shall include: 

 
1. BRE 365 test results demonstrating that infiltration is achievable. 
2. Full calculations demonstrating the performance of soakaways. 
3. Groundwater data confirming seasonal high groundwater levels in the area. 
4. A drainage strategy plan indicating the location and sizing of SuDS features, with the 

base of any SuDS features located at least 1m above the seasonal high water table 
level. 

5. Details demonstrating how any SuDS for this development would be managed 
throughout the lifespan of the development and who will be responsible for 
maintenance. 

 

161



Reason: This is to prevent increased flood risk from surface water run-off.  Relevant 
policy:  NPPF Section 10 (Meeting the Challenge of Climate Change, Flooding and 
Coastal Change), Core Strategy policy CP1 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policies CC09 and CC10.   
 

11.  Landscaping 
Prior to the commencement of the development,  full details of both hard and soft 
landscape proposals shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning 
authority. These details shall include, as appropriate, proposed finished floor levels or 
contours, means of enclosure, car parking layouts, other vehicle and pedestrian access 
and circulation areas, hard surfacing materials and minor artefacts and structure (e.g. 
furniture, play equipment, refuse or other storage units, signs, lighting, external services, 
etc). Soft landscaping details shall include planting plan, specification (including 
cultivation and other operations associated with plant and grass establishment), 
schedules of plants, noting species, planting sizes and proposed numbers/densities 
where appropriate, and implementation timetable. 
 
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity. Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and 
Managing Development Delivery Local Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 
 

12.  Protection of Trees 

a) Prior to the commencement of the development there shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority a revised Arboricultural Method 
Statement and Scheme of Works, which provides for the retention and protection of trees, 
shrubs and hedges growing on or adjacent to the site in accordance with BS5837: 2012. 
No development or other operations shall take place except in complete accordance with 
the details as so-approved (hereinafter referred to as the Approved Scheme). 

b) No operations shall commence on site in connection with development hereby 
approved (including any tree felling, tree pruning, demolition works, soil moving, 
temporary access construction and or widening or any other operation involving use of 
motorised vehicles or construction machinery) until the tree protection works required by 
the Approved Scheme are in place on site.  

c) No excavations for services, storage of materials or machinery, parking of vehicles, 
deposit or excavation of soil or rubble, lighting of fires or disposal of liquids shall take 
place within an area designated as being fenced off or otherwise protected in the 
Approved Scheme.  

d) The fencing or other works which are part of the Approved Scheme shall not be 
moved or removed, temporarily or otherwise, until all works including external works have 
been completed and all equipment, machinery and surplus materials removed from the 
site, unless the prior approval in writing of the local planning authority has first been 
sought and obtained. 
 
Reason: To secure the protection throughout the time that the development is being 
carried out of trees shrubs or hedges growing within or adjacent to the site which are of 
amenity value to the area, and to allow for verification by the local planning authority that 
the necessary measures are in place before development and other works commence 
Relevant policy: Core Strategy policy CP3 and Managing Development Delivery Local 
Plan policies CC03 and TB21. 
 
 
 

162



Informatives: 
 
1. The applicant is reminded that this approval is granted subject to conditions which 

must be complied with prior to the development starting on site. Commencement of 
the development without complying with the pre-commencement requirements may 
be outside the terms of this permission and liable to enforcement action. The 
information required should be formally submitted to the Council for consideration 
with the relevant fee. Once the details have been approved in writing the development 
should be carried out only in accordance with those details. 
 

2. Whilst it would appear from the application that the proposed development is to be 
entirely within the curtilage of the application site, the granting of planning permission 
does not authorise you to gain access or carry out any works on, over or under your 
neighbour’s land or property without first obtaining their consent, and does not obviate 
the need for compliance with the requirements of the Party Wall etc. Act 1996. 

 
3. The Head of Highways at the Council Offices, Shute End, Wokingham [0118 

9746000] should be contacted for the approval of the access and surfacing works for 
the disabled parking area before any work is carried out within the highway (including 
verges and footways). This planning permission does NOT authorise the construction 
of such an access or works. 
 

4. Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development, all 
works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council’s ecologist 
contacted for further advice before works can proceed.  All contractors working on 
site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a 
relevant ecological consultant. 

 
5. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received. This 
planning application has been the subject of positive and proactive discussions with 
the applicant in terms of: 
- a full pre-application process was undertaken by the applicant; 
- addressing concerns relating to highway safety; 
The decision to grant planning permission in accordance with the presumption in 
favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF is considered to be a 
positive outcome of these discussions. 
 

6. The development hereby permitted is liable to pay the Community Infrastructure Levy.  
As an affordable housing development a claim for relief can be made. This is a matter 
for the developer.  The Liability Notice issued by Wokingham Borough Council will 
state the current chargeable amount. Anyone can formally assume liability to pay, but 
if no one does so then liability will rest with the landowner. There are certain legal 
requirements that must be complied with. For instance, whoever will pay the levy 
must submit an Assumption of Liability form and a Commencement Notice to 
Wokingham Borough Council prior to commencement of development. For more 
information see - http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-
processes/. 

 
 
 

163

http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/
http://www.wokingham.gov.uk/planning/developers/cil/cil-processes/


PLANNING HISTORY 

Application Number Proposal Decision 

193258 Pre-application advice for the proposed 
two storey rear extension to existing 
building following demolition of existing 
outbuilding and internal alterations 

Replied 16/01/2020 

183473 Pre-application advice for the proposed 
erection of a single storey rear 
extension and a first floor rear extension 
with dormer. A single storey out building 
following demolition of existing 

Replied 14/02/2019 

011100 Outline application for proposed 
demolition of no. 75 London Road and 
erection of 8 bedsits 

Refused 19/07/2001 

001886 Proposed erection of 8 bedsits and 
demolition of 75 London Road 

Refused 26/10/2000 

 

SUMMARY INFORMATION 

For Commercial  
Site Area                                     
Existing Use                                 

644sqm 
HMO (Use Class C4) – currently vacant 

Proposed Use 
Proposed Number of Units 

Supported living (Use Class C2) 
4 bedrooms; 3 bed-sit rooms; 1 overnight 
staff accommodation 

Existing parking spaces 1 
Proposed parking spaces 1 (disabled car space); 4 (bicycles) 
  

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

WBC Drainage No objection subject to condition (10) 
WBC Environmental Health No objection 
WBC Highways No objection subject to conditions (7); (8) 

and (9) 
WBC Trees & Landscape No objection subject to conditions (11) and 

(12) 
WBC Cleaner & Greener No comments received 
WBC Property Services No comments received 
Berkshire Archaeology No objection 

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Town/Parish Council: No comments received 
 
Local Members: A letter of objection received from Cllr Maria Gee on the basis of the 
following: 

 Overdevelopment of the site 

 Additional outbuilding encroaches on the green corridor along the back 
of the houses 

 Parking and access not acceptable 

 Suggests that reducing the proposed footprint of the building would be 
more appropriate and would address concerns about parking and 

164



access, since a turning space could be provided and the number of 
parking spaces reduced 

 
Neighbours: Ten letters of objections received from the occupants at nos. 65; 68; 70; 
71; 72; 74; 77; 79 & 83 London Road, and no. 100 Wescott Road on the basis of the 
following: 

 No Site Notice displayed on site 

 No notification letter to neighbours received 

 Lack of transparency on planning process 
 
(Officer’s note: the Council records show that all relevant neighbours have been consulted 
for this planning application, in accordance with the Council’s Statutory Requirements – 
these include all adjoining properties to the application site. Notification Letters were sent 
on 8 April 2020. However, in the interests of openness, a site notice was also posted by 
the applicant on 30 April 2020. 
 
All information submitted for this planning application is public and available to be 
consulted by any interested party via the WBC website.) 
 

 Overshadowing and overbearing impact to nos. 71 & 77 London Road 

 Overlooking to rear neighbouring garden areas of nos. 71 & 77 London 
Road, and no. 100 Wescott Road 

 Overdevelopment of the site 

 Noise 

 Detached outbuilding compounds to additional noise and loss of light 

 Detached outbuilding could be used as additional living space 

 Insufficient parking and highways safety 

 Disturbance for neighbours 

 Proposed development and use not in keeping with residential area 

 Security risk for neighbours due to age and status of future occupants 

 Impact on protected species (bats) 
 
(Officer’s note: the impact upon the character of the area, neighbouring private residential 
amenities, highways safety and parking provision, and ecology will be addressed below 
in relevant sections of this report.) 
 

 Insufficient monitoring and management of disturbance due to staff 
being only part-time on the site 

 Not possible to implement and monitor curfew and/or visitor curfew 

 Cost of proposal excessive and should not be justified as an expense to 
local council tax payers 

 No full annual forecast for maintenance and repairs costs have been 
presented 

 No complaint management and action guarantee method statement 
submitted 

 No details as to where potential rule offenders will be moved to 
 
(Officer’s note: these concerns are not regulated by the Planning Act, therefore are not 
material consideration and as such cannot be given weight in this assessment.) 

 
 

165



APPLICANTS POINTS 

 This proposal would provide much needed semi-independent housing units in 
Wokingham for vulnerable young people 

 Sustainable location close to local services 

 Reuse of vacant housing on a ‘brown-field’ site 

 The proposal would ensure the building is more energy efficient 

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Adopted Core Strategy DPD 2010 CP1 Sustainable Development 

 CP2 Inclusive Communities 

 CP3 General Principles for Development 

 CP4 Infrastructure Requirements 

 CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

 CP7 Biodiversity 

 CP9  Scale and Location of Development 
Proposals 

Adopted Managing Development 
Delivery Local Plan 2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable 
Development 

 CC02 Development Limits 

 CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and 
Landscaping 

 CC04 Sustainable Design and Construction  

 CC06 Noise 

 CC07 Parking 

 CC09 Development and Flood Risk  

 CC10 Sustainable Drainage 

 TB09 Residential Accommodation for 
Vulnerable Groups 

 TB21 Landscape Character 

 TB23 Biodiversity and Development 

Supplementary Planning 
Documents      (SPD) 

BDG Borough Design Guide – Section 4 

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

Site Description: 
 
1. The site is located to the east of Wokingham Town Centre past the junction of 

Wiltshire Road and London Road. It consists of a two storey detached, attractive red-
brick Victorian property with gable-style roof, single storey flat roof projection to the 
rear, and a detached outbuilding to the western side boundary shared with no. 71 
London Road. The property is positioned along main London Road, in a broadly 
rectangular plot of approximately 44 metres long by 15 metres deep. 
 

166



2. The building sits just outside Wokingham Town Centre Conservation Area, it is not 
listed and comprises two ground floor reception rooms, a rear kitchen and WC, and 
bedrooms and bathroom in the upper floor. The site currently benefits from a single 
vehicle access driveway to the side of the dwelling which provides access to a paved 
parking area located at the rear of the building.  

 
3. From the information provided in the Design and Access Statement, the lawful use of 

the premises is a House in Multiple Occupation (C4 use). The site visit confirmed that 
the building is currently uninhabited.  

 
4. Although no Certificate of Lawful Use has been applied in respect of the C4 use, the 

site visit and information submitted confirmed that the property consisted of five 
bedrooms. 

 
Proposal Description: 

 
5. The scheme is for the change of use and redevelopment of the site to provide 

supported living accommodation for young vulnerable people aged 18+ (C2 use 
Class). The proposed accommodation would comprise of a ground floor ensuite 
bedroom with disabled access and six individual ensuite bedrooms in the first floor 
level with access to shared kitchen and living areas in the ground floor. The site would 
be managed by a housing management company who would provide at least 1 on-
site staff member, 7 days a week, and the scheme has been designed to include 
overnight staff accommodation at ground floor level. 
 

6. The existing building would be enlarged to the rear with a two storey extension to 
allow for all necessary facilities. The width of the proposed building would remain as 
existing – approximately 10 metres and the combined depth would be approximately 
16.9 metres for a rectangular- shaped footprint. The building would have a maximum 
ridge height of 8 metres at its highest point (to the front), and the proposed two storey 
extension would have a half-hipped roof design with lower ridge height of 
approximately 7.6 metres. 

 
7. The proposed outbuilding would have a rectangular footprint of approximately 5.6 

metres in width and 6 metres in depth. It would be single storey with pitched roof 
design of maximum ridge height 5.4 metres. The outbuilding would include a meeting 
room with W.C, and would be located to the south-west rear part of the site, separated 
by approximately 1.6 metres from the rearmost wall of the main building. 

 
8. The proposed vehicular and motor cycle parking space would be located to the front 

of the site, and the bin store to the western side of the plot, to the front of the dwelling 
with immediate access from the highway. A secure cycle store area would be 
provided within the rear private amenity area. 

 
Principle of Development: 
 
9. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) has an underlying presumption in 

favour of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development 
Plan. The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that 
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for 
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

167



 
10. Policy CC02 of the MDD sets out the development limits for each settlement as 

defined on the policies map and therefore replaces the proposals map adopted 
through the Core Strategy, as per the requirement of policy CP9. Policy CP9 sets out 
that development proposals located within development limits will be acceptable in 
principle, having regard to the service provisions associated with the major, modest 
and limited categories. As the site is within a major development location, the 
proposal is acceptable in principle. 

 
11. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in terms 

of its scale of activity, mass, layout, built form, height, materials and character to the 
area in which it is located and must be of high quality design without detriment to the 
amenities of adjoining land uses and occupiers. 

 
12. The site is located in a sustainable location, and whilst it is termed as supported living, 

the proposal would still remain residential in nature which would reflect the dwellings 
seen along this part of London Road. 

 
13. With regard to the proposed C2 use, paragraph 91 of the NPPF states that decisions 

should aim to achieve healthy, inclusive and safe places which promote social 
interaction, including opportunities for meetings between people who might not 
otherwise come into contact with each other, are safe and accessible, and enable 
and support healthy lifestyles. 

 
14. Policy CP2 of the Core Strategy outlines that planning permission will be granted for 

proposals that address the requirements of (b) Children, young people and families, 
including co-ordination of services to meet their needs, whilst Policy TB09 of the MDD 
supports the need for proposals which provide accommodation for peoples’ needs 
over a lifetime, including vulnerable adults, children and young adults leaving care. 
This is a significant material consideration. In this instance, the proposal would be in 
accordance with the principles of Policies CP2 and TB09, as the scheme would 
provide accommodation for young care leavers aged 18+, who require short-term 
supported accommodation with training or education to develop the necessary skills 
to live independently. Therefore this need would be met by the proposed facility. 

 
Character of the Area: 
 
15. London Road and the surrounding locality are residential in nature (although the site 

is very close to the boundary with the town centre), predominantly characterised by 
large, detached two storey dwellings of mixed architectural style and character, but 
with a clearly defined building line and fairly spacious gaps between buildings. The 
appearance of the host building is similar to its adjoining properties, all red-brick, 
Victorian-style, detached, two storeys with side gable projection. It was observed 
during the site visit that many properties around the neighbourhood have benefited 
from extensive additions and alterations in the past, including two storey rear 
extensions, so these are common features within the street scene. A clear example 
of this would be the adjoining property no. 77 London Road, with a recently finished 
two storey rear extension granted under planning permission Ref. 183051. 
 

16. The proposed building would be internally re-modelled to provide seven individual 
ensuite bedrooms with access to shared facilities (sitting room, kitchen/dining, 
bathroom). There would be a single storey outbuilding in the immediate rear amenity 

168



space of the property, which would comprise a meeting room and W.C. A staff office 
space and overnight accommodation would be also located within the main building. 

 
17. R23 of the Borough Design Guide outlines a number of key considerations in relation 

to the design of extensions. Amongst others, these include consideration to be given 
to the built form, scale and mass of extensions (i.e. the design of proposed extensions 
must be well considered and should complement the existing building). Overall, 
alterations and extensions should respond positively to the context, maintaining or 
enhancing the street scene and local character. Extensions should usually be 
subservient to the host property. 

 
18. The proposal would demolish the current gabled and flat-roof extensions to the rear 

of the house, leaving only the main part of the building, and would create a two storey 
extension to it which would extend approximately 8.7 metres from the original rear 
wall. The Borough Design Guide states that rear extensions should not project more 
than 4 metres from the main rear wall where they are close to a side boundary. Whilst 
it is acknowledged that the proposed extension would be well over the 4 metres 
guidance, the proposed extension would be well set-in from both side boundaries, 
with a lower ridge height than that of the original house, and with a half-hipped roof 
of similar slopes and style to that of the main property, making the extension 
adequately subservient and respectful to the design and appearance of the original 
property.  

 
19. Furthermore, the proposed external materials to be used would be similar to those of 

the existing building and neighbouring properties, which would contribute to retain 
and enhance the wider character and setting of the street scene. In addition, being 
the bulk of the proposal towards the rear with no alterations to the front elevation, 
there would be limited views if any from main London Road, and with no other public 
vantage points to the rear. As such, the proposed bulk and mass of the building, 
although notably larger than as currently existing, would not be considered to result 
in any harm to the local character and would be suitable for this plot. 

 
20. The proposed outbuilding would be located to the rear of the plot, well screened by 

the proposed extensions to the main building, and due to its single storey nature, it 
would not be visible from the public realm. As such, it would not be considered to 
result in any detrimental impact to visual amenity or local character. 

 
21. Overall, the proposed development is considered to be appropriate for the site in 

respect of its design, size, scale, mass and footprint. The appearance of the proposed 
extension would be similar to not only the residential properties it lies adjacent to, but 
would also appear sympathetic to other buildings in the wider street scene. It is 
recognised that the building as existing is in significant disrepair, and the proposal 
would bring the site into a community use which would not only enhance the 
appearance of the site but would also fulfil the need of such housing. As such, the 
proposed development is considered to accord with the NPPF, policies CP1 and CP3 
of the Core Strategy, and the principles contained within the Borough Design Guide. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

169



Neighbour Amenity: 
 

Overlooking:  
 

22. R15 of the Borough Design Guide requires the retention of reasonable levels of visual 
privacy to habitable rooms, with separation of 22 metres to the rear and 10 metres to 
the street. R23 notes that the side walls must not contain windows, especially at first 
floor level. 
 

23. There is a minimum 27 metres separation to properties across London Road and 24 
metres separation across the rear boundary to the nearest properties; this is 
considered sufficient to ensure an adequate level of privacy between neighbouring 
properties, in accordance with the Borough Design Guide. Whilst there would be 
diagonal sightlines from the rear elevation across the side boundaries towards the 
rear gardens of nos. 71 and 77 London Road, this is commonplace within an urban 
context, and therefore would not warrant as a reason to refuse the application on 
overlooking or loss of privacy grounds. 

 
24. The proposed development would introduce a number of new windows at ground and 

first floor along the side elevations of the site, which would face towards nos. 77 and 
71 London Road. The site visit confirmed that no. 77 has two windows on the side 
wall facing the application site but which serve non-habitable rooms, and in any case, 
the proposed first floor windows at no. 75 have been designed to be high-level, which 
would mitigate any potential loss of privacy upon neighbouring residential amenity 
areas. 

 
25. The proposed outbuilding would include new windows, however these would be at 

ground level, facing the private rear garden of the application site, and much screened 
by the existing boundary treatment. As such, no loss of privacy would be anticipated 
to occur. 
 
Sunlight and Daylight:  

 
26. R18 of the Borough Design Guide aims to protect sunlight and daylight to existing 

properties, with no material impact on levels of daylight in the habitable rooms of 
adjoining properties.  
 

27. In respect to neighbouring property no. 77, the site visit confirmed that it has two first 
floor windows on the flank wall facing the application site. However the windows are 
currently obscure-glazed and appear to serve a bathroom and closet room (as shown 
in approved plans of planning permission 183051). Whilst the proposed rear 
extension would be of a significant mass and scale, it would be separated by 
approximately 2.9 metres from the shared side boundary, and only projecting slightly 
forward (1.9 metres) from the rear wall of the approved two storey extension at no. 
77, which the site visit confirmed has been already implemented under planning 
permission 183051. The applicant has submitted a Daylight and Sunlight Assessment 
– in accordance with the BRE Daylight and Sunlight Guidance – which demonstrates 
that there will be no adverse impact on neighbouring habitable spaces in terms of 
daylight and sunlight. 

 
28. In respect to no. 71, the site visit confirmed that the nearest part of this property to 

the application site is their linked side garage, and there are no first floor windows on 

170



the flank elevation facing the application site. Moreover, the occupant at no. 71 
verified in their objection letter that the two windows on their ground floor extension 
which face towards the extension serve their kitchen, which is considered a non-
habitable room. Whilst the proposed rear extension would be considerably extending 
beyond the rear walls at no. 71, there would be a separation distance of 
approximately 2.7 metres between the west side wall of the proposed building and 
the shared side boundary with no. 71. The applicant has submitted a Daylight and 
Sunlight Assessment – in accordance with the BRE Daylight and Sunlight Guidance 
– which demonstrates that there will be no adverse impact on neighbouring habitable 
spaces in terms of daylight and sunlight. This has also been confirmed through the 
45 degree line test in respect to rear windows at no. 71. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Fig. 1: 45 degree test performed in respect to 
neighbouring property no. 71 London Road 

 
Overbearing and Sense of Enclosure:  

 
29. R16 of the Borough Design Guide recommends that for two storey properties, the 

minimum distance to limit sense of enclosure between new and existing 
developments should be 1 metre from flank to boundary and 11 metres to the rear 
boundary. R23 also states that two storey rear extensions must be carefully 
positioned and designed to minimise any potential impact upon neighbours. Given 
the generous dimensions of the plot and location of the proposed extension, the 
proposal would comply with these minimum separation distances. 
 

30. Objections have been raised during the consultation period in respect to potential 
overbearing impact to residential amenities at no. 71 and 77. It is acknowledged that 
the footprint of the proposed building would be larger than that of the existing building. 
However, there would be approximately 2.9 metres separation distance between the 
proposed extension and the flank elevation of no. 77, and approximately 2.7 metres 
in respect to no. 71. Moreover, the large width and depth of the application site itself 
mitigates the physical presence of the proposed development, and it is considered 
that neighbouring amenities would not be unduly harm as a result of the proposed 
extension. 

 
31. In regards to the proposed outbuilding, due to its modest size and scale, and 

positioning within the application plot separated 2.7 metres from the side boundary 
shared with no. 71, the proposed structure would not be considered to have 
significant levels of overbearing upon residential amenity areas. 

 

171



Access and Movement: 
 
32. Highway Safety and Access: The site benefits from an existing vehicular access from 

London Road, which would be utilised with the current scheme, and it is considered 
acceptable for access by all modes of transport. It was evident during the site visit 
that the narrowness of the existing access would result in insufficient space to enable 
two cars to pass each other. However, there would be sufficient visibility on the 
approach to enable a driver travelling either direction from London Road to see a 
vehicle within the access and for them to allow that vehicle to exit the site before 
proceeding. Furthermore, it should be noted that this access is originally of the 
existing property, and the site visit confirmed that this is characteristic in a number of 
the surrounding properties in this part of  London Road which all have narrow access 
ways, including neighbouring dwellings nos. 71, 75 and 77. It follows that the 
proposed access is unlikely to have significant impact on highway safety in the area.  
 

33. Parking: The proposal includes 1 disabled parking space to be provided to the front 
of the property, however there is sufficient space to the east side – which is proposed 
to have hardstanding surface – which could accommodate 2 more car spaces. Due 
to the nature of the residential use (supported living accommodation for young care 
leavers), it is considered unlikely that the future occupiers of the unit would have car 
ownership, and the proposed parking space would be used either by visitors to the 
site or by management staff. Moreover, there are sufficient display car parks within 
close proximity (including WBC car park), as well as road side shorter term parking 
for visitors and easy access to the town centre and sustainable transport options. As 
such, in this instance the proposed level of parking is considered acceptable. 

 
34. Sustainability: Policies CP1 and CP6 of the Core Strategy require that development 

be sustainable with a reduction in the need for travel and the promotion of sustainable 
transport, and Policy CP9 states that the scale of development must reflect the 
existing and proposed levels of facilities, services and accessibility at or in the 
location. The site is located within a major development area and adjoins Wokingham 
Town Centre, within immediate proximity of a variety of retail and leisure facilities and 
services. It is also served by several bus services and it is within commuting distance 
(1.3Km) of Wokingham Railway Station. Moreover, there is a secure cycle store 
proposed on the site. As such, subject to condition (9) the proposal is acceptable in 
terms of being sustainably located and in accordance with the principles of the Core 
Strategy. 

 
Flooding and Drainage: 
 
35. Policy CC09 of the MDD Local Plan requires consideration of flood risk from historic 

flooding. The site and access thereto is located with Flood Zone 1, and so the 
proposal represents no additional flood risk or vulnerability. The WBC Flood Risk and 
Drainage Officer has raised no objections in this respect. 
  

36. Policy CC10 of the MDD Local Plan requires sustainable drainage methods and the 
minimisation of surface water flow. Whilst there is a net loss of soft landscaping and 
increase in hard paving, surface water runoff will be managed via soakaway while 
foul water will discharge into an existing foul sewer network. The WBC Flood Risk 
and Drainage Officer has raised no objection, subject to additional Drainage System 
details by planning condition (10). 

 

172



37. R23 of the Borough Design Guide also notes that parking spaces should be paved 
with permeable surfaces to avoid any increase in surface water run-off and should 
include for soft landscaping. Consideration has been given to these as shown in the 
Proposed Site Plan Dwg 4087.2001 PL1. 

 
Landscape and Trees: 
 
38. Policy CC03 of the MDD Local Plan aims to protect green infrastructure networks, 

promote linkages between public open space and the countryside, retain existing 
trees and establish appropriate landscaping, and Policy TB21 requires consideration 
of the landscape character. 
 

39. The site is located along London Road which is a Green Route, and very close to the 
edge of the Wokingham Town Centre Conservation Area, where landscaping to the 
front and rear of properties contribute to preserve its character. The WBC Trees and 
Landscape Officer has raised no in principle objections to the proposed development. 
The Officer advises that it is important to retain the residential amenity and character 
of the property, with provision made for soft and hard landscaping at the front and 
rear of the building. A condition requiring the submission of a landscape proposal plan 
would be sufficient to address this concern (condition 11).   

 
40. The site visit and tree survey report confirmed the presence of existing mature trees 

and hedges in the rear gardens of adjoining properties nos. 77 and 71, which root 
protection area extends into the rear garden of the application site. The WBC Trees 
and Landscape Officer has determined that the proposals shown for the protection of 
these trees on the Tree Protection Plan are acceptable in accordance with 
BS5837:2012. The Officer advises that a revised Arboricultural Method Statement is 
submitted, which will be secured via planning condition (12). 

 
Ecology: 
 
41. The Council’s Inventory shows that the application site is not located within habitat 

that matches that were bat roosts have been previously found in the borough. As 
such, in this case a bat survey report is not required. Nonetheless, as noted in one 
of the objections received, there are existing mature trees on neighbouring rear 
gardens, which may host roosting bats. Therefore an Informative for the protection of 
bats (a protected species) will be included in the decision.  
 

Environmental Health: 
 
42. Noise and Disturbance: Concerns have been raised on the grounds that the proposed 

use, age and social status of future occupiers could result in greater levels of noise 
and/or anti-social behaviour. It should be noted that there is no evidence to support 
this and the scheme would provide on-site staff which would cover 24 hours, 7 days 
a week. It is acknowledged that the proposed development would result in an 
increase of the level of occupiers within the premises of the building. However, it is 
considered that the impact of the new development would potentially not be greater 
than that of its use as a HMO, and the external amenity areas would be used in the 
same way compared to a family dwelling. In addition, nuisance noise from vehicles 
on the site would be minimal, and vehicle parking would be limited to the front and 
front/side of the building.  

 

173



43. Contamination: There is no known contamination. 
 
Amenity Space for Future Occupiers: 
 
44. R16 of the Borough Design Guide recommends that a rear garden should be 

minimum 11 metres in length to allow a variety of activities with an appropriate level 
of privacy for each of them, as well as a 1 metre setback from the site boundary to 
allow access thereto. In this instance, the existing garden is approximately 31.8 
metres long, and it is acknowledged that the rear amenity space would be reduced 
due to the proposed extension to the main dwelling, parking/bicycle storage and 
outbuilding.  
 

45. However, the proposed Site Plan shows a grass area towards the back of the rear 
garden, of approximately 16.1 metres in length, which would be considered sufficient 
to accommodate typical garden activities for future occupants, in accordance with the 
aforementioned design guidance. Moreover, the site is located in an area where 
public parks are within walkable distance. Side access to the rear is also provided, 
so overall there are no objections to the proposal in this respect. 

 
Waste Collection: 
 
46. The Borough Design Guide states that bin stores and recycling facilities must be 

placed in a position that meets the Council’s Highways Standards, and they should 
be as close to the highway edge as possible and no greater than 10 metres from a 
point access for the collection vehicle.  
 

47. The site visit confirmed that the site benefits from a side access gate to the western 
side of the building which could guarantee the appropriate collection of refuse, and 
this is also shown in the Proposed Site Plan with a proposed enclosed timber clad 
bin store for 3no. 660 litre waste bins to be located towards this access. 

 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL): 
 
48. Wokingham Borough Council adopted CIL on 6 April 2015. The proposed 

development will result in an increase in new build floorspace of more than 100sqm 
and therefore is liable for CIL. 

 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 

In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its obligations 
under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics include age, 
disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion or belief. The proposal is intended to support younger people, and 
this is acknowledged in consideration of the application. Aside from this, there is no 
indication or evidence (including from consultation on the application) that the protected 
groups identified by the Act have or will have different needs, experiences, issues and 
priorities in relation to this particular planning application and there would be no significant 
adverse impacts upon protected groups as a result of the development.  

 
 
 
 
 

174



CONCLUSION 

The application is considered to be acceptable in principle as the change of use with 
extensions to the existing building would improve the character and appearance of the 
site, and would make a positive contribution to providing a much needed residential facility 
for vulnerable young adults within the Borough. The proposal would result in a significant 
extension to the original building in terms of its size and scale, however it is considered 
acceptable in terms of its impact on the wider character and would be commensurate with 
other larger sized buildings in the vicinity. Subject to conditions, no harmful impact would 
occur with regards to neighbour amenity, highways, drainage or trees and landscape. As 
such, the proposal is considered to accord with national and local planning policy, and is 
therefore recommended for approval. 

 

175



This page is intentionally left blank



98

83

68

61

75

62.2m

78

74

79

CR

87

71

Ward Bdy

Metres

0 20 40 60 80 10020

Stanfords VectorMap

   Crown copyright and database rights 2019 OS 100035409

Reproduction in whole or in part is prohibited

without the permission of Ordnance Survey.

N

481643m

481743m

481643m

481743m

168742m 168742m

168842m 168842m817

817

688 688

LONDON ROAD

77

98

83

68

61

75

62.2m

78

74

79

CR

87

71

Ward Bdy
LONDON ROAD

77

98

83

68

61

75

62.2m

78

74

79

CR

87

71

Ward Bdy
LONDON ROAD

77

Date
Revision

Cad Ref.

Number
Revision Revisions

Scale

Drawn
by

No.

Date

Dwg.

0118 939 1195
0118 950 4170

The Anthony Smith Partnership

       Castle Hill113

Drawing

Project

Reading

Client

RG1 7SY
Berkshire Telephone 

Fax            

Construction Consultants
Castlefield House

1 2 3 4 8765 90 10

Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Wokingham
RG40 1BN

1:1250 & 1:500

Psa

Extension and Alterations to
75 London Road
Wokingham
Berkshire
RG40 1YA

Location Plan including Site Plans

4087.1001 PL3

December 2019

SCALE BAR @ 1:100 printed @ A1 size

PL1

Location Plan scale 1:1250 printed @ A1Site Plan (existing) scale 1:500 printed @ A1Site Plan (proposed) scale 1:500 printed @ A1

PL2
PL3

177

AutoCAD SHX Text
Issued for Pre-Planning

AutoCAD SHX Text_1
Dec 19

AutoCAD SHX Text_2
Existing and Proposed Site Plans Added - Issued for Pre-Planning

AutoCAD SHX Text_3
Jan 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_4
Issued for Planning Application

AutoCAD SHX Text_5
Apr 20



T
his page is intentionally left blank



UP

4087.001

4

4087.0015

4087.001

6

4087.001 3

7 m²
Dining

01

16 m²
Reception

02

12 m²
Circulation

03

3 m²
WC
04

15 m²
Kitchen

05

16 m²
Reception

06

8 m²
Store

16

4087.0017

4087.001

4

4087.0015

4087.001

6

4087.001 3

16 m²
Bedroom

07

16 m²
Bedroom

08

12 m²
Bedroom

09

3 m²
Bathroom

10

2 m²
WC
11

9 m²
Circulation

12

4087.0017

4087.001

4

4087.0015

4087.001

6

4087.001 3

11 m²
Bedroom

13

11 m²
Bedroom

14

Circulation
15

4087.001

4

4087.0015

4087.001

6

4087.001 3

4087.0017

Psa

The Anthony Smith Partnership
Castlefield House, 113 Castle Hill, 

Reading, RG1 7SY

1 2 3 4 8765 90 10

Number
Revision Revisions Revision

Date

Drawn by: Scale: Date:

SCALE BAR @ 1:100 printed @ A1

Drawing:

Project:

Client:

Dwg No:

Address:

Existing Plans and Elevations

75 London Road
Wokingham, RG40 1YA

Extension & Alterations

Wokingham Borough Council

4087.001
1 to 100 August 2019

PL1 Issued for Review Dec 2019

1 : 100
01 - Existing Ground Floor

1

1 : 100

02 - Existing First Floor
2

1 : 100

Existing North
3

1 : 100
Existing East

4

1 : 100
Existing South 1

5

1 : 100
Existing West

6

PL2 Issued for Review Dec 2019

1 : 100
Existing South 2

7

1 : 100
03 - Existing Second Floor Level

8

PL3 Issued for Planning Application Apr 2020

1 : 100
04 - Existing Roof Plan

9

PL4 Missing window added Issued for Planning App. Apr 2020

179



T
his page is intentionally left blank



4087.0025

4087.002

4

4087.002

6

4087.002 3

7 m²
Staff Sleep In

18
7 m²

Access. Shower / WC
19

14 m²
Accessible Bed-Sit Room

20

6 m²
Access. Shower/WC

21

4 m²
Utility

22

7 m²
Plant Room

23

5 m²
Store

24

12 m²
Stairs

25

14 m²
Shared Kitchen

26

16 m²
Office

27

4087.0027

3 m²
WC
29

23 m²
Meeting Room

30

27 m²
Shared Sitting Room

17

27 m²
Circulation

28

4087.0025

4087.002

4

4087.002

6

4087.002 3

16 m²
Bedroom

31

4 m²
En-Suite

32

4 m²
En-Suite

33

12 m²
Bedroom

34

23 m²
Bed-Sit

35

4 m²
En-Suite

36

4 m²
En-Suite

37

18 m²
Bed-Sit

38

12 m²
Stairs

39

10 m²
Bedroom

40

4087.0027

4 m²
En-Suite

42

11 m²
Bedroom

43

19 m²
Circulation

44

4 m²
En-Suite

41

Photo-Voltaic 
panels 

mounted to roof

High level 
windows

Slate roof to 
match existing

Brick walls to 
match existing

Photo-Voltaic 
panels 
mounted to roof

Photo-Voltaic 
panels 
mounted to roof

Slate roofs to 
match existing

Brick walls to 
match existing

Photo-Voltaic 
panels 
mounted to roof

Slate roofs to 
match existing

Brick walls to 
match existing

4087.0025

4087.002

4

4087.002

6

4087.002 3

10 m²
Plant Room

45

10 m²
Plant Room

46

Roof  Space

Roof  Space

Roof  Space

Access hatch 
to second 
floor Access door to 

internal flat roof 
area

4087.0025

4087.002

4

4087.002

6

4087.002 3

4087.0027

Photo-Voltaic 
panels 
mounted to roof

Photo-Voltaic 
panels 
mounted to roof

Slate roofs to 
match existing

Psa

The Anthony Smith Partnership
Castlefield House, 113 Castle Hill, 

Reading, RG1 7SY

1 2 3 4 8765 90 10

Number
Revision Revisions Revision

Date

Drawn by: Scale: Date:

SCALE BAR @ 1:100 printed @ A1

Drawing:

Project:

Client:

Dwg No:

Address:

Proposed Plans and Elevations

75 London Road
Wokingham, RG40 1YA

Extension & Alterations

Wokingham Borough Council

4087.002

1 : 100
11 - Proposed Ground Floor

1

1 : 100
12 - Proposed First Floor

2

1 : 100
Proposed North

3

1 : 100
Proposed East

4

1 : 100
Proposed South 1

5

1 : 100
Proposed West

6

1 to 100 July 2019

1 : 100
Proposed South 2

7

PL4 Issued for Review Jan 2020

PL5 Issued for Planning Application Apr 2020

1 : 100
13 - Proposed Second Floor

8

1 : 100
14 - Proposed Roof Plan

9

181



T
his page is intentionally left blank



13634,58

36
58

,3
1

40
01

,8
4

38
65

0

2792 Existing
Building

Existing
Building

Existing
concrete

paving
shown

diagonal
hatched

Existing
grass area

shown
non-shaded

Proposed
Building

Proposed
Building

Proposed
Harvester

Proposed
open cell

Upvc
SUDs

paving
shown
dotted

shading

Proposed
grass area

shown
non-shaded

Proposed
parking

and paths
shown
square

hatched

Proposed
Building

Proposed
BuildingProposed

cycle
storage

rack

Proposed
parking

for 1
disability

space

Proposed enclosed
timber clad  bin store

for 3no. 660 litre
waste bins

Proposed
Harvester

Date
Revision

Cad Ref.

Number
Revision Revisions

Scale

Drawn
by

No.

Date

Dwg.

0118 939 1195
0118 950 4170

The Anthony Smith Partnership

       Castle Hill113

Drawing

Project

Reading

Client

RG1 7SY
Berkshire Telephone 

Fax            

Construction Consultants
Castlefield House

1 2 3 4 8765 90 10

Wokingham Borough Council
Civic Offices
Wokingham
RG40 1BN

1:100

Psa

Conversion of
75 London Road
Wokingham
Berkshire
RG40 1YA

Sire Plans - External Works

4087.2001 PL2

February 2020

SCALE BAR @ 1:100 printed @ A1 size

R1
PL1

Existing Site Plan (1:100) Proposed Site Plan showing paving (1:100) Proposed Site Plan showing parking, bin and cycle storage (1:100)

PL2

183

AutoCAD SHX Text_6
Issued for Review

AutoCAD SHX Text_7
Feb 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_8
Issued for Planning Application

AutoCAD SHX Text_9
Mar 2020

AutoCAD SHX Text_10
Parking and Rainwater Harvester amended - Issued for Planning Application

AutoCAD SHX Text_11
May 2020



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Application 
Number 

Expiry Date Parish Ward 

200753 18/05/2020 Ruscombe  Remenham, Wargrave 
and Ruscombe 

 

Applicant Mr and Mrs D Kinnersley 

Site Address 2 Walnut Tree Close Ruscombe RG10 9PF 

Proposal Householder application for the proposed erection of a single 
storey rear extension with 5no. rooflights including interior 
alterations and changes to fenestration, plus first floor front 
extension with 3no. rooflights  

Type Householder  

Officer Baldeep Pulahi 

Reason for 
determination by 
committee 

Listed by Councillor Howe on the following grounds: 

 Overdevelopment of the site,  

 Overlooking of the neighbour’s house,  

 Will cause a loss of light to the neighbour’s house and garden  

 Not in keeping with Ruscombe Parish Council’s emerging 
Neighbourhood Plan policies (all developments should be in 
keeping with the surrounding area) and  

 Would set a precedent for future extensions in the road 

 

FOR CONSIDERATION BY Planning Committee on Thursday 21st May 2020 

REPORT PREPARED BY Assistant Director – Place 

 

SUMMARY 

This application is before Committee as it has been listed by Councillor Howe. It has 
also been the subject of seven resident objections and an objection from Ruscombe 
Parish Council.  
 
The proposal for a single storey rear extension with 5no.rooflights and first floor front 
extension with 2no. rooflights would be subordinate to the main dwellinghouse and 
would be acceptable in terms of its impact upon the character of the area. It has also 
been demonstrated that the development would not have a detrimental impact on the 
amenity of the neighbouring properties therefore it is recommended this application is 
approved, as it would accord with the Council’s Development Plan. 

 

PLANNING STATUS 

 Modest development location 

 Bat Roost Habitat Area 

 Tree Preservation Orders  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

185

Agenda Item 120.



RECOMMENDATION 

That the committee authorise the GRANT OF PLANNING PERMISSION subject to 
the following Conditions and informatives: 
 
Conditions: 
 
1. Timescale 

 
The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three 
years from the date of this permission. 
Reason: In pursuance of s.91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended by s.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004). 
 

2. Approved details 
 
This permission is in respect of the submitted application plans and drawings 
numbered Location and Site Plan 01, Existing Floor and Roof Plans 02, Existing 
Elevations 03, Proposed Block and Site Plan 04 Rev A, Proposed Floor and Roof 
Plans 05 received by the local planning authority on 23/03/2020 and Proposed 
Elevations 06 Rev B. received by local planning authority on 06/05/2020. The 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details unless 
other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of this permission and 
before implementation with the Local Planning Authority. 
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure the development is carried out in 
accordance with the application form and associated details hereby approved.  

 
3. External Materials to Match 

 
The materials to be used in the construction of the external surfaces of the 
extension hereby permitted shall be of a similar appearance to those used in the 
existing building unless other minor variations are agreed in writing after the date of 
this permission and before implementation with the Local Planning Authority.  
Reason: To ensure that the external appearance of the extensions are satisfactory.  
Relevant policy – Core Strategy policies CP1 and CP3.   
 

4. Parking  
 
No part of the extensions hereby permitted shall be occupied or used until the 
vehicle parking space has been provided in accordance with the approved plans. 
The vehicle parking space shall be permanently maintained and remain available 
for the parking of vehicles at all times.  
Reason: To ensure adequate on-site parking provision in the interests of highway 
safety, convenience and amenity. Relevant policy – Core Strategy policies CP3 & 
CP6 and Managing Development Delivery Local Plan Policy CC07.  
 

5. Bats  
 
The development is to be carried out in accordance with the details given in section 
4.3 of the bat survey report (John Wenman Ecological Consultancy – Preliminary 
Bat Roost Assessment, Ref: R2480/a, March 2020) unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Council.   

186



Reason: To ensure that bats a group of protected species are not adversely 
affected by the proposals Relevant policy – Core Strategy Policy CP3  

 
 

Informatives: 
 
1. The applicant is reminded that should there be any change from the approved 

drawings during the build of the development this may require a fresh planning 
application if the changes differ materially from the approved details.  Non-material 
changes may be formalised by way of an application under s.96A Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990. 

 
2. To protect the trees from the effects of construction, a barrier should be positioned 

beneath the furthest extents of the canopy dripline of the protected Hornbeam trees 
along the rear boundary for the duration of the project. 

 
3. Should any bats or evidence of bats be found prior to or during the development, all 

works must stop immediately and an ecological consultant or the Council’s ecologist 
contacted for further advice before works can proceed.  All contractors working on 
site should be made aware of the advice and provided with the contact details of a 
relevant ecological consultant. 

 
4. The Local Planning Authority has acted positively and proactively in determining this 

application by assessing the proposal against all material considerations, including 
planning policies and any representations that may have been received and 
subsequently determining to grant planning permission in accordance with the 
presumption in favour of sustainable development as set out in the NPPF.  

 

PLANNING HISTORY 

Application Number Proposal Decision 

29942 Detached house and garage Approved 
19/05/1988 

36822 Granny Annexe Approved 
26/04/1991 

 

CONSULTATION RESPONSES 

WBC Ecology No objections subject to conditions  

WBC Highways No objections subject to conditions 

WBC Landscape and Trees  No objections  

 

REPRESENTATIONS 

Ruscombe 
Parish 
Council   

 Object to the proposal  

 Proposed extension is overdevelopment of the site 

 Overlooking the neighbouring property  

 Will cause a loss of light and privacy to the neighbour’s house and 
garden 

 Not in keeping with Ruscombe Parish Council’s emerging 
Neighbourhood Plan policies (Officer note: this does not carry weight 
as a material consideration at this stage) 

 Will set a precedent for future extensions in the road  

187



Ward 
Members  

Listed by Councillor Howe on the following grounds: 

 Overdevelopment of the site,  

 Overlooking the neighbour’s house,  

 Will cause a loss of light to the neighbour’s house and garden  

 Not in keeping with Ruscombe Parish Council’s emerging 
Neighbourhood Plan policies (all developments should be in 
keeping with the surrounding area)  

 Would set a precedent for future extensions in the road 

Neighbours  Seven representations of objections received from the residents from 
the residents of no. 1, 1a, 3, 5, 6 and 7 Walnut Tree Close on the 
following grounds: 

 Overdevelopment of the site 

 Height, size and dominance of the proposal will be out of keeping 
with the other houses on the close 

 Loss of daylight/sunlight and overshadowing which will impact front 
and garden of no. 3 Walnut Tree Close 

 Loss of privacy  

 Plans are not correct as the bay window is not shown on the block 
plan therefore the 45 degree angle is incorrect  

 Extension will set a precedent for the remaining houses  

 It would be difficult to avoid damage to the mature trees on site  

 

PLANNING POLICY 

National Policy NPPF National Planning Policy Framework 

Adopted Core Strategy 
DPD 2010 

CP1 Sustainable Development 

CP3 General Principles for Development 

CP6  Managing Travel Demand 

CP7 Biodiversity 

CP9  Scale and Location of Development Proposals 

Adopted Managing 
Development Delivery 
Local Plan 2014 

CC01 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 

CC02 Development Limits 

CC03 Green Infrastructure, Trees and Landscaping 

CC07 Parking 

TB21 Landscape Character 

TB23 Biodiversity and Development 

Supplementary 
Planning Documents 

BDG Borough Design Guide  

 

PLANNING ISSUES 

Description of Development: 
1. The proposal includes the erection of a single storey rear extension with 5no. 

rooflights including interior alterations and changes to fenestration and a first floor 
front extension with 3no. rooflights.  
 

2. The proposed single storey rear extension would be 2 metres deep, 10.8 metres 
wide and 3.6 metres high and would be set in by 1.2 metres from the southern 
boundary and 0.80 metres from the northern boundary.  

 
3. The proposed first floor extension would be 7 metres deep, 5 metres wide and 3.4 

metres high and would be set in by 1.5 metres from the southern boundary and 6.9 
metres from the northern boundary.  

188



 
Principle of Development: 
4. The National Planning Policy Framework has an underlying presumption in favour 

of sustainable development which is carried through to the local Development Plan. 
The Managing Development Delivery Local Plan (MDD) Policy CC01 states that 
planning applications that accord with the policies in the Development Plan for 
Wokingham Borough will be approved without delay, unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise. 

 
5. Policy CC02 of the MDD sets out the development limits for each settlement as 

defined on the policies map and therefore replaces the proposals map adopted 
through the Core Strategy, as per the requirement of policy CP9. Policy CP9 sets 
out that development proposals located within development limits will be acceptable 
in principle, having regard to the service provisions associated with the major, 
modest and limited categories. As the site is within a modest development location, 
the proposal is acceptable in principle, subject to a consideration of the relevant 
impacts, as detailed below.  

 
Character of the Area: 
6. Policy CP3 of the Core Strategy states that development must be appropriate in 

terms of its scale, mass, layout, built form, height and character of the area and 
must be of high quality design. 

 
7. Walnut Tree Close is a residential cul-de-sac estate of an open and spacious nature 

which comprises of detached dwellings similar in design.  
 

8. The application site comprises of a two storey detached dwelling and garage 
forward of the dwelling sited in a somewhat concealed location at the end of the cul-
de-sac. The dwelling itself is an L-shaped property that already projects forward at 
ground floor level from the main house.  

 
9. The Borough Design Guide states that any alteration and extension to an existing 

building should be well-designed, respond positively to the original building, 
contribute positively to the local character and relate well to the neighbouring 
properties.  

 
10. R23 of the Borough Design Guides states that front extensions are generally only 

acceptable where the building is set well back from the street frontage in a large plot 
or where the building is set further back from the street than the prevailing building 
line. The Borough Design Guide further advises that front extensions should 
generally be no more than single storey in height and should not project significantly 
forward of the building line.   

 
11. Due to the less prominent location of the application site at the end of the cul-de-sac 

and with the dwelling set back from the main street frontage by at least 12 metres, 
the first floor front extension would be limited in its visibility in the streetscene. The 
properties are also staggered back so that the extension sits behind the building 
lines of Nos. 3, 4 and 5 and the extension would sit above an existing single storey 
forward projection. Moreover, the extension does not represent excessive bulk and 
would not cause adverse harm to the character and appearance of the host 
property or the wider street scene. 

 

189



12. The proposed single storey rear extension would be a modest addition to the 
property and whilst it adjoins Garraway Close to the rear, it would not be visible in 
the streetscene and would not result in any adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the area.  

 
 
 
 
Residential Amenities: 
 
13. The dwelling adjoins two storey dwellings to the northern (side) and eastern (front) 

boundaries but also adjoins a plant nursery to the south (side) and a road to the 
west (rear). The impacts upon these properties is limited and not unreasonable in 
this context.  

 
Rear Extension 
14. R23 of the Borough Design states rear extensions should not project more than 4 

metres from the main rear wall where close to a side boundary. 
 

15. The proposed single storey rear extension would be 2 metres deep, 10.8 metres 
wide and 3.6 metres high. It would be set in by 1.2 metres from the southern 
boundary to the nursery and 0.80 metres from the northern boundary (at no.3 
Walnut Tree Close). The height of the extension is not excessive and the boundary 
setbacks are adequate such that the rear extension would not have an adverse 
impact on the residential amenities of the immediate neighbours in terms of loss of 
light or being unduly overbearing.  

 
16.  The proposed rear extension will include new doors at the rear and new windows 

on the side, this will not have a significant overlooking impact due to their position 
on the ground floor level and presence of existing boundary treatments between the 
properties.  

 
First Floor Front Extension 
Overlooking 
17. R15 of the Borough Design Guide require the retention of visual privacy to habitable 

rooms with separation of 22m to the rear and 10m to the street. R23 states that the 
side walls must not contain windows especially at the first floor level.  
 

18. The proposed first floor front extension would contain two windows, (part window, 
part roof light which would not  be seen above the profile of the roof) on the northern 
side elevation at the first floor level facing towards no. 3 Walnut Tree Close within 
6.7m of the boundary. There are no side facing windows within the corresponding 
gable ended side elevation of no. 3 Walnut Tree Close but there is still clear and 
uninterrupted overlooking across the side boundary towards the front garden area; 
however this is across the frontage and the private amenity space for the occupiers 
of no. 3 Walnut Tree Close is located to the rear garden.  

 
19. The Borough Design Guide states that to maintain a sense of privacy from a front to 

front elevation situation should be a minimum of 10 metres. Although there is not 
strictly a front to front elevation between the application site and the neighbouring 
property, a distance of 13 metres between the proposed windows and the existing 

190



ground floor windows in the side elevation of no 3 Walnut Tree Close would be 
maintained and thus this would not warrant a sufficient reason for refusal.  

 
 
Loss of light  
20. R18 of the Borough Design Guide aims to protect sunlight and daylight to existing 

properties with no material impact on levels of daylight in the habitable rooms of 
adjoining properties. First floor extensions must not obstruct a 45 degree line back 
towards a habitable window of the adjoining property. 
 

21. Due to the less prominent location of the application site at the end of the cul-de-sac 
and the sufficient separation distance of 6.9 metres to the neighbouring property to 
the north, the proposed first floor front extension would not result in a loss of light 
towards no. 3 Walnut Tree Road with the measurements taken off the submitted 
plans confirming that the proposed first floor front extension would comply with the 
45 degree rule. 

 
22. The proposal will not have a detrimental impact on the annexe at no.1 Walnut Tree 

Close to the east of the site.  
 
Overbearing/Sense of enclosure  
23. R16 of the Borough Design Guide requires separation distances of 1m to side 

boundaries and 11m to the rear boundary.  
 

24. The proposed first floor front extension would be set in by 6.9 metres from the 
northern boundary (at no.3 Walnut Tree Close) and by 1.5 metres from the southern 
boundary, which is a nursery. As such the proposal would comply with the 
recommendations set out in the Borough Design Guide and would not result in an 
overbearing impact on the neighbouring properties.  

 
Highways Access and Parking provision: 
25. The proposal involves a net increase of one bedroom but the existing parking 

spaces, including the retention of the double garage provides 3 parking spaces that 
accords with the requirements of Appendix 2 of the MDD Local Plan and is 
acceptable to the Council’s Highways Officer.  

 
Landscape and Trees: 
26. There is a Tree Preservation Order in the rear garden relating to 3 Hornbeams 

reference: TPO 516/1989 that are shown as being along the rear garden boundary. 
 

27. The development proposals include a single storey extension to the rear but it will 
not put these trees under threat. At the suggestion of the Council’s Tree Officer, 
Informative 2 is included as a recommended safeguard to ensure the trees are 
protected throughout the construction process.   

 
Amenity Space for future occupiers: 
28. The proposal would increase the footprint of the dwelling however the remaining 

amenity space would be of a size that would accord with the Borough Design Guide 
(minimum depth of 11 metres) and would be able to accommodate typical garden 
activities.  

 
 

191



Ecology: 
29.  The application site is located in habitat which matches that where bat roosts have 

previously been found in the borough.  
 

30.  The bat survey report (John Wenman Ecological Consultancy –Preliminary Bat 
Roost Assessment ref: R2480/a March 2020) has been undertaken to an 
appropriate standard and concludes that subject to the pre-cautionary measures set 
out in Section 4.3 of the report, the proposals are unlikely to affect roosting bats and 
no objection are raised on ecological grounds. 

  
31.  The implementation of the recommendations will be secured via Condition 5.   
 
Community Infrastructure:  
32. The proposal would result in an extension of under 100sqm and as such would not 

be CIL liable.  

 

The Public Sector Equality Duty (Equality Act 2010) 

33. In determining this application the Council is required to have due regard to its 
obligations under the Equality Act 2010. The key equalities protected characteristics 
include age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, marriage and civil partnership, 
pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief. There is no indication or evidence 
(including from consultation on the application) that the protected groups identified 
by the Act have or will have different needs, experiences, issues and priorities in 
relation to this particular planning application and there would be no significant 
adverse impacts upon protected groups as a result of the development.  

 

CONCLUSION 

34. The proposal would remain subordinate to the main dwellinghouse and would be 
acceptable to the character of the area. It has been demonstrated that the 
development would not have a detrimental impact on the amenity of the 
neighbouring properties and it is therefore recommended this application is 
approved as it would accord with the Council’s Development Plan. 

 
 

192



D
RG

 T
ITL

E
JO

B 
N

o.

C
LI

EN
T

JO
B 

TIT
LE

D
A

TE

D
W

G
 N

o.

SC
A

LE

RE
V

.

A
3 

D
ra

w
in

g

an
ne

 o
w

en
ar

ch
ite

ct
s

A
nn

e 
O

w
en

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s L

td
24

 S
pr

in
gf

ie
ld

 P
ar

k,
 T

w
yf

or
d

, R
ea

d
in

g 
RG

10
 9

JH
+4

4(
0)

11
8 

93
2 

08
46

 /
 0

77
88

 2
62

60
2

an
ne

@
an

ne
th

ea
rc

hi
te

ct
.c

o.
uk

w
w

w
.a

nn
et

he
ar

ch
ite

ct
.c

o.
uk

C
om

pa
ny

 R
eg

ist
er

ed
 in

 E
ng

la
nd

 &
 W

al
es

 N
o.

 8
86

12
02

D
ire

ct
or

: A
nn

e 
O

w
en

 B
A

(H
on

s)
 B

A
rc

h 
RI

BA

M
r &

 M
rs

 D
 K

in
ne

rs
le

y

- Pr
op

os
ed

 B
lo

ck
 &

 S
ite

 P
la

n
19

14

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
xt

en
sio

n
2 

W
al

nu
t T

re
e 

C
lo

se
Ru

sc
om

be

04
A

1:
20

0 
&

 1
:5

00

Ja
n 

20

SITE PLAN
1:200

0
Scale
1:200

20m

2.5 x
5m
parking
spaces

Proposed single
storey extensions

BLOCK PLAN
1:500

Proposed one and a
half storey extensions

0m

50m

Scale
1:500

45° daylight line from No 3
Walnut Tree Close - (only
coinciding with existing garage)

193

AutoCAD SHX Text_12
TREE CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_13
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_14
53

AutoCAD SHX Text_15
4

AutoCAD SHX Text_16
1

AutoCAD SHX Text_17
55

AutoCAD SHX Text_18
GARRAWAY CLOSE

AutoCAD SHX Text_19
1a

AutoCAD SHX Text_20
WALNUT

AutoCAD SHX Text_21
9

AutoCAD SHX Text_22
2

AutoCAD SHX Text_23
CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_24
FOR APPROVAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_25
PRELIMINARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_26
DRAWING STATUS :

AutoCAD SHX Text_27
DRG. REMAINS COPYRIGHT OF THE ARCHITECT. DIMENSIONAL DISCREPANCIES TO BE REFERRED TO THE ARCHITECT DO NOT SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_28
DATE               REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text_29
Feb 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_30
A Daylight lines added

balpul
Distance Measurement
50.03 m �



T
his page is intentionally left blank



B

W.C

HALL

LIVING ROOM

DININGKITCHEN

PORCHUTILITY

PLAYROOM

SHOWER
ROOM

STUDY

FAMILY

A/C

BATHROOM

BEDROOM 2 BEDROOM 4 BEDROOM 3

BEDROOM 1

ENSUITE

CUPBOARD

D
RG

 T
ITL

E
JO

B 
N

o.

C
LI

EN
T

JO
B 

TIT
LE

D
A

TE

D
W

G
 N

o.

SC
A

LE

RE
V

.

A
3 

D
ra

w
in

g

0m

10m

Scale
1:100

M
r &

 M
rs

 D
 K

in
ne

rs
le

y

- Pr
op

os
ed

 P
la

ns
19

14

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
xt

en
sio

n
2 

W
al

nu
t T

re
e 

C
lo

se
Ru

sc
om

be

05
-1:

10
0

Ja
n 

20

an
ne

 o
w

en
ar

ch
ite

ct
s

A
nn

e 
O

w
en

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s L

td
24

 S
pr

in
gf

ie
ld

 P
ar

k,
 T

w
yf

or
d

, R
ea

d
in

g 
RG

10
 9

JH
+4

4(
0)

11
8 

93
2 

08
46

 /
 0

77
88

 2
62

60
2

an
ne

@
an

ne
th

ea
rc

hi
te

ct
.c

o.
uk

w
w

w
.a

nn
et

he
ar

ch
ite

ct
.c

o.
uk

C
om

pa
ny

 R
eg

ist
er

ed
 in

 E
ng

la
nd

 &
 W

al
es

 N
o.

 8
86

12
02

D
ire

ct
or

: A
nn

e 
O

w
en

 B
A

(H
on

s)
 B

A
rc

h 
RI

BA

GROUND FLOOR PLAN
1:100

FIRST FLOOR PLAN
1:100

ROOF
1:100

Roof lights over

Existing walls
removed

Sliding/ folding
doors

Vaulted
ceiling over

Downstand
beam across

Roof lights
over

New
window

195

AutoCAD SHX Text_31
CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_32
FOR APPROVAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_33
PRELIMINARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_34
DRAWING STATUS :

AutoCAD SHX Text_35
DRG. REMAINS COPYRIGHT OF THE ARCHITECT. DIMENSIONAL DISCREPANCIES TO BE REFERRED TO THE ARCHITECT DO NOT SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_36
DATE               REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text_37
-

AutoCAD SHX Text_38
-



T
his page is intentionally left blank



D
RG

 T
ITL

E
JO

B 
N

o.

C
LI

EN
T

JO
B 

TIT
LE

D
A

TE

D
W

G
 N

o.

SC
A

LE

RE
V

.

A
3 

D
ra

w
in

g

0m

10m

Scale
1:100

M
r &

 M
rs

 D
 K

in
ne

rs
le

y

- Pr
op

os
ed

 E
le

va
tio

ns
19

14

Pr
op

os
ed

 E
xt

en
sio

n
2 

W
al

nu
t T

re
e 

C
lo

se
Ru

sc
om

be

06
B1:

10
0

Ja
n 

20

an
ne

 o
w

en
ar

ch
ite

ct
s

A
nn

e 
O

w
en

 A
rc

hi
te

ct
s L

td
24

 S
pr

in
gf

ie
ld

 P
ar

k,
 T

w
yf

or
d

, R
ea

d
in

g 
RG

10
 9

JH
+4

4(
0)

11
8 

93
2 

08
46

 /
 0

77
88

 2
62

60
2

an
ne

@
an

ne
th

ea
rc

hi
te

ct
.c

o.
uk

w
w

w
.a

nn
et

he
ar

ch
ite

ct
.c

o.
uk

C
om

pa
ny

 R
eg

ist
er

ed
 in

 E
ng

la
nd

 &
 W

al
es

 N
o.

 8
86

12
02

D
ire

ct
or

: A
nn

e 
O

w
en

 B
A

(H
on

s)
 B

A
rc

h 
RI

BA

FRONT ELEVATION
1:100

SIDE ELEVATION
1:100

REAR ELEVATION
1:100

SIDE ELEVATION
1:100

Roof tiles to
match existing

Tile hanging to
match existing

Existing roof line

Dashed line
shows height of
existing building

Extent of
existing building

25° daylight line from No.3
Walnut Tree Close

197

AutoCAD SHX Text_39
CONSTRUCTION

AutoCAD SHX Text_40
FOR APPROVAL

AutoCAD SHX Text_41
PRELIMINARY

AutoCAD SHX Text_42
DRAWING STATUS :

AutoCAD SHX Text_43
DRG. REMAINS COPYRIGHT OF THE ARCHITECT.DIMENSIONAL DISCREPANCIES TO BE REFERRED TO THE ARCHITECTDO NOT SCALE

AutoCAD SHX Text_44
DATE          REVISION

AutoCAD SHX Text_45
Feb 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_46
Daylight lines added

AutoCAD SHX Text_47
May 20

AutoCAD SHX Text_48
Dormer corrected



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING REF     : 200753                                                       
PROPERTY ADDRESS :                                                              
                 :                                                              
                 :                                                              
SUBMITTED BY     : Ruscombe Parish Council                                      
DATE SUBMITTED   : 03/04/2020                                                   
                                                                                
COMMENTS:                                                                       
Ruscombe Parish Council objects to this planning application due to the         
neighbours not being formally notified and consulted on the application. In     
addition to this RPC also object because the proposed extension is: 
           
overdevelopment of the site, 
                                                  
over looking the
                                                               
neighbours house, 
                                                             
will cause a loss of light and privacy to the neighbours house and garden, 
    
not in keeping with RPCs emerging Neighbourhood Plan policies (all             
developments should be in keeping with the surrounding area) and 
             
would set a precedent for future extensions in the road.                        

199



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	114. Application No.193339 - Nirvana Spa Mole Road, Sindlesham, Wokingham, RG41 5DJ
	Enc. 3 for 193339
	Enc. 4 for 193339
	Enc. 5 for 193339
	Enc. 6 for 193339
	Enc. 7 for 193339
	Enc. 8 for 193339
	Enc. 9 for 193339

	115. Application No.192852 - Sorbus House, Mulberry Business Park, Fishponds Road, Wokingham, RG41 2GY
	Original officer report
	77. Application No. 192852 - Sorbus House, Fishponds Road, Wokingham

	Plans and Elevations

	116. Application No.200475 - Wokingham Family Golf, Finchampstead Road, Wokingham, RG40 3HG
	Variation plans and elevations
	Sheets
	PP1010 - PROPOSED SITE PLAN

	17103 - PE1010 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS.pdf
	Sheets
	PE1010 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	PE1011 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	17103 - PE1011 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS.pdf
	Sheets
	PE1010 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS
	PE1011 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS


	17103 - PE1012 - PROPOSED BIN AND BIKE STORE.pdf
	Sheets
	PE1012 - PROPOSED BIN STORE


	17103 - PP1011 - PROPOSED ROOF PLAN.pdf
	Sheets
	PP1011 - PROPOSED ROOF PLAN




	117. Application No.200312 - Gravelly Bridge Farm, Grazeley Green Road, Grazeley, RG7 1LG
	Plans
	Shinfield PC comment

	118. Application No.193248 - Land North of Church Lane, Church Lane, Three Mile Cross
	Enc. 1 for 193248
	Sheets and Views
	LOC_19.1_A


	Enc. 2 for 193248
	Enc. 3 for 193248
	Enc. 4 for 193248
	Enc. 5 for 193248
	Sheets and Views
	EL_21.3


	Enc. 6 for 193248
	Sheets and Views
	EL_23.1



	119. Application No.200863 - 75 London Road, Wokingham, RG40 1YA
	Location and Block Plan
	Sheets and Views
	4087.1001 Location Plan


	Existing Floor Plans and Elevations
	Proposed Floor Plans and Elevations
	Existing and Proposed Site Layout and Parking
	Sheets and Views
	4087.2001 External Works



	120. Application No.200753 - 2 Walnut Tree Close, Ruscombe, RG10 9PF
	Block Plan
	Sheets and Views
	04 Block & Site Plans


	Proposed Plans
	Sheets and Views
	05 Prop Plans


	Proposed Elevations
	Sheets and Views
	06 Prop Elevations


	Parish Council Comments




